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PREFACE

TO

"THE SECOND PART.

THE Gournays of Swathings, in Norfolk, were that younger branch of
the Baronial Norman family which were subenfeoffed as mesne lords of the
manors of Hingham Gurney's, and Swathings in Hardingham, before the
forfeiture of his Norman and English estates, by Hugh de Gournay V. in
1205.* These fiefs they held under the elder or baronial family of Gournay,
who were the tenants in capite of the crown according to the feudal
system ; and afterwards acquiring by marriage considerable estates in Nor-
folk and Suffolk, they continued to flourish for five centuries amongst the
gentry of the former county.

The first of this line who occurs is Walter de Gournay, who, according
to the Liber Niger Scaccarii, was enfeoffed of a quarter of a knight’s fee, -
in Suffolk, by Manasserus de Dampmartin, in the reign of Stephen; and
whose son William de Gournay held the same in the reign of Henry IIL,
and was lord of the manor of Runhall and Swathings in Norfolk. This
Walter was, it appears, a son of Gerard de Gournay and Editha de Warren,
(see page 69 of this Record.) The fiefs of the Gournays in Norfolk and
Suffolk had been probably given in frank marriage to Gerard de Gournay
by William second Earl Warren, on Gerard’s marriage with his sister
Editha, which took place about the year 1090. Most of these estates had
formed part of the forfeited lands of Ralph Guader, the Saxon Earl of Nor-
folk, and were seized by the crown at his rebellion in 1075. At the survey

* See Blomefield, in Hingham and Hardingham, vol. ii. p. 445, vol. x. p. 224.
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they still remained in the king’s hands for the most part, and were granted
by the Conqueror and William Rufus to their favourite followers.

Of these fiefs the manor of Swathings was a Saxon parish, which is now
divided; it consisted of part of Hardingham, Letton, and Cranworth.
Runhall was a hamlet or beruite to it. This manor of Swathings had been
given to a family of the name of Le Bourguignon by Hugh de Gournay IV.
(Appendix XXI. p. 122); and it seems likely that the family of Le Bour-
guignon, who remained in Normandy, lost their English fiefs by forfeiture
when that duchy was separated from England, and that the manor of
Swathings was, in consequence, given to the junior family of the Gournays.

William de Gournay, son of Walter, who held these manors under the
Lords of Gournay, was a knight, as is proved by his being designated
Dominus Willelmus de Gurney, in a deed of conveyance of lands in Gay-
wood, to which he was a witness. It appears by the Registers called Les

.Olim,* that this William de Gournay held of the King in capite the lord-
ship of Montigny-sur-Andelle, in the Pays de Bray, parcel of the great
fief of the Lords of Gournay, from which it had been severed by the Nor-
man custom of dividing the fief among the children of the lord on his
death, the younger sons holding their portion of the lands in paragio as it
was called, in French parage, that is to say, pari conditione, by equal tenure
or rank with the elder brother. William de Gournay having held this Nor-
man manor in capite, forms, therefore, an incontestable proof of his descent
in blood from the Barons of Gournay (for further particulars of this
tenure in “ parage,” see Appendix XLVI.) The son of William was
Matthew de Gournay, as appears by a plea between the said Matthew and
Gilbert de Runhall, given in Appendix LIII. To this Matthew de Gournay
Hameline Earl Warren gave in marriage Rose, daughter and heir of
Reginald de Burnham, his kinsman, about the year 1183.> The family of
de Burnham were said to be a younger branch of the house of Warren;
and by this marriage Matthew de Gournay acquired Gurney's manor in Harp-
ley and other estates. He gave the tithes of Hardingham to the church
there, as appears by Harl. MSS. 970, which, with other documents, proves

& Registres Olim, par Le Comte de Beugnot, Paris, 1889,

» Blomefield, in Harpley.
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him to have held the manor of Swathings in that parish. Lewis de
Gournay had also an interest in this manor of Swathings; he was contem-
porary with Matthew, and they were probably brothers. We find him in
Normandy paying money to the Norman exchequer for Hugh de Gour-
nay V. and witnessing some of his deeds. He had a son Thomas, of whose
descendants we hear no further ; and Matthew de Gournay or his son must
have inherited their fief. Hugh de Gournay, of Letton, who gave a tene-
ment to the priory of St. Pancras, at Lewes, was another contemporary of
Matthew de Gournay, and undoubtedly one of this younger branch of the
family.

William de Gournay, son of Matthew, was father of Sir Jobn de Gournay,
knight, who was in rebellion against Henry III. and present at the battle
of Lewes in 1264. He afterwards accompanied Edward, afterwards
Edward I. into the Holy Land, in 1270; and we find
his arms given in an ancient roll—Argent, a cross
engrailed gules, which have been borne by his family
from that period, if not before.

William de Gournay was son of Sir Jobhn ; he sold all
his estates to his brother John de Gurnay, priest, rector
of Harpley, who died in 1333, when John, his nephew,
(son of William,) became his heir.

Edmund Gurney, grandson of John, inherited all his manors, and was a
lawyer of eminence in the reigns of Edward III. and Richard II. He mar-
ried the heiress of the ancient family of the Wauncys, of West Barsham,
in Norfolk, by whom he acquired that manor, and Denver, in Norfolk, and
Depden, in Suffolk. From this period this family of the Gurneys were
principally seated at West Barsham for many generations, and are generally
designated the Gurneys of West Barsham. It appears probable, however,
that at these early periods every manor (anciently manrerium, and some-
times mansio,) had a residence for the lord, where, before the existence of
rents, he removed with his family to consume the produce of each estate.

We find the Gourneys possessed of several houses at the same period ;
thus Edmund Gurney, in 1357, had residences at Harpley and West
Barsham, as well as a house in Norwich. And Thomas Gourney in 1471
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.

dates his will at West Barsham, and desires to be buried at Harpley or
Norwich, as he may die at either place, which proves him to have had
three residences at least. But it would be an error to suppose that the
manor houses of the English gentry were stately mansions. The arrange-
ment of the ordinary manor house, and even of houses of greater con-
sideration, appears to have been generally a building in the form of a para-
lellogram, two stories high, the Jower story vaulted ; no internal commu-
nication between the two, the upper story approached by a flight of steps,
or a ladder, on the outside. And in that story was perhaps the only fire-
place in the building. In the Bayeux tapestry is a house having all these
features except the fire-place.*

There were, however, other houses having a hall on the ground floor,
which went the whole length of the building ; but these were mansions
of a superior description. This was, it seems, more generally adopted at a
later period; and the ordinary manor house of the fifteenth and sixteenth
centuries usually consisted of an entrance passage running through the
house, with a hall on one side, a parlour beyond, and one or two chambers
above : on the opposite side a kitchen, buttery, and other offices.® In those
parts of Englgnd where stone was not accessible these houses were fre-
quently built in the style called half-timbered, being timber frames filled
up with lath and plaster., Men of large estates, however, erected more
commodious and magnificent structures. ‘

Formerly almost all the gentlemen's families of Norfolk habitually passed
the winter in Norwich, where most of them possessed mansions. Sir

a Glossary of Architecture, part i. p. 67. Vide Archwological Journal, No. III, p. 218.
b Whitaker’s History of Whalley. . .
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John Pastolf built a house there. Berney’s Inn, Meydeiz’s Inn, and
various others are mentioned ; the Paston letters constantly allude to this
custom. Thomas Gourney, in the reign of Henry VI. had a house in St.
Gregory’s parish ; William, his son, in Pockthorp, a suburb of the city ;
and Anthony Gurney, in the reign of Henry VIIL, inhabited Gournay’s
Place, in St. Julian’s parish in that city.

Edmund Gurney, who married Catharine Wauncy, the heiress of West
Barsham, died in 1387, leaving Sir John Gurney, knight, his son and heir,
who was sheriff of Norfolk and Suffolk the 1st of Henry IV. (1399), and
knight of the shire for the county of Norfolk at the parliament which met
at Coventry in 1404. He died without issue, and was succeeded by his
nephew Thomas Gourney, Esq. of West Barsham, who married Catharine
Kerville ; and whose son Thomas Gourney, junior, was father of William
Gurney, Esq. who was escheator for Norfolk in the reign of Edward IV.
Anthony Gurney was grandson and heir of William. By his marriage
with Margaret Lovell, a considerable heiress in the reign of Henry VIII.,
he not only added greatly to the family estate, but also formed a distin-
guished alliance, the Lovells being descended from the noble blood of the
Mortimers of Attleborough. By the sale of several of his manors, how-
ever, it was much diminished even in his life-time ; and to judge from
their wills, and the comparatively small estates they possessed, the latter
generations of the Gourneys of West Barsham laboured under straitened
circumstances, whilst the expenses and devastations attendant upon the
wars of the commonwealth more or less crippled the resources of every
family in the nation, and amongst others those of the Gournays of Norfolk.

The system of entails, and the difficulty of alienating a feudal fief at all
times, forced the younger sons of gentlemen to betake themselves to the
professions or trade for a subsistence. This family naturally threw off their
younger branches into Norwich, where they always had a residence.
From one of these younger sons the present family of the Gurneys of
Keswick is descended. The Norwich manufactures offered in many
instances lucrative employment to gentlemen’s sons in Norfolk. The
county being generally of light soil and uninclosed, consisted for the

a This belonged to the families of Clere and Marsham.
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most part of sheep-walk, and was therefore a favourable district for the
establishment of woollen manufactures. In illustration of this fact Wil-
bam Gurney, in 1507, desires by will that 700 sheep should remain at
West Barsham after his death ; a considerable flock in those days. The
Norfolk gentlemen prepared or combed their wool ready for the market,
however of the prepared wool was woven by the ladies and females at
bome ; at all events, the yarn was spun by them. In Thomas Gourney’s
will, dated in 1471, all the woollen and linen cloths are left to Margaret
his wife, being her own work and that of her servants.

At the early periods after the conquest the Earls Warren exercised
great power in Norfolk, whilst the feudal system continued in full force,
from being the superior lords of numerous manors, which descended to
their representatives, the earls and dukes of Norfolk, whose authority was
that of petty princes in their principality. This was at its zenith in the
reign of Henry VIII. when Thomas Duke of Norfolk built the duke’s
palace in Norwich, and the house at Kenninghall, at which places the
forms of a court were maintained in miniature. The duke had his council
and other appendages of sovereign estate.

The Norfolk families were all more or less his dependents; the
Gurneys were certainly of this number. John Gournay was seneschal for the
parts of Norfolk to Richard Earl of Arundel and Surrey in 1386. William
Gurney was of council to the Duke of Norfolk in 1477 ; and the wife and
daughters of the unfortunate Earl of Surrey, the poet, were sponsors for the
children of Francis Gourney, although Anthony Gurney his father was
foreman of the grand jury which found the earl guilty of high treason.
The preponderance of the Howards in Norfolk was lost from the attainders
in the reigns of Henry VIII. and Elizabeth.

Anthony Gurney, Esq. who married Margaret Lovel in the reign of
Henry VIII. had an only son Francis, who died in his father’s life-time,
leaving children. Henry was his eldest son ; he married a Blennerhasset
of Suffolk, by whom he had a large family. One of his younger sons
was ancestor of the present family of the Gurneys of Keswick. Henry
Gourney resided at Great Ellingham and West Barsham : he died in 1623,
and was succeeded in his estates by Edward Gournay, Eeq. his grandson,
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Thomas Gourney, his eldest son, having died in his life-time. Henry
Gournay, Esq. the son of Edward, was the last of these Norfolk gentlemen
of the line of West Barsham : he died without issue in 1661, when the
family estates devolved to his aunts, the sisters of Edward Gournay his
father, who became coheiresses.

The Norfolk gentlemen have at all times been distinguished sportsmen.
A curious lawsuit in the year 1315, between John de Gournay and Wil-
liam de Swathing, is illustrative of this. William had killed twenty hares,
eighty rabbits, and one hundred partridges on John de Gournay’s manor
of Swathings—a fair day’s sport even in modern times. The open country
of Norfolk was favourable for hawking and coursing, and greyhounds were
introduced, as well as the harrier and beagle. By the forest laws of King
Canute no person was allowed to keep a greyhound under the degree of a
gentleman. Edward IIl., who was frequently in Norfolk visiting his
mother Queen Isabella at Castle Rising, was a great sportsman, and during
his French wars was accompanied by sixty couple of stag-hounds and as
many hare-hounds. The pheasant, for which the Norfolk preserves have
been so celebrated in modern times, took its name from the river Phasis,
in Asia Minor. It existed in England as early as the reign of Edward I.,

and might perhaps have been introduced by the Crusaders.

" The fairs of various country places were the occasions of frequent
meetings amongst the gentry of Norfolk; and were important at a period
when the transfer of goods was not easy. A list of Norfolk fairs in the
handwriting of Francis Gurney, in the reign of Elizabeth, is preserved in
Mr. Norris’ MS. Collections.

The arms of the family of the Gourneys of Norfolk were, Argent, a cross

e 1 engrailed gules. The earliest men- f
éu_ tion of this coat occursin 1270; and %
Sir Henry Spelman saw a seal of

William de Gunay with this coat

attached to a deed, dated 1294.

Sometimes it was borne with a

cinquefoil azure; doubtless in re-

ference to this branch of the Gour-
2p
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neys holding lands under the Bardolphs, the descendants of the elder line
of the family; the Bardolphs bearing Azure, three cinquefoils or. Per-
haps it would be an heraldic romance to suppose that the engrailed cross
of the Gurneys originated in the fact of Hugh de Gournay having brought
a portion of the true cross from Acre, in the reign of Cceur de Lion, and
deposited it in the church of St. Hildevert, at Gournay. (See page 130 of
this Record.)

The crest of the Gourneys, the Gurnard fish (Trigla of Linnzus), occurs
first about the year 1440. The cap of maintenance, upon which it is
placed with its head downwards, was assumed at a later period. The
wrestling collar, which was a badge or device, is mentioned by Sir Henry
Spelman as the seal of William Gurney, Esq. in the reign of Henry VIL.;
this is borne as a second crest.

Some writers have attributed to the Norfolk

 Gurneys the arms borne by those of Somersetshire,

viz.: paly of six or and azure; but wholly without
foundation.

The principal authorities from which we have drawn
the following account of the Norfolk Gourneys are nu-
merous. In addition to the public records, the docu-
ments in the British Museum are of great value ; of these

Le Neve's Norfolk Collections, Additional MSS. No. 8841, and the MS,
called Vitis Calthorpiana, Harl. 970, have afforded much information.

Blomefield compiled his history of this county from court rolls, and other
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official documents to which he had access, many of which do not now exist.
Except the errors in transcribing, his work is both full and accurate, and
has afforded us many particulars.

The works in manuscript of Anthony Norris, Esq. of Barton Turf,
have been of great assistance in making this collection. This gentleman,
who died in 1786, devoted a large portion of his time to the investigation
of the antiquities of Norfolk ; and his manuscript papers, in twenty-eight
volumes, throw considerable light upon the genealogical history of the
families of this county. They are in possession of the Right Honourable
John Hookham Frere, of Roydon, and contain a vast quantity of matter of
high interest to antiquaries, collected with surprising industry.

Sir Henry Spelman’s pedigree of the Gurneys was compiled from family
papers, now lost, and although erroneous in some respects is a valuable
document, stating several facts which are not mentioned elsewhere. It is
amongst the Spelman manuscripts, collected by Dr. Macro, in the posses-
sion of Hudson Gurney, Esq.

The wills of the Gournays at the several offices for proving wills at
Norwich, and at Doctors’ Commons in London, have in several instances
been transcribed. Some of these are of great antiquity, and full of inter-
esting matter.

Sir Charles George Young, Garter King at Arms, has kindly furnished
copies of pedigrees and other documents in the Heralds' College. Of these
the heralds’ visitations of 1633 and 1664 are important, as affording
attested proof of descent of the present family of the Gurneys of Keswick
from that of West Barsham. (See Part III. of this Record.)
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reign of Stephen (Liber Niger 8caccarii, vol. i. p. 298), probably son of Gerard de | -

‘WALTER DE GOURNAY, held lands in Suffolk, under Manasser de Dampmartin, in theT=.. .0 00
Gournay and Editha Warren. T

WiLLIAM DE GOURNAY I. Lord of the manor of Runhall, Norfolk, temp. Hen. I (Placit. 8 John), 5 ......
held lands in Suffolk under Manasser de Dampmartin, and the lordship of Montigny sur Andelle, in the
pays de Brai, in Normandy.

r T

HueH DE GourRNAY, RosE, dau. and heirs=Sir Mu-lmxw DE GourNaY, GEOPFRY DE LEWIS DE GOURNAY, probably==MaTiLDA.
of Letton, contem- of Reginald Fitz- Knight, Lord of Runhall and GouURNAY, brother of Matthew; paid mo-

porary with Mat- Philip, or de Burn- | Swathings, in Hardingham, brother of ney for Hugh de Gournay V.

thew, gave lands in ham, given in mar- | held under the Lords of Matthew, in Normandy; had an interest

Letton to Lewes Pri- riage by herkinsman | Gournay, also in right of his witness to a in the manor of Swathings;

ory, Earl Warren, about | wife of Harpley Gournays; deed of lands died about 1213. Norf. fines.

1184, living 12086, in Gaywood. Norman Pipe Roll, 1184.

KATHARINE, Norf. fines, 27 Hen. III.—T_Sir WiLLIAN DE GOURNAY, Knt. II. Lord of Harpley, &c. ; liv. 1234 & 1243. Tuomas,Norf.fine.

lands in Dunston 1251. Norf. presented by jury of Mitford in 1257 for not being knighted; accompanied Edw. I,

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY, held—HAwISE. . N. N.5=Sir JorN GoURNsY. Knt. I. living 1245; present at battles of Lewes and Evesham;
fine, 41 Hen. III, Tto Holy Land in 1270; his arms Argent, a oross engrailed gules.

EDMUND DE GURNAY, held a KATHARINE,S=Sir WiLLIAM DE GOURNAY, Knt. ITI, 1286, JoHN DEGURNAY,II, Priest,Rectorand Patron
quarter of a knight's fee in probably a | 14 Edw. I.; Lord of Gurnay's manor in of Harpley, Lord of the manors of Gurneys
Houghton, of the honour of Bacons- Harpley, Hardingham, Hingham, &ec.; in Harpley, S8wathingsin Hardingham, Hing-

Wormegay, in 1308, 81 thorpe. granted;all his lands to his brother John, ham.Gurneys, Brandeston, Welburne, Rey-
Edw. L. Rector of Harpley in 1294; seals with an merston, 1315; died 1332; buried at Harp-
engrailed cross. ley.

JANE, dau. of Edmund de Lexham, married5=JorN DE GURNEY, III. heir to his uncle John, Rector of Harp- EpMUND. WILLIAN.
before 1324, or in that year. ley, presented to that living in 1332; living 27 Edw, 1IL

N. N.5=JoHN GURNAY, Junior, IV, mentioned in a deed of his uncle’s, 1331,
——

KATHARINE, dau. and eventually heir of Sir William=~EpMuND GOURNEY, son and heir, held his first court at Harpley, 1354 ; was a
Waunci, Knight, of West Barsham, Lord of Dep- | lawyer of eminence, and was standing council to the city of Norwich; died 1385,
den, Suffolk, and of Denver, Norfolk. 8 Ric. IL.; Lard of West Barsham, Norfolk, in right of his wife, there buried.

JEANNE, mar. Osbert ALICE, dau. and coh. of John=S8ir Jou~x Gournky, Knight, V.styled of West Barsham (ROBERT)=F.. .o
Mundeford, of Hock- de Heylesdon, married before and of Baconsthorpe, Sheriff of Norfolk and Suffolk (GOURNEY.

wold, Norfolk, Esaq, 1396; mar. 2ndly, Sir John 1 Hen. IV. (1400); knight of the shire for Norfolk in

(Cook Clar. Visit. Wiltshire, Knt.; 3dly, Rich- the parliament of Coventry, 1404; died 1407, s. p,

1622). ard Selling, Esq. 1433.

Wiggenhall 8t. Mary and Watlington, of Norwich; used a gurnard fish in pale for a crest; died before 1465,

CATHARINE, mar, John Baxter, of MARGARET, dau. of Sir Thomas J 'oMAS GOURNEY, Esq. II. son and heir, Lord of West
Forncet, Norfolk, Gent. (Cook  ningham, of Somer Leyton, Suffolk, | Barsham, Harpley, &c. will proved 27 July 1471,
Clar, Visit, 1622). Knight,

CATHARINE KERVILLE, of the family seated nTTnom Gounnay, Esq. L. nephew and heir of Sir John, 1437, of West Barsham, and
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a
| 1
ANNE, dau. of Sir William Calthorpe, Knight,=WiLLIAM GURNEY, Esq. IV. son and heir, of West Barsham, and Jon~, Epuunp,
of Burnham, by the dau. of Lord Grey de | of Pockthorpe by Norwich, living 1494, used the wrestling collar
Ruthyn. a8 a crest, escheator for Norfolk; died 1508,
|
ELI1ZABETH, ma.  Sir LIONREL—ANNE, dau. of -WILLIAM GURNEY, WALTER GURNEY, THoMAS GURNEY, his father's CHRIsTO-
Clement Her- Druocke, Sir Henry Esq. Jun. V.1499, of Cley by the executor,ancestorofthe Gur- PHER, a
ward, Esq. of Knight, of Heydon, of | living at Irstead, Sea, Norfolk, an- neys of Dartmouth, London, priest,
Aldborough, Maring.on. Baconsthorpe, | and died before his  cestor of the Gur- and Essex, temp. Elizabeth, rector of
Norfolk, the-Hill, Knight,cousin | father. neys of Cawston 1590; his grandson, Richard  Harpley.
Lincoln- to Queen Ann and Aylsham, Gurney, was Sheriff of Lon-
shire, 2d h. Boleyn. don.

BRAA

CoONSTANCE, mar. Ralf Blundeville, 2d husb.
William Bokenham.

FRANCES, mar. Gascoyne, of Yorkshire.
AviCE, mar. Henry Dengaine, Esq. of Brun-
stead, Norfolk.

Axy, mar. John Sybsey, Gent.
EL1zABETH, Prioress of Thetford, 1518.

MARGARET, dau. and coheir of FANTHONY GURNEY, Esq.FELI1ZA-
of West Barsham and

Sir Robert Lovel, Knight, and
one of the representatives of
the Lords Mortimer, of Attle-
borough, brought Great Elling-
ham and other estates; died
before 1536.

HEeNRY GURNEY,

BETH mentioned in the

Great Ellingham, and of | TYRrEL, will of Sir L. Dy-
Gurney’s Place, St. Ju- | second mocke, his step-
lian's ish, Norwich, | wife, father, probably
1511, 1535; died 1556. mar. Katharine
Brandon.;

ELa, mar. — Drury,
Esq.; 2 h. Christopher
Seyve, of Mundford,

HELEN, dau. of Robert Holditch, of Ran-3
worth, Esq. mar. 6 Aug. 1543; 2 h. John
Jernegan, married at St. Mary’s, Nor-
wich.

~FRaNCIS GURNEY, Esq. of
Irstead, bo. 20 Aug. 1521,
died v. p.; buried at
Irstead.

EL1ZABETH, born 38 Jan. 1545;
mar. Richard Stubbe, Esq. of
Baconsthorpe, mar. at Irstead,
25 Sept. 1561.

Gent.

Anxe. FRaXCES, born

ELIZABETH, born 1545,

ELLEN, dau. of FHENRY GURNEY,

ANTHONY=-SUSAN, dau.
of Clement

THOMAS, mar.
dau. of Reanes or

15647. mar. William Golding, John Blenner- | Esq. I. of West GuRNEY,

—— of Fornham, Suffolk; 2 hasset,of Bars- | Barsham and El-  born Palgrave, Reames by Aylsham
Ome of these to Francis h, Bendyshe, of ham, Suffolk, | lingham, born 1550. Esq.of Bar- (qu. of Overstrand?),
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AwNg,m, BETH, Sir Edw. Lewk- | Gurnay, Fellow of Corpus Bassing- NEY, of Lon- mar.,

Thomas ma. — nor, of Denham | Esq. IIL of Coll. Camb. Rector  BOURN, don, merch.; Leedes, a

Osborne, Salford, in Suffolk, Knt. | West Bars- of Edgefleld and diedv.p. for his de- “preacher."
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MagTHA, mar. William Smith, of Walsing-
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Susan, 2d husb. ton. Barsham. Cathedral,

FRAKCES, a dau, mentioned in her aunt Dorothy Gur- ELLEN, dau. of William Adams,==HeNrY GUrNaY, Esq. II. of West Barsham,

ney's will, dead before 1661, bur. at West Barsham. Esq.

Barrister-at-Law.

born 1632, died aged 29 in 1661, s. p.
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WALTER DE GOURNAY

Is the first of this branch of the Lords of Gournay which occurs : it
appears he was a younger son of Gerard de Gournay and Editha Warren.

This Walter de Gournay is mentioned in the Liber Niger Scaccarii, as
holding a quarter of a knight’s fee in Suffolk, under Manasser de Damp-
martin, in the reign of Stephen. The Liber Niger is an ancient record,
containing the names of the great military tenants who held their fiefs of
the king in capite, and who paid relief upon the occasion of the marriage
of Matilda, second daughter of Henry II. with Henry Duke of Bavaria and
Saxony, in 1167. The Liber Niger was published by Hearne in 1774 ; in
vol. I. p. 298, of his edition is the following passage :

Carta Manasers de Danmartin.

H. Regi Anglorum, karissimo domino suo, Manasserus de Domin. Mar-
tin. salutem et fidele servitium.

Notum vobis facio, quod vobis facio servitium unius militis de Dominio
meo, et tantum fecit pater meus in tota vita sua, et ego post illius obitum
tantum feci die qua Rex H. fuit vivus et mortuus. Et in tempore gwerre
de illo feodo dedi Waltero de Gornaco unum quart. milit. Et nunc illam
partem tenet Willelmus filius suus, in auxilio michi illud servitium faciend.
Et de novo fefamento nihil habeo.

From this it is clear that Walter de Gournay was enfeoffed of a quarter
of a knight's fee under Manasser de Danmartin “ tempore guerrz,” that
is, during the civil war between King Stephen and the Empress Maude;
and that William de Gournay his son held the same in 1167, when the aid
was paid upon the marriage of Henry the Second’s daughter.

It does not appear whether Walter de Gournay held the manors of
Swathings and Hingham Gurney’s, possessed by his descendants. Blome-
field states that the latter was part of the great manor of Hingham,
“ which was granted to this younger branch of the family before the for-
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feiture,” * by Hugh de Gournay V. ; but at what period he does not say,
although no doubt his statement was made from evidences belonging to
the manor of Hingham Gurney's at the time he wrote, and to which he
must have had access.

The fiefs of the Dammartins in Suffolk were at Mendlesham and Cotton,

in the Hartesmere hundred. (Appendix XLV.)

* Vol. ii. p. 445.
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WALTER DE GOURNAY.

[PART I,

APPENDIX XLV.

ON THE DAMMARTINS IN ENGLAND.

The family of Dammartin (in Latin de Do-
minio Martini) who held fiefs in England, were
undoubtedly a branch of the lords of Dan-
martin in the Isle of France (see Appendix
XXXVIL p. 177). Basilia, the wife of Odo
de Daunmartin, who died in 1131, paid sixty
marks of silver for the possession of her dower
in the 8lst Henry L* (1130). She might
possibly, from her name, be a daughter of
Hugh de Gournay and Basilia Flaitel. Odo
de Dammartin, the son, in the same year ren-
dered account of 100 marks of silver for his
father’s lands. Manasser de Dammartin, men-
tioned in the Liber Niger in the passage quoted,
was apparently another son of Basilia, and en-
feoffed Walter de Gournay of the quarter of a
knight's fee ; he held his lands as early as the
reign of Henry I. and at the death of that king.
(Liber Niger.) He was a benefactor to the
monastery of St. Edmund at Bury, as appears
by the Registrum Nigrum 8. Edmundi, fol.
110, verso, where is the following charter :—

¢ Omnibus sancte matris ecclesie filiis Ma-
nasserus de Dammartino salutem. Notum vo-

* Mag. Rot, Pip, 81 Hen. I. Nova Placita, p. 94.

bis sit quod medietatem ecclesie de Cottuna
quam ego et predecessones mei habuimus, pro
reverentia Sancti ZEdmundi ecclesie prefati
sancti martyris domo et concedo. Etiam v.
sochmannos in Angeshala in perpetuam elee-
mosynam dono.”

This Manasser de Dammartin was a justice
itinerant in the reign of Henry II. Alberic
and William de Dammartin were his contempo-
raries.t

Manasser held three knight's fees under Wal-
ter de Mediana, in Kent; and it is remarkable
that William de Gornaco occurs holding half a
knight's fee under the same person.; This
family of Dammartin, as being descended from
Odo or Otho de Dammartin, were afterwards
called Fitzotho, Lords of Mendlesham, in Suf-
folk, and of Strumshaw, in Norfolk. John de
Botetourt married Maude the heiress of this
family, in the 30 Edw. L. and was in her right
Lord of Mendlesham. The Bardolfs, it appears,
acquired Strumshaw by purchase of Botetourt.§

+ Liber Niger, vol. i. p. 298.
1 Ibid. p. 59.
§ Blomefield in Strumshaw.
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WILLIAM DE GOURNAY L

.

Was son of Walter de Gournay (Liber Niger Scaccarii, vol. i. p. 298)
and held a quarter of a knight’s fee in Suffolk under Manasser de Damp
martin, in 1167, the fourteenth year of King Henry II. In the same reign
he was Lord of Montigny-sur-Andelle,* in the pays de Bray. This he held
in capite of the crown, and it formed, with other vills and manors, a portion

CHAPEL AT MONTIGNY.

* Les Olim par le Comte de Beugnot, vol. i. p. 85.
2q
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or parcel of the great fief of Brai, which had been severed from that fief,
or honour, in favour of this younger branch of the Gournays.

This system of dividing a fief on the death of the lord prevailed in Nor-
mandy, and was called parage, from the younger son holding his severed
portion on the same terms, pari conditione, with the eldeér. The fact, there-
fore of William de Gournay having held this manor of Montigny in capite,
forms an undoubted proof of his descent from the Lords of Gournay. (See
Appendix XLVI. upon the tenure in parage.)

William de Gournay subenfeoffed the family called de Montigny of this
fief of Montigny, which family held in the pays de Brai* half a knight’s
fee at that place, and at Maci (Massy), Launoi (L’aunaye), and Le Her-
loter (La Harlottiere) : these therefore may be considered to have formed
part of William de Gournay’s Norman fief. (Appendix XLVII). Of these
places, Maci (Massy) had been part of the honour of Gerard de Gournay,®
as he confirmed the donation of the church there made by his father
Hugh III. to the abbey of Bec. It is therefore certain that this severance
of the great fief of Bray in favour of this younger line must have taken
place on the death of Gerard, or about 1104, as Walter de Gournay and
William his son ‘lived before the year 1180, when Hugh de Gournay IV,
son of Gerard, died; so that no severance of the great fief of Bray could
have taken place between the years 1104 and 1180. It follows, as a con-
sequence from these facts, that Walter de Gournay must have been a son
or grandson of Gerard. -

The proof that William de Gournay held the fief of Montigny in capite
of the crown, is contained in the following petition of Eustace de Mon-
tigny to Louis IX. King of France in 1259, preserved in Les Registres
Olim.c (Paris, 1839, vol. i. p. 85.) Eustace petitions the king that he may
be allowed to sell the woods of his fief of Montigny without the tax called

& Register of Normandy by the Bishop of Senlis. Bib. du Roi, No. 8408, 22 B. (Appendix
XXXIII No. 2, p. 169.)

b Histoire de Haute Normandie, vol. i. p. 583.

¢ These registers were called ¢« Olim,” as they were so quoted in later times from having
been made ¢ formerly "—olim,



A. D. 1167.] FIEF OF MONTIGNY-SUR-ANDELLE. 293

Tiers et danger,* as his ancestors always had done; who had held the
fief of the gift of the Lord William de Gournay, who gave it to them as
freely as he himself had held it of our lord the king, for which gift he had
made a charter to them, which King Henry (the Second of England) con-
firmed. The petition is as follows :

¢ Eustachius de Montigniaco armiger petebat a domino Rege quod sibi
permitteret ut posset vendere libere et quitte, absque tercio et dangerio,
nemora sua de feodo de Montigniaco, ubicunque sint, prout antecessores
sui semper fecerunt et tenuerunt de dono domini Guillelmi de Gornaio, qui
sibi dedit ita libere et quitte, sicut ipsemet tenebat 3 Domino Rege, de quo
sibi fecit cartam quam Rex Henricus confirmavit. Verum petit super hoc
inquestam patrie utrum antecessores sui ita libere et quitte tenuerunt:
Non probat idem Eustachius quod possit vendere nemora sua predicta
sine tercio et dangerio, nec vendat.”

The vills or manors with which the family of De Montigny had been
enfeoffed by this junior branch of the Gournays were for the most part
included in the chatellenie of Argueil; and Mr. Stapleton, the learned
editor of the Norman Rolls, is of opinion that the castle of Argueil, and
its dependances, formed the portion of the great fief of Brai which was
given to Walter de Gournay upon the death of his father Gerard. The
town of Argueil, anciently Orgueil, is built in the valley through which the
river Andelle runs ; the castle is supposed to have been on a neighbouring
hill, called Mont Sauveur, from this fortalice being a place of refuge and
safety for the surrounding country. Fragments of ancient armour and of
utensils have been found on this site of the castle of the Gournays. No
remains of the castle exist at present : it was taken by Philip Augustus in
1202, and totally destroyed.

William de Gournay I. was witness to the deed of Hugh de Gournay IV,
confirming the gift of Payn of Elbceuf to the monastery of St. Sauveur.
(Appendix XXII. p. 123.)

® Tercium was a third of the wood cut down, which accrued to the lord of a fief, or the value
ofit. Dangerium (domigerium) was the tithe of the wood so cut down, so that in thirty acres

the lord received thirteen acres of the wood, or the value of it. This tax was called Z¥ers of
danger. . .
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MONT SAUVEUR AT ARGUEIL.

This William de Gournay was lord of the manor of Runhall, in Norfolk,
in the reign of Henry I1.* Blomefield states that the Gourneys were en-
feoffed of the manor of Runhall by the Fitzwalters, who were certainly
nearly related to them through Basilia Flaitel, wife of Hugh de Gourney
III., Rohese, her niece, daughter of Walter Giffard, having married Richard
de Tunbridge, ancestor of the Clares and Fitzwalters.

William de Gurney also held lands in Swathings, as appears by a suit
between his son Matthew de Gourney and Gilbert de Runhall, wherein
Matthew pleads that William his father held these lands and a mill in
Swathings and Runhall, in the reign of Henry II. : an office copy of this
suit is given (Appendix LIII. No. 2); it is omitted in the Abbreviatio
Placitorum, printed by the Record Commissioners.

William de Gourney enfeoffed Gilbert de Runhall of part of his manor of
Uphall, in Runhall, before the year 1195.°

He occurs as witness to two deeds, sans date, of conveyance of land at

* Blomefield in Runhall, vol. ii. p. 474. b Ibid.
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Gaywood, by Lynn. These deeds are copied from the originals in the pos-
session of the dean and chapter of Norwich, by Mr. Norris in his MSS.»
In the last he is called Dominus Willelmus de Gurnei, from whence we
infer that he was at that time a knight. The reason why William de Gurnei
and Matthew his son were witnesses to conveyance of lands at Gaywood
was, probably, their being lords of the manor of South Wootton, in the im-
mediate neighbourhood, which was certainly possessed by their descendant
Sir John de Gournay in the reign of Henry III. (Appendix XLVIII.)

It seems likely from the plea quoted above (Appendix LIII. No. 2),
where this William de Gournay is expressly said to have held lands in
Swathings, that he was enfeoffed of that manor and Hingham Gurneys by the
elder or Norman branch of the family. His descendants held these manors
as mesne lords under the Norman barons, who were tenants of the crown in
capite ; and this younger branch was sub-enfeoffed under the elder line an-
terior to the forfeiture of his estates by Hugh de Gourney in 1205.> Copies
of deeds exist whereby it appears that the family of the Burgundians, or
Le Bourguignons, were enfeoffed by the Gourneys of this manor of
Swathings. Swathings, in fact, was a Saxon town many centuries since
depopulated ; the lands belonging to it are now included in the townships of
Cranworth and Letton. Runhall was a beruite or hamlet to it, and it
included the principal part of Hardingham and lands in Thurston.c This
town of Swathings, and Hingham Gurney's, which joined it, were given by
the Norman Gourneys to this younger branch of their family—either to this
William de Gournay, or his father Walter.

The Burgundians, to whom the two Hugh de Gourneys conveyed it, were
amongst the feudal tenants of the Gurneys in Normandy (see App. XXI.
p. 122). How this manor was lost to the Burgundians and given to this
younger branch of the Gourneys, does not appear. Probably this occurred
by escheat, as the family of Le Bourguignon remained in Normandy after it
was lost to King John, and mutual escheats and compensations for lost fiefs

* Norris’s MSS. Tunstead Hundred, page 55.
® Blomefield in Hingham Gurney's, vol. ii. p. 445.
¢ Ibid. in Cranworth, vol. x. p. 199. -
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were made by the Kings of France and England upon the separation of the
duchy of Normandy from England. These manors might, therefore, be given
to this branch of the Gournays in compensation for Norman fiefs which
they had lost.

William de Gurney had issue Matthew de Gourney, and also Geoffrey de
Gourney, who occurs as witnessing a deed of lands at Gaywood with Mat-
thew his brother. Of both these we give an account hereafter.

The plea (Appendix LIII, No. 2) implies this William de Gournay did
not live after the time of Henry II.2

a It seems likely that it was this same William de Gurnay who held the manor of Edintune,
now Addington, in Kent. In the Textus Roffensis (Cotton. MSS.) is a charter of Gilbert
Bishop of Rochester, confirming to the see of Rochester “ quinque solidos pro decima de Edin-
tune ex dono Willelmi de Gurnaco.” Addington is in the hundred of Larkfield, lathe of Aylesford,
in Kent. Gilbert de Glanville was Bishop of Rochester from 1185 to 1214. This same William
de Gournay held of the honour of Mayenne, in Kent, in 1165. See Carta Walteri de Meduana
Liber Niger, vol. i. p. 58. Henrico Dei gratia regi Anglorum, karissimo domino suo, Walterus
de Meduana salutem et fidele servitium. Notum sit vobis quod anno et die in quo Rex Henricus
avus vester vivus et mortuus fuit, tenuit Galfridus Talebot in capite de illo xx milites, quos gra-
tia vestra modo de vobis teneo scilicet; Manasserus de Dammartin, iii milites, &c. De novo
feoffamento in tempore Regis Stephani, Willelmus de Gornaco tenet de dominio meo dimidium
militis, unde nullum servitium habeo.” William de Gournay had probably been enfeoffed of
this by the Talbots, his relations.

In the Register Ecclesi®s Roffensis (Cotton. MS. Domitian X. p. 91), is a charter of Galiena
de Gurnay, granddaughter of this William de Gurnay, confirming to the church of St. Andrew’s
at Rochester the gift of the tithes of Edintune made by her grandfather William de Gurnay.
¢« Omnibus Christi fidelibus, Galiena de Gurnay eternam in Domino salutem. Notum sit univer-
sitati vestre quod Willelmus de Gurnay avus meus, pro Dei amore et salute anime sue et anteces-
sorum et successorum-suorum, dedit ecclesie Sancti Andree Roucestrie et monachis ejusdem loci in
liberam et perpetuam elemosinam quasdam decimas in villa sua de Edintune, sed quia decime ille
disperse erant et potuerunt in commodum venire persone ipsius ecclesie de Edintune, provisum est
et statutum ut quilibet illius ecclesie persona nomine decimarum illarum liberaliter solverit
annuatim predictis monachis Roucestrie quinque solidos ad festum Sancti Andree. Hanc avi mei
donationem et istam inter monachos et personam ecclesie illius constitutionem, ego et heredes
mei ratam habemus, et ut firma et illibata permaneat, sigilli nostri appositione roboramus.
Hiis testibus,” &c. This manor of Addington was afterwards in a family of the name of Mande-
ville, according to Hasted in his History of Kent, Why this Kentish fief did not descend in the
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Contemporary with this William de Gournay I. was Robert de Launaye,
or de Alneto, who, after being a monk at Whitby, led an hermitical life at
Hode in Yorkshire (see page 82). He is said in the Monasticon® to have
been uncle or nephew of Gundred de Gournay, wife of Niel d’Albini, and
to have assisted her in founding Byland abbey. We have before stated
that Launay was one of the vills or manors in the pays de Bray, belong-
ing to the Gournays of Swathings, and it seems for some reason this Robert
assumed the appellation of De Launay from this place; from this we
suppose he must have been of this branch of the family of Gournay.
Robert de Launay, or de Alneto, occurs as a benefactor to the abbey of
Beaubec, in the foundation charter of that abbey by Hugh de Gournay IV.
after the year 1147. (Appendix XVIII. No. 1.)

same line as those in Norfolk I do not discover. There were Gournays at a later period in Kent,
The will of John Gurney, of Northfleet, Kent, was proved in 1475.
a Old Monasticon, p. 1028.
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APPENDIX XLVL

ON THE TENURE IN PARAGE, OR IN PARAGIO.

This tenure by the younger son of the lord
of a Norman fief, arose from the division or
severance of the fiefs in Normandy upon the
death of the lord. The eldest son had the
largest portion of the honour, and the choice of
that portion ; the younger sons held their por-
tions of the superior lord, as their elder brother
did his, and were not subjects or vassals of the
elder brother ; hence the word paragium, from
the younger son holding his lands pari condi-
tione with the elder, by equal condition as to
tenure. The elder son, however, did homage
to the superior lord for the whole fief ; and this
went on for seven generations, when all affinity
was supposed to cease; and after that, the
descendants of the younger son owed homage
and military service, and became the feudal
vassals of the descendants of the elder brother,
and the paragium ceased.

Ducange describes Paragium — ¢ Quicquid
feudale & fratre primogenito secundogenitis in
partem hareditatis datur, qui id ab ipso primo-
genito fratre tenent, pari ac ille reliquum feu-
dum conditione ; absque tamen homagio (quod
is pro toto feodo dominico preestat) usque ad
septimam generationem, qui finitd, omnis san-
guinis affinitas extincta censetur; tum enim
qui excipiunt, homagium prestant primogenitis.”

The Grand Coutumier of Normandy explains
the tenure in parage as follows :—

¢ Tenure par Parage adecertes si est fet
quant le tenant et celui del quel le fieu est tenus

sont pers par la reson del lignage, qui descent
de leurs antecesseurs, et en cette manidre tien-
nent les puisnez des ainznez de si atant que il
viengnent au sesime degré de leritage. Mes
dilec en avant, li puisnez si sont tenus & faire
fealte & I'ainzné, et quant vendra au septisme
degré, ils tendront encore de I'ainzné par ho-
mage, més dillec en avant tout c'en qui par le
devant estoit tenu en Parage, il sera tenu aprés
par hommage. Li ainznez poet fere justice sur
les puisnez pour les rentes et pour les services
que appartiennent as seignors del fieu, &c.”"—
And again—¢ Les puisnez seront tenus a fare
falté a leur ainznez ou a leurs successeurs
quant le lingnage sera alé et descendu siques
au sisime genoil. El septisme degré les puisnez
seront tenus 4 fere & leur ainznez homage, quer
le septisme degré est etabli tout an dehors des
lignes de sanguinité.”

This tenure in parage was never introduced
into England by the Normans. The Saxon
gavelkind differed from it, inasmuch as there
was no military service in it, and the inheri-
tance was equally divided amongst all the sons.

Of the English tenures, that of lands held in
frank-marriage most nearly resembled the te-
nure in parage ; in this case a portion of a fief
was given on the marriage of a son or daughter,
and was held of the superior lord free of ho-
mage and feudal service to the eldest son of the
donor and his descendants unto the third heir,
or fourth generation, when-the feudal services



APP. XLVIL]

and homage became again due from the de-
scendants of the frank-marriage to the de-
scendants of the eldest son.

FAMILY OF MONTIGNY.
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The tenure by parage existed in other pro-
vinces of France besides Normandy; it was
abolished in Britanny in 1187,

APPENDIX XLVII.

ON THE FAMILY OF MONTIGNI.

This family, which took its name from the
vill of Montigni, were amongst the early feudal
tenants of the Gournays. Ricardus de Mon-
teni is witness to the charter of Hugh de
Gournay IV. on the foundation of the priory
of Beaubec. Ancelinus de Monteni was wit-
ness to another charter of the same Hugh in
1172 : he and William de Monteni were pro-
bably sons of Richard. The immediate pre-
decessor of Eustace de Montigni, whose peti-
tion we give in the text, was Ingerran de Mon-
teni, as appears by the Register of Philip
Augustus, compiled in 1220 by Guerin, the
Bishop of Senlis, which contains every knight’s
fee in the pays de Bray—

“ Ingerannus de Monteniaco (tenet) dimi-
dium feodum (militis) ad Monteniacum, ad
Maci, et Launoy, et ad La Herloter.”*

La Halottiere and Launey are just opposite
Montigny on the right bank of the Andelle.

Massy is higher up, adjoining Fontaine en
Bray. Close to La Halottiere is the hamlet of
Normanville, on the left bank of the Andelle,
in the parish of Mesnil Lieubrai, and beyond,
the vill of Heronchelle-chef-de-l'eau and Sal-
monville. In them, in 1220, Nicolas de Montigni
and Hugh de Normanville had a knight's fee,
¢ ad Normanville, ad Heronchel, ad Capud aque
et ad Salamonisvillam.”

In the Livre d’'Ivoire, in the public library at
Rouen, we read that Isabella, wife of Nicholas
de Monteigni, knight, at Normanville, in Aer
chapel, in the year 1217, swore to observe the
agreement made between her husband and the
chapter of Rouen, relating to the churches of
Brachi and Magneville-Le-Goupi. William de
Montigni was son of this Nicholas. The whole
of this inheritance of the family of Montigny
passed afterwards to that of Marlet of Baque-
ville.

APPENDIX XLVIIIL

DEEDS OF CONVEYANCE OF LAND AT GAYWOOD BY LYNN.

No. L
From Norris MSS. Excerpta e chartis
antiquis.
Sciant, &c. quod ego Ailvricus filius Cols-
* Appendix XXXIIIL No. 2, p. 173,

queni Graffard de Geywood concessi, &c. Ade
de Gernmue et heredibus suis unam acram
terre mee et dimidium in villa de Geywood,
apud Wragescraft in campis de Geywood, versus
Wootton, et pro homagio et servitio suo et
pro xx solidis argenti, &c. tenenda de me, &c.

2R



300

Reddendo inde annuatim mihi, &e. tres denarios
de censu, &c.

Testibus Galfrido Capellano de Wootton.
Philippo Capellano. Willelmo de Gurnei. Hu-
gone de Wootton. Philippo filio Macelin. Si-
mone Trevatore. Thoma filio Ricardi. Eus-

WILLIAM DE GOURNAY I.

[PART 1.

tachio de Wootton. Willelmo filio Thome de
Geywood, Philippo filio suo. Radulfo clerico et
multis aliis.

The seal 1§ inches in diameter, a lion pas-

sant. Circumscription :

SIGILL E€ILFRIAI FIL €OLSVEINI GRAFARD.

No. 2.

Sciant &c. quod ego Adam de Gernemue
dedi &c. Johanni filio Galfridi de South
Wootton et heredibus suis, &c. pro homagio et
servitio suo, &c. et pro tribus solidis argenti, &c.
unam Hogam terre que jacet inter hogas que
fuerunt Ang'i Capellani et vocantur parve
hoge et inter croftam que fuit Simonis le
Trovur, tenenda &c. de me et heredibus meis,
&c. Reddendo inde annuatim, &c. quinque

denarios, &c. Testibus Domino Willelmo de
Gurnei. Hugone filio Roberti. Philippo filio
Macelin. Galfredo de Haclose. Galfrido filio
Bric’ de Mintling. Reginaldo et Malg’o. Ada
Philippo et Stephano filiis Brusnei. Johanne
Pigot. Philippo filio Petri. Stephano filio
Philippi Clerici et aliis.

Inter munimenta Dec. et Cap. Norvici.
Capeula xima,
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Son of William de Gournay I. (Appendix LIII. No. 2), lived in the reign
of Henry II. Richard I. and John; he and his brother Geoffrey occur as
witnesses to a deed without date, but Mr. Norris thinks about the year
1160, concerning a house at Gaywood held of the Prior and Convent of
Norwich.* (Appendix XLIX.)

Some time before the 30th of Henry II. 1184, Rose, daughter and heir
of Reginald de Burnham, or Fitz Philip of Harpley in Norfolk, was given
in marriage to this Matthew de Gournay, by Hameline® Earl Warren,
capital lord of that manor; a copy of the deed is preserved in the
Harl. MSS.° and is as follows :

“ Hamelinus Comes Warren omnibus Baronibus suis Anglis, ceterisque
hominibus suis salutem. Sciant presentes et futuri quod Ego dedi Mat-
theeo de Gourney filiam Reginaldi filii Philippi in uxorem et totam here-
ditatem suam sibi et heredibus suis tenendam de me et heredibus meis,
eodem servitio quod terra debet.

“ Testes. Petrus de Hobus,” &c.

This deed, together with that of Sir William Fitz Philip, respecting this
marriage, is mentioned by Sir Henry Spelman :? the seal was appended to
it. “ That of the Earl, a man at arms in an oval round, with the cir-
curhscription decayed. The seal of Fitz Philip, like the said Earl'’s, saving
it was not altogether so large, and in a perfect round, with the superscrip-
tion, likewise decayed.”

By this marriage Gurney’s manor in Harpley, being the moiety of the
Harpley manor, given to Reginald by William de Burnham, his brother,

& Norris MSS.

> Hameline was natural son of Geoffrey Plantagenet, Earl of Anjou, and therefore half-brother
to Henry II. who gave him in marriage Isabel, daughter and heiress of William third Earl of
Warren and Surrey.—Watson’s House of Warren, vol. i. p. 154.

¢ Harl. MS8. Brit. Mus. 970, 1. 2. p. 48.

¢ Spelman MSS. Gurney pedigree. (Appendix LV.)
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came into the family of the Gurneys; and the De Burnhams being consi-
dered a younger branch of the house of Warren, the Gurneys of West
Barsham always quartered Warren, chequy or and azure, with a
difference. (Appendix L.) Disputes arising about the tenure of this lord-
ship between Philip de Burnham, son of William, who granted it to
Reginald, and Matthew de Gournay and Rose his wife, a fine was then
levied in the King’s court at Westminster, before John Bishop of Norwich,
Adam de Glanville, the King’s justices, Richard the King’s treasurer, Wil-
liam Maud and William Basset, on Wednesday next before the feast of St.
Luke the Evangelist, the 30th Hen. II. when it was ceded to Matthew, &c.
and his heirs, to be held by half a fee, he paying to Philip ten marks.*
(Appendix LIL.)

Matthew de Gournay gave to the church of Hardingham the tithes
which were confirmed by his grandson John de Gournay.® Also, in con-
junction with Rose his wife, about the 30th of Henry II. he gave twelve
acres and a rood of land in Harpley to the prior of Castle-Acre; for which
he (Matthew) had one mark of silver, and Rose a bezant of gold.c (Ap-
pendix LIIL.)

In the same year Matthew de Gourney gained by combat of the Prior of
Lewes the advowson of the church at Harpley. John Le Coward was his
champion.?

FONT, HARPLEY CHURCH.

* Blomefield in Harpley, vol. viii. p. 452, and the Gurney pedigree in the Spelman MSS.
b Harl. MSS. 970. Brit. Mus. Vitis Calthorpiana.
¢ Blomefield in Harpley. 4 Ibid.
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We find a Matthew de Gournay, probably this same Matthew, witnessing
the deeds of Hawise de Gournay, lady of Barewe Gournay in Somerset-
shire, namely, that confirming the gift of lands in Upton to the abbey of
Bermondsey, also that of Patrick Earl of Salisbury for the same purpose,
before the year 1167.* He also witnessed the deed by which Hawisa de
Gourney gave lands to Thomas son of William, preserved in Madox’s
Formulare Anglicanum, No. 100, page 54. (See the account of Hawisa de
Gournay in the fourth part of this Record.)

The following entries in the Pipe Rolls. relate undoubtedly to this same
Matthew de Gurnai of whom we are treating :—

¢« 3d Richard I. (1192) Norfolk and Suffolk.

“ De debitis Aaron Judei Lincolniensis Mattheus de Gurnay reddit com-
putum de xxxi solidis et ii denariis per cartam, In thesauro duo solidi et
duo denarii. Et debet xxviii solidos et viii denarios.

“ Mattheus de Gurnay reddit computum de xxviii solidis et viii denariis
per cartam.

 In thesauro liberavit et quietus est.”

We conclude from this that Aaron, the Jew of Lincoln, had lent money
upon the security of the King’s dues, of which some were owing by Mat-
thew de Gurnay, who discharged them, as is shewn in the above entries.
This Aaron, the Jew of Lincoln, was the most wealthy of his nation at
that time in England. In the year 1187 a large portion of his treasures had
been lost at sea, between Shoreham and Dieppe. At his death all his pos-
sessions came to the Crown, according to the then cruel state of the law
with respect to the Jews.b

On St. Benet's day, in the fourth year of King John (21st March, 1203),
a fine was levied at Norwich, before the King’s justices, between Matthew de
Gournay and Emma de Harpley, respecting lands in Harpley. (Appendix
LIII. No. 1.) .

From the following extract it appears that Matthew de Gourney was not

a Bermondsey Chartulary. MSS. Cotton. Claud. A. v fol. 110,
b Lord Lyttelton's Life of Henry II. vol. iii. p. 445.
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in England at Michaelmas term, the 5th John, and that he had some
difference and a suit with John (Gray) bishop of Norwich.

“ Placita de termino Michaelis anno regis Johannis quinto, Norff. Jo-
hannes dei gratia episcopus Norwicensis dilectis amicis suis Justiciariis de
Banco, &c. Rogavit nos Archidiaconus Wigorn. quod ponamus in respectu
loquelam quam habemus versus Mattheum de Gournay, &c. quousq. venerit
in Anglia, &c. Nos autem rogamus vos, &c. rotulo 30.”*

It is to be observed that the year in which Matthew de Gournay was not
in England (1204) was that in which Philip Augustus completed his con-
quest of Normandy, and he was probably serving in the war there.

It also appears, from the same MSS. fol. 77, that Matthew de Goumey
was a knight.

‘ Placita de termino Pasche et de termino Trinitatis anno regni regis
Johannis primo Norff. Willelmus de Ebor. &c. Adam filius Alani, Mat-
theus de Gurnay, Amalricus de Babingel, Augustinus de Congham iiii
milites. Rot. 24.” ‘

In Michaelmas term, 8 John (1206), Matthew de Gournay demanded,
against Gilbert de Runhall, lands, &c. in Runhall and Swathing, of which
William de Gourney, his father, had been seized in the time of King
Henry, the father of the king that then was.> An office copy of this suit
is given in Appendix LIII. No. 2.

This suit was not, however, final, for in the following year, the 9th John
(1207), there was a suit upon a real action between Matthew de Gournay,
petitioner, and Gilbert de Runhall, for lands, &c. in Runhall. A day was
given to the parties to hear the election of the elizors; but three of the
four knights not appearing further day was given to the parties, and pre-
cept awarded to the sheriff to bring up the three absent knights. The
four knights elizors appeared, chose twelve gentlemen for the jury on the
grand assize, between Matthew de Gournay, petitioner, and Gilbert de
Runhall, tenant, for one carucate® of land, with the appurtenances, and

a Harl. MSS. No. 301, fol. 94.
b Norris MSS. Tunstead Hundred, p. 60.
¢ A carucate of land in Norfolk, as elsewhere, was, according to Mr. Noms, not always the
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one mill, with the appurtenances, &c. in Runhall. (Appendix LIII. Nos. 3
and 4.)

The process of law here described was called the grand assize, and was
introduced by Henry IL. with consent of parliament ; by this the tenant or
defendant in a suit had the choice of resorting to this mode of trial, in-
stead of trial by wager of battel or duel. For this purpose a writ de
magna assisa eligenda is directed to the sheriff to return four knights
(elisors), who are to elect twelve others, who together form the great jury
of sixteen, or the grand assise, to try the suit.*

Geoffrey, brother of Matthew de Gourney, witnessing the Gaywood deed
after him, is obviously the younger brother. But nothing more has yet been
discovered respecting him, unless he was the same person who held a
knight's fee in Wykhampton of the Earl Marshall, according to the extract
below from the Additional MSS. Brit. Mus. No. 8,843, fol. 56 :—

“ WaLsHAM HUNDRED, RANWORTH.

« 20 Henry III.—The prior of Beston had here in Wykhampton, for-
merly Jeffry Gourney’s in Wykhampton, held of the Earl Marshall by a
knight’s fee.”

It is worthy of notice that Wykhampton is the parish adjoining to
Cantley, which was of the domain of Hugh de Gournay.

By Rose de Burnham his wife, Matthew de Gournay had William de
Gournay, whom we call the second, his son and heir.

The last notice of Matthew de Gournay is in the plea roll above-men-
tioned of the 8th John (1206) ; he probably did not long survive that year.

same in quantity, but sufficient to employ one plough: it is a term of frequent occurrence in
Domesday Book and other ancient documents.
* Blackstone’s Comment. book iii. chap. 23.
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COTEMPORARIES OF MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.

WiLLIAM DE GOURNAT,* between whom and Martin Westlai a fine wal
levied in the 10th Richard I. (1199), of lands in Burnham (App. LIV.
No. 1.) We are inclined to think this William de Gurnai was neither the
father of Matthew, as being too late in date, nor his son, as being too early
in date. He might have been a brother.

LeEwis DE GOURNEY was another cotemporary of Matthew de Gournay.
We do not find what the relationship between them was ; but this Lewis, we
conceive, was certainly of this same younger branch of the Norman Gour-
nays, as he possessed lands in Cranworth and Letton, over which towns
the manor of Swathings, held by this branch of the family, extended : this
appears by a fine, of which an office copy is given. (Appendix LIV. No. 2.)

We find Lewis de Gourney witnessing the deed of Hugh de Gourney
V. confirming the manor of Swathings, in Hardingham, to Hugh son
of Robert the Burgundian, dated at Neufchatel de Dreincourt, (Appendix
XXI. No. 2, page 122.) Also the gift of the same Hugh of the church of
Greenhood (Cranworth) to the monks of St. Hildevert at Gournay. (Ap-
pendix XXXI. page 162.)

In a Norman Pipe Roll, lately printed from the records in the Tower,
called Rotulus Normannorum, Lewis de Gourney occurs as receiving a
discharge for Hugh de Gourney for money due from the latter to the Nor-
man Exchequer. ¢ In perdonam (release) Ludovico de Gurnaio pro Hu-
gone de Gurnaio xL libras per idem breve (brief or deed), et dat in suum
superplus superioris computi centum libras, quinque solidos, duo denarios

a See Mr. Stapleton’s Norman Exchequer Roll, vol. ii. p. cxxxiv, where £7 was owing by
William de Gournai in the year 1198, which he was bound to pay to the servientes who went
in the King's service, but hadnot. (In the bailiwick of the pays de Caux.)
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(£100. 5s. 2d.), et quietus est (acquitted), et habet superplus L solidos
11. denarios.” *

This Norman deed is the account of moneys received at Caen by Wil.
liam Fitz-Ralf, seneschal of Normandy, in the year 1184.

The fact of l.ewis de Gournay discharging this account for Hugh de
Gournay proves his near relationship to him. He also occurs in the Great
Roll of the Norman Exchequer, lately published by Mr. Stapleton.  De
Ludovico de Gournaio c. solidi pro falso clamo,” page 58, in Dreincourt.

Lewis de Gournai married Mabilia, as I learn by a fine levied in the 14th.
of John between Mabilia, widow of Lewis, and Thomas his son, of lands,
a mill, and five marks of rent in Cranworth and Letton, part of Mabel's
dower. (Appendix, LIV. No. 2.)

This Thomas de Gournay, son of Lewis, occurs as witness to the deed of
Hugh de Gournay, conferring on Hugh the Burgundian the manor of
Swathings. (Appendix, XXI. No. 2.) We find no further account of him.
Lewis de Gourney probably died about the 14th John, 1213, as the fine
above mentioned was likely to be levied immediately after his death.

We hear nothing further of Lewis de Gournay and his son, and, from
the descendants of Matthew de Gournai holding the manor of Swathings,
in which Lewis had an interest, they must have inherited it as his nearest
heirs ; it seems likely that Matthew and Lewis de Gurnay were brothers.

HucH DE GOURNEY of Letton was another cotemporary of Matthew de
Gournay ; he gave lands to the priory of Lewes in Letton and Cranworth,
by deed sans date (Appendix LIV. No. 3), witnessed by Roger de Rising
and William de Caily, who lived in the reign of Henry III. Doubtless he
was named after his relation the Anglo-Norman lord, and was certainly
one of this younger branch of the Gournays.

8 This seems referred to by Madox in his History of the Exchequer, vol. i. p. 169.

2s



308

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.

[PART 11

APPENDIX XLIX.

COPY OF A DEED RESPECTING A HOUSE AT GAYWOOD, FROM THE NORRIS MSS.
MISCELLANEOUS PAPERS, p. 16.

Omnibus Christi fidelibus, &c. Hugo Tegu-
lator Burgus Lennensis et Emma uxor ejusdem.
Salutem. Noverit universitas, &c. Nos con-
cessisse, &c. Johanni Tyteleshal Capellano et
Alicie sorori sue, &c. totum illum messuagium
cum edificiis et pertinentiis quod jacet in Villa
de Geywude (inter terram Reginaldi de Har-
pele W, Johannis de Bauseie E. a via regale
versus S. ad terram Johannis Curteys N.)
habendum de Priori de Lenna, &c. Domino
Feodi. Dicti Johannes et Alicia in tota vita
eorum reddendo, &c. predicto Priori duos
denarios, &c. ita quod post decessum, &c,
dictum messuagium, &c. dicto Priori, &c. rever-
tatur, &c. Pro hac autem donatione predicti
Johannes et Alicia nobis dederunt quadraginta
duos solidos, &c, Testibus,—

Henrico de Havelose. Thoma Carpentario.
Mattheo de Gurney. Galfrido fratre suo.
Galfrido filio Philippi. Galfrido filio Wil-
lelmi. Nichola fratre suo de Wootton. Wil-
lelmo filio Philippi. Bricone fratre suo. Thoma
filio Hodierne. Roberto filio Hugonis. Thoma
fratre suo. Johanne Clerico et multis aliis.

1st Seal, Oval, with a pelican on her nest,
one inch by five-eighths. Legend:

S bVGONIS hACVN.

2nd Seal. Oval. Legend:
(&
SIGILL eMM€@ A +
mn

Inter Munimenta Dec. et Cap. Norw. Cap-
sula xima,

APPENDIX L.

ON THE FAMILY OF DE BUBNHAM OR FITZ-PHILIP.

Walter, who held the manor of Burnham at
the Survey under William Earl Warren and
Surrey, seems to be the ancestor of the family
of De Burnham, or Fitz-Philip.

Philip de Burnham, or de Warren, was lord
in the reign of King Stephen, and had among
others two sons, William ancestor of Cecilia,
wife of Sir William de Calthorpe, and Reginald
father of Rose, wife of Matthew de Gourney,
which ladies by the death of the last male of

this family, in the reign of Henry II. carried
the inheritance of the De Burnhams to the
Calthorpes and Gurneys.

This family of de Burnham is eonsldered to be
a younger branch of the noble house of Warren.
Walter, who held the manor at the Survey, was
said to be kinsman of the first Earl Warren and
Surrey ; but the more probable supposition is that
an heiress carried his inheritance to Reginald
second son of the first Earl Warren and Surrey.
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The  Calthorpes
have always borne
for arms those of
Warren, Chequy or
and azure, with a fess
ermine for differ-
ence, unquestionably
in consequence of this

: marriage of Sir Wil-
liam de Calthorpe with Cecilia de Burnham.
The Gurneys of
West Barsham quar-
tered Warren, with g
mullet on a crescent
for difference, as is
shewn by the arms of
the Gurneys, with
theirmatches, inglass,
now remaining at
They also quartered
Warreninabordure.
In one of the win-
dows of Gurney's
Place, in Norwich,
was formerly the fol-
lowing coat of arms :
Quarterly, 1st, che-
quy, within a bor-
dure; 2d, a bend;
3rd, a cross engrailed; 4th, bendlets.* The
first coat seems to refer to this younger
branch of Warren,
the third is Gurney ;
of the remaining two
we cannot explain the
meaning. Mr. Nor-
ris thinks these quar-
terings have been
transposed by the
glaziers.}

Walsingham abbey.

* Norris MSS,
4+ These arms were seen by Mr. Kirkpatrick, an emi-
nent antiquary resident at Norwich, rather more than a
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On the embattled
frieze on the south
side of Harpley
Church are many
coats of arms;
amongst others those
of Gournay;alsoWar-
ren; also, Chequy,
a fess, apparently .
ermine, which I take to be Calthorpe. And,
Chequy, ona crescent
fesswise three cing-
foils, which I sup-
pose is intended for
de Burnham, or War-
ren, with a difference.

CHARTERS OF DE BURNHAM.

No. 1.

Charter of William Fitz=Philip or de Burn-
ham, granting the moiety of the Harpley
manor to his brother Reginald.

Willelmus filius Philippi omnibus amicis et
hominibus suis salutem. Notum sit omnibus
tam presentibus quam futuris me dedisse et
concessisse Reginaldo fratri meo dimidium terre
mee de Harpley : viz. partem illam quam mater
mea tenuit postquam manerium inter nos divi-
sum erat. Tenendum de me hereditarie et
heredibus meis pro servitio dimidii feodi militis,
cum omnibus pertinentibus suis. Quare volo
et precipio ut eam terram bene et in pace, lil_)ere,
et honorifice teneat et possideat sicut eam un-

century ago ; he bequeathed his MS. Collections to the
Norwich Corporation, but mest of them are unfortws
nately lost. There are copies of some in the Norris
Ms8,
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quam liberius et honorificentius pater meus et
mater mea tenuerunt. Testibus, Willelmo Epis-
copo Norwicensi. Reginaldo de Warren. Ri-
cardo de Wormagay. Radulfo de Frevil.
Baldwin de Frevil. Radulfo de Playz. Simone
de Caly. Willelmo filio Ailberti. Roberto
filio Osmin, &c.*

The seal was an inch and a half over, con-
taining a man on horseback with a sword drawn.

No. 2.

Confirmation of the foregoing by William
third Earl of Warren and Surrey.

Willelmus Comes Warren omnibus homi-
nibus suis Francis et Anglicis salutem. Sciatis
me concessisse, et hac presenti charta mea con-
firmasse donationem illam quam fecit Willelmus
filius Philippi Reginaldo fratri suo de terra sua
de Harpley sicut charta predicti Willelmi tes-
tatur. Quare volo et precipio ut pacem meam
et omnium meorum de terra illa habeat et libere
et quiete et honorifice eam teneat ipse et heredes

* Harl. MSS. 970, Vitis Calthorpiaua.

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.
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the above grant, &c.

[PART 11.

sui perpetuo. Testes, Reginaldus de Warren.
Ancellinus de Pavill. Hugo de Bardolf, &c.t

The two charters given above were made
The wit-
ness William (Turbe) bishop of Norwich com-
ing to that see in the first year, and William
third Earl Warren, who confirmed the gift,
was killed in the Holy Land in 1148.

Philip de Burnham, with the consent of
Emma his wife, and William his son and heir,
gave to the monks of Castle-acre his mill in
Fyncham, and the site thereof, viz. v perches
of land which he exchanged with William son
of Osbert, of the same town, &c. Witnesses,
Roger de Frivill, Radulf de Bannham, Fre-
derick de Hakeford, Roger Spriggins, William
his brother, Hugh Capellanus de Acre, Rein de
Duntun, Godfrey de Swaffham, John de Wat-
lingeton, and many others.

Emma de Burnham, in the time of her
widowhood, by deed next following confirmed
Witnesses, Frederick de
Hakeford, Roger Spriggin, and others.}

+ Ibid.
1 Additional MSS8. Brit. Mus. No. 8,839,

PEDIGREE OF DE BURNHAM,
From Blomefield in Harpley and the Burnhams, and from original documents.

WALTER, who held the manors of Burnham Thorpe and Harpley at the Survey under Earl
‘Warren, to whom many su him to have been related. 1083.
y suppose

PHILIP DR ﬁmm, or PHILIP DE WARREN, Lord of Burnham Thorpe and
Harpley, temp. King Stephen.f .........

...... eessecssecsnssae T '

Gmn:.nus fil. Phi-  ...... =WiLLIAK Firz-PuILIP, gave the  Reainarp Frrz=F...... WaLter Frrz-Paiue,

lippi, witness to a moiety of Harpley to his brother PHILIP or DE presented to the church

deed at Gaywood. ROfinAld, between 1141 and  BuURNHAM. at Burnham 8th of
1148. Stephen.

es-..TPHILIP DE BURNHAN, Roek DE BurnHANM, dau. and heir given—MATTHEW DE GOURNAY, in her right

Lord of Burnham 36
_LHenry II. in marriage.

by Hameline Plantagenet Earl of Warren lord of the manor of Harpley-Gur-

neys.

Wx:‘ml, son and Bu:rn, succeeded his
heir, ob. s, p. Pla-  brother William, ob.

eit. 4 Edw. L s, p. Plac. 4 Edw. I.  Edw. L.

Fun'cm, sucoeeded Ralph,
ob. also s. p. Placit. 4

Pmu'r, beel.me?En‘mA, dau. and heir
heir, Placit. 4 | of 8ir Ralph L'Es-
John & 4 Ed. L. | trange, Knt.

4

Sir WiLLlaN DR CALTHORPE, Knt.=CECILIA DE BURNHAM, sister and helr.

Wx'u.ul, son and heir, s. p.
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It seems likely that Philip de Burnham, or
de Warren, who held the manors of Burnham
and Harpley in the reign of Stephen, was a
younger son, or grandson by a younger son, of
the first Earl Warren ; and his wife having part
of the Harpley manor, as appears by the deed
of William Fitz-Philip, leads me to think she
was heiress of Walter, who held these manors
at the survey.

Upon examining the line of descent of the
De Burnhams from the house of Warren, we
conclude that they certainly sprung from Regi-
nald, second son of William first Earl Warren,
and that Reginald, second son of William second
Earl Warren, was the person who married the
heiress of the Lords of Wirmegay.

Our reasons for this conclusion are that an
ancient pedigree of the Lestranges* states that
the De Burnhams descended from the first Earl
Warren, of course by a younger son; now by
the charters of the first Earl Warren it appears
he had but two sons, William, second Earl, and
Reginald. (See the foundation deed of Lewes
priory by William first Earl Warren, in the
Monasticon, vol. v. p. 1.)

This Reginald adhered to Robert Curthose
in 1090, and was taken prisoner at Dive in
1106. Camden, and after him Dr. Watson, in
his House of Warren (vol.i. p. 67), confound
this Reginald, son of the first Earl, with Regi-
nald son of the second Earl ; and they state that
the former of these was the person who married
the heiress of Wirmegay, which is impossible,
from the circumstance that the Reginald de
Warren who married the heiress of Wirmegay
died in the 81 Hen. IL, 95 years after the

* In the possession of Mr. Styleman L'Estrange.
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date under which the first Reginald de Warren
is mentioned by Orderic Vital.+

This second Reginald first occurs in the
12th of Stephen, 1147. He was afterwards
governor of Norwich castle in the reign of
Henry II.} He gave the church of Plumpton
to the canons of Southwark, and the charter
by which he did this§ has given occasion to
Dr. Watson to suppose that he was son of the
first Earl Warren, from his mentioning Isa-
bella Comitissa distinct from his mother;
whereas it is obvious that the Isabella Comi-
tissa whom he mentions was daughter and
heir of William third Earl Warren, and who
married successively William, son of King Ste-

_phen, and Hameline half-brother of Henry II.

From these circumstances we do not doubt
that Dugdale was correct in saying that it was
Reginald, son of the second Earl Warren, who
married the heiress of Wirmegay ; and it seems
highly probable that the De Burnhams descend
from Reginald, son of the first Earl Warren ;
and this agrees with
the arms of De Burn-
ham, quartered by the
Gurneys in the glass
at Walsingham: War-
ren differenced by a
crescent surmounted
by a mullet; Regi-
nald de Burnham,
whose daughter married Matthew de Gurney,
having been third son of Philip de Burnham of
this second house of Warren.

+ Ord. Vital. p. 690 and 819.
$ Watson's House of Warren, vol. i. p. 111,
§ Ibid. vol. i. p. 67. '
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REGINALD, 2d son of the 1st Earl w‘“"’“'j" ......

P.HILIP DE WARREN, or DE BURNHAN, temp. Stephen, Lord5=Qus. whether daughter of Walter, who held these

of Burnham Thorpe and Harpley.

manors at the Survey.

WArl.‘l.‘El Frrz-PaILIP,

Dr. Watson’s idea of the Warrens of Poyn-
ton being descended from the second Reginald

WiLLIAM (see supra).

T L
REGINALD. GEOFFREY,

Arundel. They came from one of the latter
Earls and his concubine Maud of Nerford,

is entirely disproved in Dallaway’s Rape of | whose arms they bore in a canton.

APPENDIX LI.

FINE BETWEEN MATTHEW DE GOURNEY AND ROSE HIS WIFE, AND PHILIP DE
BURNHAM, 30 HEN, 2.

Vitis Calthorpiana. Harl. MSS. 970, p. 47.

Hec est concordia finalis facta in curia Do-
mini Regis apud Westmonasterium die Mer-
curii proxima ante festum sancti Luca, Anno
30 Hen. 2, Coram Johanne Episcopo Norwi-
censi et Ada Glanvil Justiciariis Domini Regis
et coram Ricardo Thesaurario Domini Regis,
et Will. Mauduit et Will. Basset et aliis baroni-
bus Domini Regis qui ibi tunc aderant, inter
Mattheum de Gourney et Rosam uxorem suam
et Philippum de Burnham de feodo dimidii
militis in Harpley, unde placitum fuit inter eos

in curia Domini Regis, et unde Mattheus et
Rosa uxor sua qui terram illam tenent posue-
runt se in assisa Domini Regis et petierunt
recognitum utrum ipsi habent minus jus tenen-
dum terram illam de prefato Philippo vel Phi-
lippus habet in dominico suo.

Et prefatus Philippus concessit ipsis Mat-
theo et Rose uxori sue et heredibus suis pre-
fatis feodum dimidii militis quod ad terram
illam pertinet; et pro hac concessione ipsi Mat-
theus et Rosa uxor dederunt ipso Philippo
10 marcas.

APPENDIX LII.

DEED OF MATTHEW DE GOURNAY AND ROSE HIS WIFE, GIVING LAND AT HARPLEY TO
THE PRIORY OF CASTLEACRE.

Cartulary of Castle-acre. Mus. Brit. Harl.
MSS. 2110, fol. 85.

Harpele :—Sciant presentes et futuri quod

ego Mattheus de Gurnai assensu Rose uxoris

mee concedo et hac carta mea confirmo Deo
et sancte Marie de Acre, et monachis ibidem
Deo servientibus, xii acras terre et i rodam in
campis de Harpleia quas Reginaldus filius
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Philippi dedit eis in liberam et perpetuam ele-
mosynam. Et hoc facio pro salute aniine mee
et Rose uxoris mee, et patris mei, et matris, et
heredum meorum. Etin die quo hoc eis con-
firmavi, dederunt mihi unam marcam argenti et
‘Rose uxori mee unum bisantium. His testibus,
Willelmo filio Leulfi. Ricardo filio Rogeri. Si-
mone diacono. Gilberto de Runhal. Willelmo de
Swethinga. Willelmo Kerl. Radulfo capellano

SUIT WITH GILBERT DE RUNHALL.
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de Acre. Lamberto clerico. Eustachio de Ta-
tersete. Willelmo dapifero. - Roberto Portareo.
Waltero filio Hamonis. Gaufrido de Swaffham.

From the witnesses, William de Swathing
and Gilbert de Runhall, this deed seems to
have been executed at Matthew de Ggurnay's
manor of Swathings; William his steward,
and Robert his porter, being also present.

APPENDIX LIIIL

DOCUMENTS RELATING TO MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.

No. 1.

Fine between Emma de Herpelay and Mat-
thew de Gournay of Lands in Harpley.

Heec finalis concordia facta in curia domini
Regis apud Norwicum die Santi Benedicti anno
Regni Regis Johannis iiii. coram Gilberto
de Insula, Reginaldo de Cornhill, Waltero
de Crepping, Reginaldo de Argentan, Justi-
ciariis domini Regis et aliis Baronibus tunc ibi
presentibus, Inter Emmam de Herpelay peten-
tem et Mattheum de Gurney tenentem de xx
acris terre cum pertinentiis in Herpelay. Unde
recognitio de morte ancessoris summonita fuit
inter eos in prefata curia. Scilicet quod pre-
dicta Emma remisit et quietum clamavit pre-
disto Matthwo et heredibus suis totum jus et
clamum quod habuit in predicta terra de se et
heredibus suis in perpetuum. Et pro hac quieta
clamantia et fine et concordia predictus Mat-
theus concessit predicte Emme et heredibus
suis ii acras terre et dimidium in eadem villa,
Scilicet i acram ad Piggescroft et i acram et
dimidium ad Kimiluesmere hevedland, tenendas
de se et heredibus suis in perpetuum per libe-

rum servitium vi denariorum per annum pro
omni servitio Reddendum ad festum Sancti
Michaelis et ad scutagium xx solidorum 11 de-
narios et ad plus plus et ad minus minus.

No. 2.

Suit between Matthew de Gournay and Gil-
bert de Runhall. (a. p. 1206.)

Inter recorda in Thesaurio Curi Recepte
Scaccarii asservata, viz. in Rotolo indorsato,
« Placita apud Westmonasterium Michaelis
anno 8 Regis Johannis,” continetur ut sequitur :

Placitum apud Westmonasterium in octavo
Sancti Michaelis anno regni Regis Jobannis
octavo.

Matth®us de Gurnay petit versus Gilber-
tum de Runhall, 1 carucatam terr® cum perti-
nentiis in Runhall et Swathing et 1 molendinum
cum pertinentiis in Swathing, sicut jus suum
unde Willelmus pater suus saisitus fuit tempore
Henrici Regis patris, capiens inde esplecia* ad
valorem dimidii marce; et Gilbertus venit et de-

® Esplecia, rents.
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fendit jus suum et ponit se in magna assisa,
scilicet, utrum majus jus habet tenendum de
eodem Matth®o (an) idem Mattheus in domi-
nico. Dies datus eis in xv dies post festum
Sancti Martini, &c.

The above plea is important, inasmuch as it
is documentary evidence that Matthew de
Gournay was son and heir of William de
Gournay (1.)

The suit was renewed the next year, as fol-
lows, according to the process described in the
text.

No. 3.

Inter Recorda in Thesaurio Curie Receptse
Scaccarii asservata, viz. in Rotulo indorsato
¢ Anno 9 Jobannis,’ continetur ut sequitur.

Rotulus de termino Sancti Michaelis, anno
Regni Regis Johannis nono.

In Oct. Sancti Michaelis.

Dies datus est Matth®o de Gurnay petenti
et Gilberto de Runhall tenenti de audienda
electione de terra in Runhall a die Sancti Marci
in xv dies, coram Rege pro defectu iiii Militum,
quorum Michael de Munterni, Umfridus de
Miliers, Rogerus de Ho, iii Milites non venerunt
vel se essoniaverunt,* etc. Unde preceptum
est Vicecomiti Norfolcie quod habet eosdem
ad eundem terminum, et non omittat propter
aliquam libertatem Comitis Arundell et Cardon
de Frechevill in quorum libertate idem Michael
et Umfridus manent, quin habeat eos ad pre-
dictum terminum, et loco Rogeri de Ho qui non

+ Essoniare, to excuse.

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.
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est inventus ponat alium et tot et tales, &c. eteos’
venire faciat, &c. et non omittat, &c. Preceptam
est etiam vicecomiti quod summoniret ballivos
Comitis de Arundell et Cardegn de Frechevill
quod sint coram Rege ad eundem terminum
audituros judicium suum &c. sicut eis preceptom:
fuit, &c.t

No. 4.

Rogerus de Ho, Umfridus de Miliers,
Thomas filius Willelmi, Robertus Barnard iiii
milites sumoniti ad eligendum xii ad faciendam
magnam assisam inter Mattheum de Gurnay
petentem et Gilbertum de Runhall tenentem de
1 carucata terre cum pertinentiis 1 . . . . ...
et de 1 molendino cum pertinentiis in Runhall
unde idem Gilbertus qui tenens est posuit se in
magna assisa et petivit recognitionem fieri
utrum jpse majus jus habeat tenendi terram
illam et molendinum cum pertinentiis de ipso
Matthso an idem Mattheus in dominico,
Veniunt ut eligant istos, Matth®um de Gremes-
ton, Radulfum de Curcun, Ricardum de Rising,
Willelmum de Sparham, Michaelem de Mun-
teny, Philippum de Snaring, Willelmum de Car-
cun de Stanfeld, Willelmum de Blunvill, Ro-
gerum de Buzun, Hlewin filium Willelmi,
Willelmum filium Gaufridi de Gorbodesham,
Radulfum de Verly, Rogerum de Greston,
Radulfum de Spinevill, Radulfum de Banham,
Gaufridum Jordan. Dies datus est eis a die
Pascha in xv dies et tune veniant milites.}

+ Rot. 8. Norf,
1 Rot, 10, d. Norf,
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APPENDIX LIV.

DOCUMENTS RESPECTING CONTEMPORARIES OF MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.

No. 1.

Fine between William de Gurnas and Martin
de Westlai, 10th Richard I.

Hzec est finalis concordia facta in Curia Do-
mini Regis apud Norwicum in crastino Sancti
Michaelis archangeli anno Regni Regis Ri-
cardi x. coram Roberto Eliensis archidiacono,
Willelmo de Warenna, Roberto filio Rogeri,
Willelmo de Auberville, Osberto filio Hervei,
Michaeli Belet, Justiciariis et aliis Baronibus et
fidelibus Domini Regis ibidem tunc presentibus.
Inter Willelmum de Gurnai petentem et Mar-
tinum de Westlai tenentem de una acra terre
et dimidio cum pertinentiis in Burpham, unde
recognitio de morte ancessoris summonita fuit
inter eos in prefata curia, scilicet quod predictus
Martinus recognovit totam predictam terram
cum pertinentiis esse jus et hereditatis predicti
Willelmi tenendam de predicto Martino et he-
redibus suis illi et heredibus suis in perpetuum
pro servitio xii denariorum per annum pro omni
servitio. Et pro hac fine et concordia et recog-
nitione predictus Willelmus dedit predicto Mar-
tino x solidos.

A fine is so called because it puts an end not
only to the suit then commenced, but also to all
other suits and controversies respecting the
same matter: it is a very usual species of assur-
ance of lands and tenements.

A fine may be described to be an amicable
adjustment or composition of a suit, either
actual or fictitious, by leave of the king or his
justices, whereby the lands in question become
or are acknowledged to be the right of one of
the parties.—(See Blackstone’s Commentaries,
Book ii. chap. 21.)

Fines are of perpetual occurrence, and the

registration of them is one of the principal
sources of information respecting property in
the early periods of our history.

No. 2.

Fine between Mabilia widow of Lewis de
Gournay, and Thomas son of Lewis, 14th
year of King John.

Inter Recorda in Thesaurario Curie Recepte
Scaccarii asservata, viz. in Bundella Finium
tempore Regis Johannis in comitatu Norfolk,
continetur ut sequitur.

Hzec est finalis concordia facta in Curia Do-
mini Regis apud Westmonasterium a die Sanc-
te Trinitatis in xv dies anno Regni Regis
Johannis xiiii, coram Pathull,
Jacobo de Poterna, Henrico de Ponte Aldemer,
Rogero Huscart, Justiciariis et aliis fidelibus
Domiuni Regis tunc ibi presentibus. Inter Ma-
bilia[m viduam LodoJwici de Gurnay peten-
tem per Warinum de Risinges positum loco suo
ad lucrandum vel perdendum. Et Thomam
filium Lodowici tenentem de med.
acre terre cum pertinentiis in Cranewurth.
Et de medietate duodecim acrarum prati et
pasture cum pertinentiis in eadem villa. Et
de medietate unius molendini e
pertinentiis in eadem villa. Et de quarta
parte unius molendini ad aquam in eadem
villa, Et de medietate quinque marcarum
redditus in Lettonet . . . . . . . .,
wurht. Quas medietates ipsa Mabilia clamat
versus eandem Thomam ut rationabilem dotem
suam de dono predicti Lodowici quondam viri
sui et unde placitum . . . . in eadem
curia scilicet quod predicta Mabilia remisit et
quietum clamavit predicto Thoms et heredibus

2T
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suis totum jus et clamam quod habuit in pre-
dicta terra et in predicto prato et pastura .

. . . . molendinis et in predicto redditu
nomine dotis et pro hac quieta clamantia et fine
et concordia predictus Thomas concessit eidem
Mabilie duas acras terre cum pertinentiis .

. . Scilicet unam acram que jacet inter terram
Ricardi de Rising et terram persone de Crane-
wurth. Et tres rodas et dimidium
et in Shenek Teunendas eidem
Mabilie tota vita sua nomine dotis, de ipso
Thoma et heredibus suis per liberum servitium
quatuor denariorum per annum Reddendo .

. quatuor . . . . anni scilicet ad fes-
tum Michaelis unum denarium et ad nativitatem
Domini unum denarium, et ad Pascham unum
denarium pro omnibus . . . . Et preterea
predictus Thomas concessit eidem Mabilie duas
acras terre in eadem villa quas habuit de dono
predicti Ludowici patris ipsius Thome, Scilicet
illas duas acras que . . . inter terram
Rogeri de Swatinges et terram Johannis filii
Busxi habendas et tenendas eidem Mabilie et
heredibus suis de ipso Tho . . . . . in
perpetuum perliberums . . . . quatuor
denariorum per annum reddendorum ad duos
terminos anni Scilicet ad Nativitatem Domini
duos denarios et ad Pascham duos denarios per
annum pro omnibua . . et exactione et
preterea predictus Thomas dedit eidem Mabilie
viginti octo solidos et octo denarios.

No. 3.

Deed of Gift of Hugh de Gournay, of Letton,
to Lewes Priory.

Sciant presentes et futuri quod ego Hugo
de Gurnay de Lectona dedi et concessi et hac
presenti carta mea confirmavi Deo et ecclesie
Sancti Pancratii de Lewes in puram et per-
petuam elemosinam totum tenementum quod de

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY,

[pART 11

me tenuit Matildis filia Aliz, in Lectune, quod
reddit decem et octo denarios ad tres terminos
Scilicet ad Penthecosten vi denarios, ad festum
Sancti Michaelis vj denarios, et ad purifica-
tionem vj denarios, et volo quod respondeat de
eodem tenemento dictis monachis sicut mihi
solebat respondere. Hoc est autem tenementum,
scilicet, dimidium acre terre que abuttat super
terram Philippi filii Johannis, et jacet inter
terram Lewiue filii Hugonis et terram Willelmi
filii Herberti; et dimidium acre super Wronge-
land que jacet inter terram Matildis sororis
Lewine et terram Willelmi Reyn, et una roda
et dimidium terre jacentes inter terram Gilberti
Manthe et terram ecclesie; et dimidium acre in
Sudfeld inter terram Walteri filii Johannis et
viam, et abuttat super terram ecclesie quam
Elfilda vidua tenet; et una roda in Sudfeld que
jacet inter terram Johannis Barkere et terram
Roberti Oldham ; et una roda que jacet inter
terram Simonis Pistoris et terram ecclesie; et
una roda et dimidium inter terram Ricardi filii
Radulfi et terram Godwini Rauen in Humeles-
croft; et una acra de plus super Cranewrde-
feld inter terram Radulfi filii Hugonis et terram
Henrici fili Martini; et una roda que jacet
inter terram Aguetis Megre et terram Philippi
filii Johannis; et dimidium acre inter terram
Osberti fabri et terram Roberti Oldham. Et
ego et heredes mei Warantizabimus predictis
monachis predictum tenementum contra omnes
homines. Et ut hec mea donatio et concessio
rata sit et firma hoc seriptum sigilli mei muni-
mine corroboravi. His testibus, Alexandro de
Alenzun, Rogero de Rising, Willelmo de Kayli,
Hugone filio Petri, Waltero de Etune, Waltero
de Kayli, Briano filio Petri, Willelmo filio
Hugonis, Radulpho de Lectune, et aliis.*

* Mus. Brit. Bib. Cotton. Vespas. F. xv. fol. 268.
Regist. Chart. Monasterii de Lewes.
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APPENDIX LV.

THE PEDIGREE OF GURNEY, FROM SPELMAN MSS.

The following pedigree was transcribed by
Sir Henry Spelman, from one given him by
Francis Gurnay in 1639 ; it is amongst the
Spelman manuscripts collected by Dr. Macro,
and which are now in the possession of Hudson
Gurney, Esq. This Francis Gurney, from
whom Sir Henry Spelman received this docu-
ment, was probably the fifth son of Henry
Gurney, Esq. of West Barsham, and a mer-
chant in London. (See Part III. of this Record.)
This pedigree is compiled from original deeds, at
that time in the possession of the family, which

are now lost, and is therefore of much value; it is,
however, incorrect in several respects, and gives
no account of younger children.

Matthew de Gournay is the first of the race
mentioned in it, as he may be said to have
founded this branch of the family, by his mar-
riage with Rose de Burnham ; the plea given
in Appendix LIII. No. 2, proves him to have
been the son of William de Gournay, and the
extract from the Liber Niger, given at page 288,
proves that William was the son of Walter de
Gournay.

PEDIGREE.

Matthew de Gurnay mar-
ried the daughter of Reig-
nold Fitzffillip, as by the
deed of William Fitzffillip,

_and of Hameline Earl War-
ren, by whom he had the
manor of Harplie, in the 30th
year of Hen. IL. as by a fyne
levied to the sayd Mathew
and Rose his wyfe in the
Exchequer, coram Joh’e Ep'o
Norwic’, Adam de Glande-
ville, Justic’ dom’ Reg’ qui
ibi tunc aderunt, inter Ma-
theum de Gurnay et Rosam

MATHEW
DE GOURNAY.

An®. Hen. II.

uxorem et Philip’ de Burn- |
ham vel Burham, &c. The |
seale of the earle, a man at i
arms in an ovalle round, with
a circumscription decayed.
The seale of Ffitz- Philip like
the said Earle’s, saving it was
not altogether so large, and
in a perfite round, with a
superscription likewise de-
cayed.

The sayd Mathew had
issue William, who had issue
John.
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WiLLIAM
GURNAY,

\

N

MATTHEW DE GOURNAY.

John Gurnaye recovered
by combatte from the Prior
of Lewes the advowson of
the benefice of Harplie;
whereof his ancestor was
seized in the reign of Henry
IL. placit. in banco, Term.
Pasch. anno 8 Ed. I. Norf.
Rot. 81. The sayd John,
myles, granted a bondsman
in Thurston and his issue for
16 markes, without date, as I
think all
seals before the time of Ed.
the first; the seale utterlie
decayed ; he had issue Wil-
liam.

William de Gurnaye, miles,
granted land in Thuxton for
homage and service, lykewise
without date; yet I think in
the reign of Henry III. His
seale a man at armes like the
earle Warren’s in a round, in
diameter about an inch and
8 grs. with circumscription
of his very seal, w'ch seale
he also gave before he was a
knight. The said William
(miles) made a grant to John
his brother, parson of Harp-
lie, of the manor of Harplie
and other manors, neither
lying within ten miles of
other, for quater viginti
marcs, to be paid quarterlie,
vigin, libras. His seale in
an ovalle uppon a scutcheon,
a cross engrailed playnly ex-
tant, dated an. 22 Ed. primi,

whichis the first scutcheon or
armes with any of the nyne
honors ; but have often seen
beasts and fowles given in
seales, but never in a scut-
cheon but round. This
William had issue Edmund.

Edmond Gurnay married
the daughter and heir of
William Wancy, chevallor,
who granted to them boath,
and their heirs, a present
yearlye, and all rents of cent
marcs, to be levied out of
his manors of West Bar-
sham and Denvor, and his
land and tenement in West
Barsham and Pulam, with a
clause of distresse in any
part of eych, for default of
payment, a°. Ed. 81. The
sayd deed of Wauncy sealed
with a splayed faulcon. The
sayd Edinund Gurnay made
lease of a and a
croft in West Barsham for
180 years, dated a°. 41
Ed. TIL. ; his seale the cross
engrailed. He had issue
John.

John Gurnay married the
daughter of Jernegan; left
no issue. He was twyce
shrieve of Norfolk and Suf-
folk, and once Knt. of the
shier in the raignof Hen.IV.
as apeareth by his accounts
and their evidence; he was
alsoe embassador to Richard
I1. into France, as appeareth

[PART 11.

Epxunp

GURNAYE,
1328.
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by the seale of the same
kinge. His seale a cross
engrailed, as by his will in
frenche appears. His suc-
cessor was his brother’s son,
Thomas.

Thomas Gurnaye married
with Kervile, who gave his
seale, the cross engrailed
with a helmet and crest,
w'ch (as is supposed) is a
gurnard bytinge on the hel-
met, his tayle upward, w’ch
I think hearaulds term it
hauriant. This Thomas had
issue William.

William Gurnaye mar-
ried the daughter of Wil-
liam Calthorpe, Knt. his
only daughter, which he had
by the dr. of the Lord Graye
of Ruthen, as in the Cal-
thorpe’s pedigree is to be
seen. His seale some time
a wrastlynge collar * in an
inamilded ringe. His issue
William. Also of this Wil-
liam is descended Walter
Gurnaye, of Cawston.

This William (son of the
above sayd) had married
with the daughter of Sir
John Heydon, Knt. who had
the manor of Irsted in con-

sideration. He died before
his father, and left issue
Anthonie.

¢ Ring seals were common at this period. William
Gurney's seal, with the wrestling collar, as a badge or
devics, in his ring of enamel, must have been in posses-
sion of the family when Francis Gurnay gave this pedi-
gree to Sir Henry Spelman in 1639,

SIR H, SPELMAN’S PEDIGREE OF GURNAY.
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Anthonie Gurnaye mar-
ried with one of the coheirs
of Sir Robert Lovell; the
Lord Husse's eldest son,

Bilsby of Lincolnshire, and ANTHONIE
GURNEY,

Fitz Lewes of Essex, of Hen. VIII.

whome is descended the Lord

Mordaunt, marrying the

other coheirs. This Antho-
nie had issue Francis, and
one daughter named Eliza-
beth, who married Richard
Stubbs, of Sedgeford, in
Norfolk, Esq.

Francis Gurnaye married
the daughter of
Houlditch ; he dyed before
his father, and left issue
Henry and Elizabeth.

Henry Gurnay married
with Blennerhasset of Suf-
folk, his eldest daughter by
the second coheir of Sir Ed-

ward Itchingham ; Sir Owen HExgyY

Hopton marrying the other, GE’;‘Y’

from whome be descended

the Lord Wentworth and

Lord Shandoyse. Henry ‘

had issue Thomas. |
Thomas Gurnaye mar-

ried with Lewknor of Den- Trouas

ham in Suffolk, his. eldest GURNAY.

daughter that ever had child.
Edward the eldest and Tho-
mas the youngest.

All these matches, except the last, are to be
seene in colours in the Halle of Sir Henry
Gawdy’s house, w'ch sometyme was the Gur-
nay's house.

Recepta Fran. Gurnay, et transcript. 10 June,
16389.
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At Walsingham abbey, the seat of the Rev. D. H. Lee Warner, are the remains of an armorial
pedigree of the Gurneys in stained glass. This coincides almost entirely with the one in the
Spelman MSS. and I therefore insert it here. It seems likely that it came originally from West
Barsham Hall ; eight out of nineteen of these shields remain.
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The Shield No. 19 contains all the quarterings of the Wesp Barsham Gurneys, as follows :
1. Gurney ; 2. De Burnham, or Warren, with a difference ; 3. Baconsthorpe ; 4. Wauncy ;
5. Lovell; 6. Conyers; 7. Fitzralf; 8. Mortimer, of Attleborough.
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WILLIAM DE GOURNAY IIL

Tr1s William de Gournay was son and heir of Matthew de Gournay and
Rose de Burnham.®

To him Sir William de Calthorpe and Cecilia his wife (who was heiress
of the elder branch of the family of De Burnham) are said to have granted
their right of patronage to the church of Harpley.® He is styled Dominus
Willelmus de Gurney, as witness to a deed of Geoffry de Heckham, or
Heacham, conveying lands to the priory of Lewes ; from which we conclude
he was a knight. (Appendix LVI. No. 1).

In the 18th of Henry IIL. (1234), a fine was levied between Roger de
Thurston, querent, and William de Gurney, respecting the birthright (nati-
vitas) of the said Roger, whereby William remitted, and quitted claim for
himself and heirs to the said Roger, and his heirs, of all right by birth and
servitude for ever. And Roger gave to the said William, for this remission,
ten marks of silver.

The word “ nativitas” in this fine is intended to mean the condition of a
nativus, a serf, or villein. The nativus was one born in that condition.
The deed is highly curious, as being the deed of purchase of his liberty by
a serf from a superior lord. (Appendix LVI. No. 2.)

In the 27th of Henry III. (1243), a fine was levied between this William
de Gurney and Katharine his wife, querents, and Thomas de Ingoldesthorpe,
of forty acres of marsh land in North Wootton, which they acknowledged to
be the right of the said Thomas, who for that agreement gave them forty
solidi sterling. (Appendix LVI. No. 3.)

By this it appears William de Gurney married Katharine; and by the
wording of the fine she was probably of the family of Ingoldesthorpe.

* Spelman MSS. Gurney Pedigree. Norris MSS. Harl. MSS. 970.
" Blomefield in Harpley.
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The name of “ Willelmo de Gurney” occurs among the witnesses to a
deed of Walter de Clifford, son of Walter de Clifford and Agnes de Cundi,
giving lands to the abbey of Dore, in Herefordshire.*

By Katharine his wife, William de Gournay II. left John de Gournay his

son and heir.

* Dugdale’s Monasticon, new edit. vol. v. page 555.

2vu
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WILLIAM DE GOURNAY II.

[PART 11

APPENDIX LVI.

DOCUMENTS RELATING TO WILLIAM DE GOURNAY II.

No. 1.

Deed of Gift of Geoffrey de Hecham of land
in Hecham to the Priory of Lewes, wit-
nessed by William de Gurney, Knight.

Sciant presentes et futuri quod.ego Magister
Galfridus de Hecham filius Reginaldi de
Hecham dedi et concessi et in perpetuum qui-
etum clamavi de me et heredibus meis Deo et
ecclesie Sancti Pancratii de Lewes et monachis
ibidem Deo servientibus totam terram illam
que vocatur Tenattis cum pertinentiis suis
quam ego Galfridus quondam tenui in Hecham
jacentem inter terram Petri Stein versus occi-
dentem et terram Roberti filii Ricardi ad por-
tam ecclesie versus orientem habendam et
tenendam sibi et successoribus suis in puram
liberam et perpetuam elemosinam de me et he-
redibus meis in perpetuum. Et ego dictus
Galfridus et heredes mei totam predictam ter-
ram cum pertinentiis suis ut prenominatum est
dictis monachis de Lewes et eorum successori-
bus contra omnes homines et feminas in perpe-
tuum Warantizabimus defendemus et acquieta-
bimus. Et ut hsec mea donatio et concessio in
perpetuum, quieta clamancia de me et heredibus
meis rata et firna in perpetuum permaneat, huic
scripto sigillum meum apposui. His testibus:
Domino Willelmo Rustein, Domino Willelmo
de Gurney, Domino Andrea de Sarnebrunme,
Domino Ada de Birlingham, Domino Herberto
de Burghes, Willelmo de Hakeford, Albino

de Secheford, Roberto filio Willelmi de Seche-
ford, Roberto filio Ricardi de Snedisham, Ri-
cardo Wilechein de p’ua Rising, Hugone filio
Petri de Hecham, Willelmo Tutbein, Galfrido
Baret, et multis aliis.*

No. 2.

Fine by which Roger de Thurston, a nativus
or serf, was liberated by William de Gour-
nay from his condition of serf; for the con-
sideration of ten marks of silver, a° 1234,
Inter Recorda in Thesaurario Curie Re-

cepte Scaccarii- Asservata, viz. in Bundello

Finium indorsato Norf. Hen. III. continetur ut

sequitur.

Hec est finalis concordia facta in curia Do-
mini Regis apud Norwicum die Jovis proxima
octavis Sancti Michaelis anno regni Regis Hen-
rici filii Regis Johannis octavo decimo, coram
Thoma de Mulet, Roberto de Lexinton, Olivero
de Vallibus, Ada filio Willelmi et Roberto de
Bello Campo, Justiciariis itinerantibus, et aliis
Domini Regis fidelibus tunc ibi presentibus,
inter Rogerum de Tureston querentem et Wil-
lelmum de Gurney de Nativitate ipsius Rogeri
unde placitum fuit inter eos in eadem curia,
scilicet quod predictus Willelmus remisit et qui-
etum clamavit de se et heredibus suis in perpe-
tuum ipsum Rogerum et heredes suos ab om-

* Mus, Brit. Bibl - Cotton. MSS. Vespas. F. xv.

fol. 228. Regist. Cartar. Monast. de Lewes. In Co-
mitatu Norff.
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nimodo nativitate et servitute in perpetuum.
Et pro hac remissione quieta clamancia fine et
concordia idem Rogerus dedit predicto Wil-
lelmo decem marcas argenti.

The nativus was the son of a villein or serf—
one born in that condition. The villeins under
the feudal system, and before that under the
Saxons, were either regardant, i. e. annexed
to the manor or land, or in gross or at large,
i. e. annexed to the person of the lord, and
transferable by deed from one lord to another.
Lands held in villenage were called folk-land,
and the services due to the lord from the
tenants were of the meanest sort. Villeins
might be enfranchised by manumission ; by deed,
as in the instance of Roger de Thurston by
William de Gournay ; or by implication, where
alord was bound to a villein by bond for a
sum of money or annuity, which was placing
the villein on the footing of a freeman. Many
lords of manors having time out of mind
allowed their villeins and their children to enjoy
the folk-land, without interruption, in a regular
course of descent, and for certain services, is
supposed to have originated the copyhold
tenure, the services being eventually commuted
for a money payment.*

A family of the name of De Thurston held
land at Thurston under the Gurneys atan early
period : whether the descendants of this villein,
Roger de Thurston, does not appear.t

So late as the year 1514 Henry VIIL en-
franchised two slaves belonging to one of his
manors;} and in 1574 there was a commission

* Blackstone, vol. ii. p. 91.
Domesday, vol. i. p. 74.

+ Blomefleld in Thurston, vol. x. p. 252.

% Rymer's Foedera, vol. xiii. p. 470.

Ellis’s Introduction to

VILLEIN TENURE.
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from Queen Elizabeth to manumit many vil-
leins belonging to the queen in some counties. §

No. 3.

Fine between Thomas de Ingoldesthorpe and
William de Gurnay and Katharine his
wife, concerning lands in North Wootton.

Inter Recorda in Thesaurario Curie Re-
cepte Scaccarii Asservata in Bundella Finium
indorsata Fines Norf’. ab anno 21 ad 41
Henr. III. continetur ut sequitur.

Hac est finalis concordia facta in Curia Do-
mini Regis apud Westmonasterium a die Pas-
che in unam mensem anno regni Regis Hen-
rici filii Regis Johannis vicesimo septimo coram
Roberto de Lexinton, Rogero de Thurkelby,
Jollano de Nevill et Gilberto de, Preston, Jus-
ticiariis et aliis domini Regis fidelibus tunc ibi
presentibus, inter Thomam de Ingaldestorp pe-
tentem et Willelmum de Gurnay et Katerinam
uxorem ejus tenentes, de quadraginta acris Ma-
risci cum pertinentiis in North Wootton, unde
placitum fuit inter eos in eadem Curia ; scilicet
quod predicti Willelmus et Katarina recogno-
verunt predictum Mariscum cum pertinentiis
esse jus ipsius Thome, et illi ea reddiderunt in
eadem Curia, et rem et quietclam de se et here-
dibus ipsius Katarine eidem Thome, et here-
dibus suis in perpetuum. Et pro hac recog-
nitione, redditu, re, quietclam, fine et concordia
idem Thomas dedit predictis Willelmo et Kata-
rine quadraginta solidos sterlingorum.

From the circumstance that William de Gour-
nay and Katharine quit-claimed to Thomas de
Ingoldesthorpe these lands in North Wootton,
for themselves and the heirs of the said Ka-

§ Rymer's Federa, vol. xv. p. 731.
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tharine, I think it likely she was of the family
of Ingoldesthorpe. Thomas de Ingoldesthorpe
was sheriff of Norfolk the 8th and 21st of
Henry III.—probably the same person men-
tioned in the fine. The Ingoldesthorpes were a
distinguished family, who continued to hold con-
siderable estates in Norfolk for two or three
centuries. The Jerninghams married one of
the coheirs of this family. The Ingoldesthorpes
bore for arms the same coat as the Gurneys,

WILLIAM DE GOURNAY II.

[PART 11.

AAAAA

with the colours reversed, viz. Gules, a cross
ingrailed argent.
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JOHN DE GOURNAY I

JonN DR GOURNEY I. was a distinguished warrior in the reigns of
Henry III. and Edward I., and son and heir of Sir William de Gournay,
Knight.

In the 29th Henry III. (1245) Simon de Crepping and Maude his wife
conveyed by fine to John de Gourney the manor of Swathing, and John
regranted it to Maude for life.*

The 41st Henry III. (1257) he was presented by the jury of the hun-
dred of Mitford for having an entire knight’s fee, and not being knighted.®
This arose from the military tenure of the feudal system, by which every
one who held a knight's fee was obliged to be knighted, and attend the
king in his wars, or was fined for non-compliance. (Appendix LVII.)

But John de Gournay was afterwards knighted, as appears in the Spel-
man Manuscripts (Appendix LV.), where it is mentioned that in Sir Henry
Spelman’s time a deed of his existed, by which he, Sir John de Gournay,
Knight, sold a nativus or bondsman in Thurston, with his issue, for sixteen
marks, or £5. 6s. 8d. sterling ;© this must have been the case of a villein in
gross, or transferable by deed from one lord to another.

In the wars between Henry III. and his barons, Sir John de Gournay
sided with the latter. He attached himself to Henry Lord Hastings, who
had estates in Norfolk, and was with him at the battle of Lewes in Sussex
in 1264 ; his estate was seized by the Earl Warren, his superior lord, in
1265, as a rebel against Henry III. ; but he was afterwards pardoned, and
the estate restored.d

3 Blomefield in Cranworth.

> Norris MSS. Tunstead hundred, p. 54.

¢ Sir H. Spelman’s words are, ¢ As the said John Miles granted a bondsman in Thurston, and
his issue, for 16 marks, without date; seals before the time of Edward I. The seal utterly
decayed.”

d Blomefield in Harpley. Norris MSS. Rot. de Rebel. 49 Hen. III. in Turre Lond.
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In the 49 Henry III. (1265) John de Bolemer was attached to answer
to Alice de Balesham for seizing her chattels or stock at Wootton, viz. :
3 horses, worth 30 shillings ; 4 oxen, worth 48 shillings ; 14 cows, worth
5 pounds; 3 calves, worth 1 shilling ; and 171 sheep, worth 2] marks and
5 shillings ;—to which he answered that he came to the manor of a certain
John de Gourney at South Wootton,* and the said John de Gourney was
at the battle of Lewes against the King, and that after the battle of
Evesham he came and seized that manor, as of an enemy of our Lord the
King; and that he gave in an inventory of what he took, and prays judg-
ment if he is subject to answer for spoil taken from the King’s enemies in
war . . . . . Order to the sheriff to impanel 12 knights to inquire, &ec.

John de Bolemar was successful in this suit, as his family possessed the
manor of South Wootton for some generations, and it was from this time
lost to the Gournays. (Appendix LVIII. No. 1.)

FONT AT SOUTH WOOTTON.

* The lords of the manors of North and South Wootton, Hunstanton, and Roydon, were by
their tenures obliged to guard and defend the four towers of Castle Rising Castle;* one of
these towers was called Wodehouse Tower, doubtless from that family having held the manor
of Roydon. Sir John de Gourney must have held this manor of South Wootton of the lord
Montalt, his superior lord, who owned the honour of Castle Rising at this period, and upon the
tenure of defending one of the towers. John Lord Montalt had at this time married Millicent
Cantilupe, daughter of William de Cantilupe, who was son of Hugh de Gournay’s daughter.
Henry, son of Henry Lord Hastings, married Joan, the other daughter of William de Cantilupe.t
Perhaps the Lord Montalt subenfeoffed John de Gournay of the manor of South Wootton in
consequence of this relationship between them.

* Blomefield in Rising. + Dugdale's Baronage.
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The 52nd of the same king (1268) Willelmus de Swathing held of John

de Gourney a messuage, 54 acres of land, and 3 of wood, in Hardingham
and Remerston; with free grinding without toll at John’s mill, called
Raven’s Holm (as he and his ancestors before had at Little Mill), whilst
Little Mill was repaired ; and if they should be both out of repair that they
could grind at neither, then John to pay 6 shillings and 5 pence per annum,
till they could grind. John likewise granted to William de Swathing and
his heirs, a free bull, and a free ram, with a free fold-course, and common
of pasture over all his lands for his cattle, tempore aperto, as his ancestors
had ; William releasing to John two acres of land called Schinnerslond.
(Appendix LVIII. No. 2.)
. This John de Gourney appears to have been a knight of great military
renown ; he accompanied Edward, afterwards Edward I. to the Holy Land
in 1270, as his name is amongst those to whom letters of protection were
issued on that occasion, tested at Westminster.*

g His arms are given in an ancient cotemporary roll,

published in Hearne's Lelandi Collectanea, vol. ii.
p. 613: “ John de Gurney d’argent a une croyze de
goules engrale.”

This John de Gourney,’ the grandchild to Matthew,
confirmed to the church at Hardinghame the tithes
which his “ grandfather ” Matthew had before given.

John de Gournay L., in the 3rd Edward I., in Easter
term, recovered against the prior of Lewes the advowson of the church of
Harpley, who claimed it as the grant formerly of the Earl Warren; but
it appeared on trial at the king’s bench, that John Le Coward, the cham-
pion of Matthew de Gournay, gained it by combat of the prior in the reign
of Henry III.¢

In the 4th Edward I., 1276, William Calthorpe and Cecily his wife

a Excerpta Historica, p. 272. b Harl. MSS. 970, p. 48.
- Hardingham formed part of the manor of Swathings, so long held by this branch of the
_ Gournays.

d Blomefield in Harpley, and Norris MSS.
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demanded against him, by the name of John the son of William de Gour-
ney, the advowson of the church of Harpley, as the right of the said Cecily,
whose ancestor had been sole seized thereof.®

This Sir John de Gournay was performing military service due from
William Bardolf (who had married the heiress of Hugh de Gournay VI.)
in 1277 : muster at Worcester in eight days of St. John Baptist’s day,
Ist Julyb The other knights associated with him in this service for
William Bardolf were Roger de Colvill and Gui de Botetourt, who, as well
as John de Gournay, probably both held lands under him.

This muster of forces at Worcester was on the occasion of Edward I.’s
successful expedition against the Welsh, who had rebelled after the con-
quest of that province. This is the last notice we find of John de Gurnay.

He left William, his son and heir, and a second son, John, afterwards
rector of Harpley ; of both of whom hereafter.

Cotemporary with this John de Gourney was Matthew de Gourney and
Hawise his wife, tenentes, between whom and John de Curzon and Idonia
his wife, querentes, a fine was levied of lands in Dunston, the right of
John and Idonia, in 1251.¢

* Blomefield in Harpley, and Norris MSS.
> Parliamentary Writs, vol. i. p. 201 and 651.
¢ Norff. Rot. 41 Henry III. Norris MSS. Tunstead, page 51.
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APPENDIX LVIL

ON THE KNIGHT'S FEE.

Upon the Norman Conquest the feudal law
was introduced into England in all its rigour,
the whole of which system was raised on a
military plan. In consequence thereof all the
lands in the kingdom were divided into what
are called knight’s fees, in number about sixty
thousand ; and for every knight's fee, a knight
or soldier, miles, was bound to attend the king
in his wars for forty days in a year, in which
space of time, before war was reduced to a
science, the campaign was generally finished ;
and, accordingly, we find one among the laws
of William the Conqueror which enjoins:
¢ Quod habeant et teneant se semper in armis
et equis ut decet et oportet, et quod semper
sint prompti et parati ad servitium suum inte-
grum nobis explendum et peragendum cum
opus adfuerit secundum quod debent de feodis
et tenementis suis de jure nobis facere.”

This personal service, in process of time, de-
generated into pecuniary compensations or aids ;
and at last the military part of the feudal sys-
tem was abolished at the Restoration, by stat.
12 Charles II. chap. 24.*

One condition of the tenure by which these
milites held, was, that every one who held a
knight's fee, which in the time of Henry II
amounted to £20 a year, was obliged to be
knighted and attend the king in his wars, or
was fined for his non-compliance. The exer-
tion of this prerogative in the reign of Charles I.

® Blackstone’s Commentaries, book i. chap. 13.

gave great offence, though warranted by law,
and the recent example of Queen Elizabeth.t

The quantity of land rated as a knight’s fee
appears to have varied, according to the quality
of the soil, from five hundred to twelve hun-
dred acres. Mr. Norris has entered at great
length into this subject ; from an accurate ex-
amination of Domesday Book he considers that
in Norfolk the average quantity of land in a
knight’s fee was about 480 acres, according to
the subjoined table.

1 | Feodum Militis,

4 1 | Carucata sive Hida.

Virgata.
1 | Fardella.

7}|1

16 4' 1

64 16| 4

480 Acra.

120 | 30

The tenants n capite of the crown furnished
the milites to the king according to the numdser
of knight’s fees they held, and the subinfeudati
to their lords, the tenants in capite. We have
entered into this explanation of the law of
knight's service, as we presume this John de
Gourney was presented by the jury of Mitford
for the purpose of exacting the fine to which
he was amenable for holding a knight's fee
without having been knighted. ,

+ Blackstone’s Comment. book i. chap. 13, in Equi-
tes aurati.
1 Norris MSS, vol. on Domesday.

2x
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APPENDIX LVIIIL

No. 1.

Plea between John de Bolemar and Alice de
Balesham, respecting her cattle at South
Wootton, and John de Gournay’s manor
there. A°. 1265.

Johannes de Bolemer attachiatus ad respon-
dendum Alicie de Balesham de placito quare
ipsam bonis et catallis suis apud Wootton de-
predatus est. Et unde queritur quod cepit
averia * ipsius Alicie in villa de Wootton,
scilicet tres equos pretii triginta solidis, iv boves
pretii xlviii solidis, xiv vaccas pretii quinque
libris, tres bovettos pretii solido, octies viginti
et undecim oves pretii xxi marcis et v solidis.

Et Johannes venit et defendit quod non
cepit averia ejusdem Alicie nec illa abduxit,
sed revera dicit quod ipse venit ad manerium
cujusdem Johannis de Gurney in South Woot-
ton, et quia idem Johannes fuit in conflictu de
Lewes, contra dominum Regem et alibi post
eundem conflictum, venit ipse ad manerium pre-
distum post bellum de Evesham et seisivit ma-
nerium illum in manum suam tanquam super
inimicum Domini Regis. Et dicit quod post
bellum de Evesham per provisionem Curie
Domini Regis reddidit Domino Regi seisinam
ejusdem manerii salvis sibi catallis in eodem
manerio inventis, et petit judicium si de aliqui-
bus catallis captis super inimicum Domini Regis
tempore guerre debeat ei respondere.

Preceptum fuit vicecomiti quod coram eo in
pleno comitatu venire faciat xii tam milites, &c.

* Stock, or cattle.

per quos, &c. Et per sacramentum eorum dili-
genter inquireret si predicta Alicia fuit in sei-
sina de predicto manerio, &c.t

The above plea is curious, from giving
the quantity of stock or cattle on the manor
of South Wootton at this early period, and their
value.

No. 2.

Fine between John de Gurney and William
de Swathing, of lands in Hardingham and
Reymerston. Anno 1268,

Hamc est finalis concordia facta in Curia Do-
mini Regis apud Norwicum in crastino Sancti
Michaelis anno regni Regis Henrici filii Regis
Johannis quinquagesimo secundo coram Ni-
chola de Turri, Henrico de Monteforti de Far-
legh magno, Ricardo de Stanes et Henrico de
Wollaunton, Justiciariis Itinerantibus, et aliis
Domini Regis fidelibus tunc ibi presentibus,
inter Johannem de Gurney petentem et Willel-
mum de Swathing tenentem, de uno messuagio,
quinquaginta et quatuor acris terre et tribus
acris bosci cum pertinentiis in Hardingham et
Reymerston, unde recognitio magme assise
summonita fuit inter eos in eadem curia.
Scilicet quod predictus Johannes recognovit
predictum messuagium, terram et boscum cum
pertinentiis, exceptis duabus acris terre de
eadem terra, esse jus ipsius Willelmi habenda
et tenenda eidem Willelmo et heredibus suis
de predicto Johanne et heredibus suis in per-
petuum, Reddendo inde per annum duodecim

+ Abbrev, Plac, p. 158. (49 Hen, IIL.) Norf.



APP. LVII!.J FINE BETWEEN GURNEY AND DE SWATHING.

solidos et decem denarios ad quatuor terminos ;
scilicet ad festum Sancti Michaelis tres solidos
duos denarios et obulum, ad natale Domini tres
solidos duos deuarios et obulum, ad Pascham
tres solidos duos denarios et obulum, et ad
nativitatem Sancti Johannis Baptiste tres
solidos duos denarios et obulum, pro omni
servitio, consuetudine, et exactione. Et pre-
dictus Johannes et heredes sui warrantibunt,
agent, et defendent eidem Willelmo et heredibus
suis predictum messuagium, terram et boscum
cum pertinentiis pro predicto servitio contra
omnes homines in perpetuum. Et preterea
idem Johannes concessit pro se et heredibus
suis quod predictus Willelmus et heredes sui
de cetero habeant liberam multuram suam
molendini . . . . Johannis et heredum
suorum de Ravensholm ad omnia blada sua
sine tolneto inde percipiendam sicut prius habere
consuevit in molendino ipsius Johannis quod
vocatur Lytlemilne donec idem molendinum de
Litlemilne reparetur. Ita quod idem Willelmus
et heredes sui competenter ibidem et libere mo-
lere possint omnia blada sua sine tolneto sicut
predictum est, et sicut antecessores sui et ipse
Willelmus ibidem molere consueverunt. Et
similiter concessit pro se et heredibus suis quod
si predictum molendinum de Ravenesholm,
processu temporis, ita decidat, quod pre-
dictus Willelmus et heredes sui liberam et
competentem multuram suam ibidem habere
non pogsunt, nec in predicto molendino quod
vocatur Litlemilne, cum necesse habuerint,
extunc remittentur eidem Willelmo et heredibus
suis sex solidi et quinque denarii per annum
de predicto reddita duodecim solidorum et
decem—scilicet ad quemlibet predictorum ter-
minorum viginti denarii et obulum donec
unum predictorum molendinorum competenter
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fuit reparatum. Ita quod predictus Willelmus
vel heredes sui ibidem molere possint sicut pre-
dictum est in perpetuum. Et preterea idem
Johannes concessit pro se et heredibus suis pre-
dicto Willelmo et heredibus suis unum liberum*
taurum, et unum verrem liberum, ubicunque
in terris ipsius Johannis in predictis villis, et
liberam faldam 4 suam in terris ipsius Willelmi
predicti cum sufficienti ingressu et egressu ad
pasturam suam ubicunque in terris predictis
predicti Johannis et heredum suorum, ad omnia
averia ipsius Willelmi et heredum suorum, toto
tempore aperto, sicut ipse prius habere consuevit
in eadem villa, sine contradictione vel impedi-
mento ipsins Johannis et heredum suorum in
perpetuum. Et pro hac recognitione, warranto,
aquietancia, defensione, concessione, fine et con-
cordia, idem Willelmus recognovit predictas
duas acras de predicta terra scilicet illas duas
acras terre que vocantur Schinnereslond esse
jus ipsius Johannis et illas ei reddidit in eadem
curia, remissionem et quiet’clam de se et heredi-
bus suis predicto Johanni et heredibus suis in
perpetuum. Et preterea idem Willelmus dedit
predicto Johanni quinque marcas argenti.

* The liber taurus and liber verres were kept by the
lord for the tenants® use, free of expense.

+ The libera falda was the right of folding sheep,
which was originally confined to the lord of a manor,
who folded his tenants’ sheep upon his demesne lands
for the sake of manure; this feudal right was retained in
Norfolk, Suffolk, and Cambridgeshire, as being for the
most part sheep walks, at the time Sir H. Spelman wrote
his Glossary : see under the word faldagium in that work.
The tempus apertum was the winter half of the year,
when the open fleld lands, which were private during
the summer months when the crops were upon them,
became the common pasture for the stock (averia) of the
parish : this system of what is called half-year lands still
prevails in many places.
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No. 8.

The following Deeds in favour of the Abbey
of Marham are witnessed by John de
Gournay.

Noverint universi, &c. Rogerius Prior* ec-
clesie beate Marie de Wymundham et ¢jusdem
loci conventiis concessimus et presenti cartd
nostrd confirmavimus Marie+ Abbatisse de
Marham et ejusdem loci conventui unum Mes -
suagium in villa de Forhowe Carlton quod
vocat Saltacre, &c. Hiis testibus, Domino An-
drea de Hengham, Domino Thoma de Hel-
thon, Domino Willelmo de Brom, Domino
Rogero de Toftys, Domino Johanne de Gur-

* Roger, prior of Wymondham before 1286.
+ Maris, first abbess of Marham.

JOHN DE GOURNAY I.

[PART 1I.

ney, Domino Huberto Hakun, Ricardo filio
suo et aliis. §
No. 4.

Bciant presentes, &c. Ego Thomas de Dun-
ham concessi dedi et hac presenti cartdi med
confirmavi Domine Marie Abbatisse de Mar-
ham et monialibus ejusdem, &c. duo Messuagia,
unam acram prati et triginta quatuor acras
terre arabilis quas habui in villa de Wymund-
ham, &c. Hiis testibus, Domino Roberto de
Morley, Domino Andrea de Hengham, Domino
Willielmo de Brom, Domino Johanne de Gur-
ney, Domino Huberto Hakon, Ricardo filio
suo, Johanne de Gelham, Nicholao de Karlton
et aliis. §

t From the Register of Marham Abbey, page 68,

penes Sir Thomas Hare, Bart.
§ Ibid. page 69.
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Was son and heir of the last-mentioned Sir John, and granted land in
Thurston, for homage and service, by deed without date; Sir Henry Spel-
man thinks in the reign of Henry III. * His seal, a man-at-arms, like the
Earl Warren’s, in a round about one and a quarter inch in diameter, with
circumscription of ¢ His very seal,” which seal he also gave before he was
knight.”*

This deed, mentioned by Spelman, is probably the same of which a copy
is preserved in the cartulary of Walsingham priory (Cotton, Nero E. viI.
fol. 115), in which William de Gurney confirms to that priory the homage
of William Catteston, and a tenement in Runhall and Thurston, which had
been previously given by him to Roland the son of John Del Frith, and
which the said Roland had given to the priory of Walsingham. (Appendix
LIX.)

This donation appears to have been made whilst William was prior of
Walsingham, who apparently presided over the priory from 1276 to 1290.

In the 14th Edward I. (1286), William de Calthorpe and Cecily his wife
brought a precipe and demanded the church at Harpley before the justices
itinerant, and thereupon a fine was levied thereof before the said justices,
whereby William de Calthorpe and Cecily his wife acknowledged the same
to be the right of the said William, son of John de Gourney, and of his
heirs for ever. (Placitum de juratis et assisis coram Solomone de Roff. et
sociis apud Norwicum in octavis Sancti Hilarii, 14 Edward I. Rotulus 12, -
dorso, M.S. Le Neve, No. 8, page 3.%)

In the 15th Edward 1. (1287), William de Gournay claimed free warren
in Gurney’s manor in Hardingham.*

& Spelman MSS. ; Gurnay Pedigree, App. LV.
» Norris MSS. Tunstead hundred, p. 54.
¢ Blomefield, in Hardingham.
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He married Catharine, who, it seems likely, was daughter of Edmund
Baconsthorpe, and had issue three sons, John, William, and Edmund.* (Ap-
pendix LX)

This William de Gournay, knight (miles), made a grant, dated the 22d
Edward I. (1294), to John his brother, parson of Harpley, of the manor of
Harpley and other manors, neither lying within ten miles of the other, for
“ quatuor viginti marcas,” i. e. eighty marks, to be paid quarterly, ¢ vi-
ginti libras.” His seal, in an oval, a cross engrailed plainly extant. This,
Sir Henry Spelman says, ¢ is the first scutcheon, or arms, with any of the
nine honours I have seen ; but have often seen beasts and fowls given in
seals, but never in a scutcheon, but round.” (Appendix LXI.)

What the motive of this sale of his estates by William de Gurnay to his
brother for an annuity might be, I have not discovered. Palestine was lost
to the Christians before the year 1294 ; therefore it could not have been
for the purpose of visiting the Holy Land. Perhaps pecuniary difficulties
led to this arrangement, by which it was agreed that the more prudent
brother John, the priest, should possess the family fiefs for his life, that
they might revert to the son and descendants of William afterwards.

CoNTEMPORARY.—EDMUND GURNEY, who in 3]st Edward 1. (1303),
held in Houghton a quarter of a knight’s fee of the honour of Wormegay.

a Ibid. in Harpley, and Norris MSS.

b T presume by this is meant for eighty marks at the time of executing the deed, and for an
annuity of twenty pounds quarterly, or eighty pounds a-year. I have not met with any copy of
this deed. The above particulars are from the Spelman MSS. (Appendix LV.)
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APPENDIX LIX.

GIFT TO THE PRIOR OF WALSINGHAM OF THE HOMAGE OF WILLIAM DE CATTESTON.

No. 1.

From the Register Chartarum Prioratus de
Walsingham, Bibl. Cotton. Nero E. vii.
fo. 115.

Decanatus de Runhale, Carta Rolandi del
Prith de homagio Willelmi de Catteston.

Sciant presentes et futuri quod ego Rolandus
filius Johannis del Frith concessi et dedi et
hac presenti carta mea confirmavi Deo et
ecclesie Sancte Marie de Walsingham et ca-
nonibus ibidem Deo servientibus homagium
Willelmi de Catteston cum toto tenemento quod
tenuit de me in villa de Runhale et de Turston
cum omnibus pertinentibus que habui ex dono
Willelmi de Gurnay domini mei pro servitio
meo, in liberam, puram et perpetuam elemosy-
nam, pro salute anime mee, et omnium anteces-
sorum meorum et successorum. Testibus, &c.

This donation of Roland del Frith was con-
firmed by his superior lord, William de Gur-
nay, as follows :—

No. 2.

Omnibus ad quos presens scriptum pervenerit
Willelmus de Gurnay salutem.

Noverit universitas vestra me concessisse et
hac presenti carta confirmasse Deo et ecclesie
Sancte Marie de Walsingham et canonibus
ibidem Deo servientibus donationem quam Ro-
landus filius Johannis del Frith fecit eis, scilicet,
homagium Willelmi de Catteston cum toto tene-
mento suo quod tenuit de eodem Rolando in
villa de Runhale et de Turston cum omnibus
pertinenciis, sicut carta predicti Rolandi quam
inde habent testatur. Testibus, &c.

These deeds afford an illustration of the
holdings of land under the feudal system. Wil-
liam de Catteston, the villein, owes homage and
fealty to Roland del Frith; and he again to
William de Gurnay, his superior, who himself,
as mesne-lord, owed suit and service to the
elder line of the Gurnays, who held these lands
as tenants in capite of the Crown.

APPENDIX LX.

ON THE FAMILY OF BACONSTHORPE.

We are inclined to believe that this Catha-
rine, wife of William de Gurney III. was a
Baconsthorpe.

John Gurnay (IL.), the rector and patron of

Harpley, was lorg of the manor of Welburn,
which had been in the Baconsthorpes. The
moiety of the manor of Woodhall, in Bacons-
thorpe, came from that family to sir John de
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Gourney, knt. (V.) of West Barsham, who died
lord of it in 1407 ;* his widow held, in the
reign of Henry VI, ¢ quartam partem unius
feodi quondam Edmundi Baconsthorpe.”+

The later generations of the West Barsham
Gurneys quartered, between the coats of War-
) ren and de Wauncy,
Azure, 8 griffin’s heads
erased or, collared sa-
ble, which are the arms
of Baconsthorpe, ac-
cording to Edmund-
son, and old ordinaries
of the reign of James
I., now existing in the
Heralds’ College, London.

From this fact they must have married a
Baconsthorpe heiress previous to the match
with de Wauncy, and after that with Warren
or de Burnham. (See armorial pedigree, Ap-
pendix LV. page 820.)

It is not likely that the manor of Woodhall
should have fallen into the Gurneys so late as
the reign of Henry IV., if the marriage with
Baconsthorpe had taken place much earlier
than the time of this Katharine.

The family of Baconsthorpe is the same as
that of Bacon #* Bacon is a Norman name,
originating in some fief so called.; The Eng-
lish family of Bacon does not appear to de-
scend from that of Bacon du Molay, who were
of distinction in Normandy, but from Grim-
bald, said to be a kinsman of the Earl Warren,
and who came to England with him at the
Conquest, and was enfeoffed by that earl of the
manors of Letheringset and Thorpe, afterwards
called Baconsthorpe, bothein Norfolk. It is

* Blomefleld, in Baconsthorpe.
t+ Norris MSS. Cart. Antiq. 62,
1 Roman de Rou, vol. ii. p. 269.

WILLIAM DE GOURNAY III.
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likely this Grimbald held some manor in Nor-
mandy called Bacon, from whence the name of
the family. The descendants of Grimbald held
the principal manor of Baconsthorpe for several
centuries, and were called indifferently Bacon
or Baconsthorpe. The illustrious Roger Bacon
can hardly have been of this family; he having
been born at or near Ilchester, in Somerset-
shire, in 1214 ; but John de Baconsthorpe, the
celebrated Carmelite friar, of whom Fuller
makes mention in his Worthies, was certainly
son of Sir Thomas Bacon, of Baconsthorpe,
and was born at that place.§

The Bacons of Baconsthorpe were also lords
of Field Dalling, and patrons of Blackborough
Nunnery, near Lynn; in the cartulary of
which house are several of their charters of
gifts of land in that parish.

They ended in coheiresses in the sixteenth
century, when the estates were sold to the
Heydons, who built a large mansion at Bacons-
thorpe.

The arms of this family varied much, and
prove that in the early periods coats of arms
were by no means always hereditary : they bore,
Gules, on a chief argent 2 mullets sable, which
are borne by the present family; Argent, a
cross engrailed, counter-changed gules and
sable ; and Gules, three boars passant or.

A younger branch of the Baconsthorpes
were enfeoffed by the elder of the manor of
Woodhall in Baconsthorpe, and of a manor in
Hingham, from whence they were called indif-
ferently de Baconsthorpe and de Hingham ; this

§ This John de Baconsthorpe was celebrated for his
high spirit in his low body ; his stature was dwarfish :

¢ Scalpellum, calami, atramentum, carta, libellus.”

His penknife, pen, inkhorn, one sheet of paper, and his
book, would amount to his full height.—Fuller's
‘Worthies, p. 255.
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was in 1227, when Robert Bacon settled these | of West Barsham, as before stated, where their
manors on Roger his brother. The heiress of | arms, different from the elder line, are also
this family apparently married to the Gurneys | given, :

APPENDIX LXI.

UPON THE COAT OF ARMS, ARGENT, A CRO88 ENGRAILED GULES.

...

Armorial emblems and distinctions were un- | nay was pure sable.
doubtedly used as early as the tenth century, | The Normans with the
as appears by the decree of the Emperor | feudal system intro-
Henry 1. surnamed the Fowler, respecting | duced armorial bear-
tournaments. He began to reign 919: the first | ings into England.
tournament took place 938.* The Crusades gradu-
Guidons and pennons without a charge are | ally rendered them
" upon the seals of William the Conqueror and | more and more gene-
William Rufus,+ which seems to countenance | ral, and they finally
the idea which prevails in the local historians, | became hereditary in
that the shield of the ancient Lords of Gour- | families in the 13th century.
® Edmondson's Heraldry. Preface, p. 18. This instance of William de Gournay is the
+ Dallaway’s Heraldry, p. 18. earliest on record of the use of the cross

2Y
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engrailed in a seal or document by any of
the family; but this coat was borme by his
father John de Gurney, as appears from an
ancient roll of arms apparently cotemporary,
published in Hearne’s Leland’s Collectanea,
vol.ii. p. 613. And this John de Gurney accom-
panied Edward I. to the Holy Land in 1270,
which might have originated the bearing.*

There is, however, no evidence to prove that
they did not use it earlier, and Hugh de Gour-
ney V. having been Richard I.’s Commissioner
at the surrender of Acre in 1190, when the
true cross was given up to the Crusaders, this
circumstance seems a probable cause of this
bearing of the engrailed cross.

Guillim says,} that the gentry in counties
were accustomed to take the arms of the prin-
cipal nobility of the district, with distinctive
variations of colour and bearings ; and that in
Norfolk many families took their arms from
the houses of Albany, Vere, Strange, and
Ufford.t The Uffords, Earls of Suffolk, had
large estates in Nor-
folk ; they bore, Sable,
a cross engrailed or.
The following ancient
families of this county
certainly bore also en-
grailed crosses, vary-
ing in colour.

Bacon of Bacons-
thorpe.  Argent, a
cross engrailed, coun-

JYVIE ¥ 1

AAANNA.

‘sable. §

® Excerpta Historica, p. 272.

4+ Guillim's Heraldry, Introduction, p. 7.
%+ Spelman in Aspilogia.

§ Blomefleld in Baconsthorpe.

terchanged gules and |

WILLIAM DE GOURNAY I[III.

Heydon. Quarterly
argent and gules, a
cross engrailed, coun-
terchanged.

Ingoldesthorpe.
Gules, a cross en-
grailed argent.

Berney. Per pale
gules and azure, over
all a cross engrailed
ermine.

Whetenhall. As
quartered by Warner,
Vert, a cross engrailed

ermine.

Gurney.  Argent,

a cross engrailed gules.

[PART 11.
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Robert de Ufford, the first of the family,
was a younger son of John de Peyton, of Pey-
ton in Suffolk ; in the 54 Henry IIL. 1270, he
was with Prince Edward, when he and many
others assumed the cross for his expedition to
the Holy Land.* And Sir John de Gourney,
who had been in arms against Henry IIL at
the battle of Lewes, was in the same crusade ;+
as was also John de Ingoldsthorpe.

We, however, doubt whether at the period
in question (22 Edw. 1.) the superiority of the
Uffords was so decided as to have induced the
gentry of this county to adopt variations of
their arms.

Another probability is, that the Gournays
and the Heydons, each of them having had
property at Baconsthorpe, may at some remote
period have married coheiresses of the Bacons

* Dugdale's Baronage, vol. ii. p. 47.
4 Excerpta Historica, p. 272.

SEAL ON A DEED OF THOMAS DE INGOLDEST HORPE, AT STOW-HALL, NORFOLK.

ARGENT, A CROSS ENGRAILED GULES.
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there resident, and have assumed their arms
with a slight variety.

With regard to seals, it appears that one of
the earliest seals with arms now known in
England was that of Richard I. In the time
of Henry IL. Lucy, Chief Justice of England,
reprehended a gentleman for using a private
seal of arms, because he said it was peculiar to
the king and nobility. After the time of
Edw. I the use of them grew to be ordinary.}

Sir Henry Spelman says this seal of William
de Gournay III. is the earliest which he had
seen containing an escutcheon with one of the
nine honors. The nine honors, or honorable
ordinaries in heraldry, are the chief, the pale,
the bend, the bend sinister, the fess, the bar,
the chevron, the cross, and the saltier.

We subjoin a drawing of a seal of the same
date as William de Gurney’s.

1 Hearne’s Curious Discourses, vol. i. p. 169.

16 Edw. I.1288.



342

JOHN DE GOURNAY IIL

JoEN DE GOURNAY II. was a priest, and rector of Harpley; to him his
brother William de Gournay III. conveyed the manor of Harpley and all
his other manors in the 22d year of Edward 1. (1294).

In the year 27-28 Edw. I. he was lord of Harpley, as appears from the
Court Rolls ; and in the 35th of Edw. I. he was lord rector and patron;
and the same year had an annual fair granted him, to be kept on the
25th of July, and the fair to belong to the rector for the time being.*

In the 29th year of Edw. I. (1301) he purchased the manor of Saxthorpe
of Simon de Crepping and Maude his wife ; Simon remaining his tenant
of the manor and lands at a rent of forty pounds sterling a year. (Appendix
LXII. No. 1.)

In the 31st Edw. L. he held the manor of Swathing in Hardingham for
one knight's fee, of Hugh Bardolf: at the same time he and Walter de
Calthorpe, and their tenants, held a knight’s fee in Harpley of the honour
of Warren.

The 34th Edw. I. (1306) a fine was levied between John de Gourney,
querent, and Sarra, who had been the wife of John de Kilbey, deforcient,
of the manor of Hillington, the right of John de Gourney, who granted it
to Sarra for life, remainder to John son of Geoffry Wymer of Saham, and
Margaret his wife, in fee tail.® (App. LXII. No. 2.)

In the 6th Edw. II. (1313) John de Gourney passed by fine to Richard de
Thurston and Ada his wife, six messuages, 115 acres of land, with 15
shillings in rent, in that town, Runhall, &c.?

In 1315 he was returned by the sheriff as Lord of the Manor of Harpley,
and at the same time as having manors in Hingham, Brandeston, Wel-
burne, Reymerstone, and Hardingham.®

& Blomefield in Harpley. b Feoda, Norff. 31 Edw. L
¢ Fine Norff. 34 Edw. I. d Blomefield in Thurston, or Thuxton.
¢ Norris MSS. Tunstead hundred, p. 55,
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We have seen that this John de Gournay II. purchased all the manors
belonging to his brother, William de Gournay III., of which some of these
were a part; but Brandeston and Welburn he seems to have added to the
estate, also Saxthorpe and Hillington, and the manor of Uphall in Harpley.
. By what means he was wealthy enough to make these purchases, does not
appear.

In the 9th year of Edw. II. (1316) John de Gournay impleaded William
de Swathing respecting the right of coursing hares, &c. at Hardingham, as
follows : —

Norf. John de Gourney impleaded William de Swathing for entering by
violence, without his licence, on his free-warren at Swathing, as, on the
Monday after the feast of St. Michael, he had chased and taken 20 hares,
80 rabbits, and 100 partridges. William pleaded that Lewis de Gourney
was lord, and held the manor at the conquest (that is, time out of mind)
with free-warren, and enfeoffed Arnold de Swathing his predecessor of a
moiety of the said manor, with free-warren, &c. and one Sewall, the sewer,
(dapifer,) predecessor in this manor of William de Gourney, in the other
‘moiety, from which William the same John who now brings the complaint
had purchased his moiety ; and by reason of the aforesaid moiety, he and
his predecessors, time immemorial, used in one moiety as well as the other
to chase hares at their will and pleasure.* (App. LXIIL No. 3.) We see
by this plea that John de Gurnay, the worthy priest of Harpley, was very
tenacious of his game, as well as of his manorial rights.

This year also, 1316, 9 Edw. II. he settled the manor of Harpley on John
de Gourney, son of Katharine, and Jane his wife, in tail, remainder to
William and Edmund, brothers of John, his nephews. (App. LXII. No. 4.)

The 13th of Edw. II. 1319, Gilbert de Upegate released two pence rent
to John Gurney, out of certain lands. (App LXII. No. 5.)

By a deed dated at Harpley, Nov. 26th, 1325, 18 Edw. II., Walter, son of
Robert de Meleford, grants to his lord, Sir John de Gurney, Rector of the
church of Harpley, his messuage called Uphall, with all the homages and
services of his free tenants, view of frank-pledge, free bull and boar; all

8 Abbreviatio Placitorum, Rot. 112, p. 821.
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perquisites of court, and all other liberties late Ralph’s son of Walter de
Manor, with wards, reliefs, escheats, &c. with all the lands that Marion, late
wife of the said Walter, holds for life, being of his right and inheritance,
and all the tenements which Sir Henry de Walpole, knight, and Thomas
Elwyn of Houghton, held of the said Marion during her life, and which after

eoe \

her death ought to descend to the said
Walter and his heirs; the said John
de Gourney paying one clove per
annum. Witnesses, Sir Henry de
Walpole, Thomas de Feltham, Ed-
mund Lawrence, Oliver de Massing-
ham, Ralph de Walsingham, William
deHarpley. (Appendix LXII. No. 6.)
And the said manor, tenements, &c.
were, by deed of the said John de

i Gourney, dated on' Monday the feast

of St. Thomas the Apostle, in the 6th

- year of King Edw. I11. (1332) granted

to his nephew, John de Gourney, and
Jane his wife, remainder to John
their son and heir, and their heirs;
to which was attached a seal of green
wax, oval, about the size of a half-
crown, with the impress of some saint
in an arch, the legend, “ §. JoA’is de
Gurnay.”™ (App. LXII. No. 7.)
John de Gournay, the nephew, pre-
senting to the church at Harpley this
year (1332), proves it also to be the
date of the death of John, the rector
and patron. In the chancel of Harp-
ley church exists a slab of Purbeck

* Blomefield in Harpley.
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marble, in memory of this John de Gurney. In the centre of the stone has
been an ecclesiastical figure under a canopy, with an escutcheon on either
side: but the brass of all this is gone. Surrounding it is the following
inscription, cut in the stone itself, and still perfectly legible—

« Hic jacet corpus Joh'is de Gurnay, quondam Rectoris Patronique hujus ecclesie, cujus anime
propicietur Deus. Amen.”

In September 1829 some workmen, who were employed in making a
grave near the stone, displaced it : they found it formed the lid of a stone
grave or coffin about one and a half foot deep, two and a half feet wide,
and five feet eleven inches long, with three small holes at the bottom for
the moisture to drain through into a reservoir beneath, about a foot in
depth. The skeleton of John de Gurnay was found with the head resting
on a stone pillow, habited in the silk dress of a priest. On the feet the
upper leathers of the shoes remained uninjured; in the left hand was a
sacramental cup, which from the description was probably copper gilt.
Unfortunately the cup was taken away by the workmen, and could not be
recovered : the dress also was much torn by them. The height of the
body must have been about five feet eleven inches. The teeth were all
perfect, notwithstanding, from the fact of the manor having been con-
veyed to him, a priest, in 1294, and his not dying till 1332, he must have
been sixty years of age at least at his death.

Persons of distinction, in the middle ages, were buried habited in their
dress of ceremony. Pennant, in his History of London, gives an inter-
esting account of the state in which the corpse of Edward I. was found
in his tomb at Westminster Abbey. Subsequently King John was dis-
covered at Worcester, and some of the later sovereigns at Windsor. The
remains of an ancient Bishop of Durham, by some said to be Saint Cuth-
bert, were found in the cathedral there, clothed in a Saxon episcopal dress,
with the name of the sempstress in Saxon characters worked upon it.
Mr. Norris mentions a priest being found in a stone coffin at Diss with a
sacramental cup : indeed the priests were generally buried in their sacer-
dotal dress, and with a chalice. Monks and nuns also were buried in the
habits of their order.
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CoNTEMPORARY with John de Gournay II.—In 1310 a fine was levied
between William, son of Philip de Gourney, and Ellen his wife, querents,
and Ela late wife of John de Calveley, of a messuage, tenement, &c. in
Reymerstone, the right of Ela, who granted it to William and Ellen for
their lives.* .

8 Fine Norf, 8d Edw. II.
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The following fine is a remarkable additional proof of the descent of the
Gourneys of Swathings, and Hingham Gurneys (afterwards of West Barsham),
from the Lords of Gournay; this fine being obviously in bar of any claim
the junior male line might have on the three manors of Kimberley, Cantley,
and Caister, all in Norfolk, which fell to the Bardolfs on the marriage of
Julia de Gournay (heiress of the elder line) with William Bardolf, about
the year 1239. The consideration is merely nominal, a hawk of the first
year, ‘Espuarium sorum ;” but the fine being made by the precept of
the king is a singular circumstance :—

FEET OF FINE—NORFOLK, 7 EDW. II., NO. 402.
(1314.)

Hec est finalis concordia facta in curia Domini Regis apud Westmonas-
terium in octaba Sancte Trinitatis, anno Regni Regis Edwardi filii Regis
Edwardi septimo, coram Willelmo de Bereford, Lamberto de Rikingham,
Johanne de Benstede, Henrico le Scrope, Willelmo Inge, et Johanne Bacon,
justiciariis, et aliis Domini Regis fidelibus tunc ibi presentibus. Inter
Thomam Bardolf et Agnetem uxorem ejus querentes, et Johannem de
Gurney et Johannem de Ilalughton deforcientes, de maneriis de Quimberlie,
Cantele et Castre, cum pertinentibus.  Unde placitum convencionis
sumptum fuit inter eos in eadem curia, scilicet quod predicti Johannes et
Johannes recognaverunt predicta maneria cum pertinentibus esse jus
ipsius Thome, et illa eisdem Thome et Agneti reddiderunt in eadem curia.
Habenda et tenenda eisdem Thome et Agneti, et heredibus ipsius Thome
de Domino Rege, et heredibus suis per servicia que ad predicta maneria
pertinent in perpetuum. Et pro hac recognitione, reddicione, fine et
concordia, iidem Thomas et Agnes dederunt predictis Johanni et Johanni
unum espuarium sorum. Et hec concordia facta fuit per preceptum ipsius
Domini Regis.—Norff. '

This John de Gurney was the rector of Harpley, who was such in
1314, whom we call the II. (page 342), and who purchased of his brother
William all his manors and rights, whose monument is now at Harpley.
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For this fine John de Gurney received as an equivalent the manor of

Winburgh, in Norfolk, and others, as appears in the Dodsworth Collections,
Bodleian Library, No. 57.

Escheat Anno, 7 Ed. IT. (1314, the same year as the fine),—Norff., jurati
dicunt quod non est ad dampnum, si rex concessit Thome Bardolf quod ipse
de maneriis de Quinborough, in com. Norfolk, feoffare possit Johannem
de Gurnay, etcestera; et inter alia, maneria de Stoke Bardolf, in comitatu
Notlinghamensi; Okebroke, in comitatu Derby ; quee tenentur de Domino
Rege, in Capite per Baroniam.

This escheat roll seems now to be lost, as a search has been made for it
in vain; but there can be no doubt of Dodsworth’s copy being correct.
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APPENDIX LXII.

DOCUMENTS RELATING TO JOHN DE GOURNAY II. PRIEST, RECTOR, AND PATRON OF
HARPLEY. .,

No. 1.

Fine 29th Edward I. (1301), Simon de
Crepping and Maud his wife, and John
de Gernay (Gurney), of the Manor of
Saxthorpe.

Hwc est finalis concordia facta in curia
Domini Regis apud Eboracum in octavis Sancti
Jobannis Baptiste, anno Regni Regis Edwardi
fili Regis Henrici vicesimo nono, coram
Johanne de Metyngham, Willelmo de Bere-
ford, Elia de Bekyneham, Petro Malorre, Wil-
lelmo Howard, et Lamberto de Trykyngham,
justiciariis, et aliis Domini Regis fidelibus tunc
ibi presentibus; inter Simonem de Creppinge et
Matildam uxorem ejus querentes, et .Johannem
de Gerney deforciantem, de manerio in Sax-
thorpe, cum pertinentiis, et de uno messuagio,
centum et decem acris terre, octo acris prati,
octo acris pasture et decem solidatis redditus
cum pertinentiis in Corpesti et Saxthorpe.
Unde placitum conventionis summonitum fuit
inter eos in eadem curia, scilicet quod predictus
Simon recognovit predicta tenementa cum
pertinentiis esse jus ipsius Johannis, ut illa
que idem Johammes habet de dono predicti Si-
monis. Et pro hac recognitione fine et con-
cordia idem Johannes concessit predictis Simoni
et Matilde predicta tenementa cum pertinentiis.
Et illa eis reddidit in eadem curia, habenda et
tenenda eisdem Simoni et Matilde, et heredibus
quos idem Simon de corpore ipsius Matilde
Pprocreat, de predicto Johanne et heredibus suis
in perpetunm, Reddendo inde per annum tota

vita ipsius Jobhannis quadraginta libras ster-
lingorum ad duos terminos, scilicet medieta-
tem ad festum Sancti Michaelis et aliam medi-
tatem ad Pascham, pro omni servitio, consuetu-
dine et exactione ad predictum Johannem et
heredes suos pertinentes. Et faciendo inde
capitalibus dominis feodi illius pro predicto
Johanne et heredibus suis omnia alia servitia
que ad illa tenementa pertinent. Et post de-
cessum ipsius Johannis, predictus Simon et
Matilda et heredes sui predicti erunt quieti de
solutione predictorum denariorum per annum in
perpetuum. Et si contingat quod predictus
Simon obierit sine herede de corpore ipsius
Matilde predicte, tunc post decessum ipsius
Simonis et Matilde predictorum tenementa cum
pertinentiis integre manebunt rectis heredibus
ipsius Simonis tenenda de capitalibus dominis
feodi illius per servitia que ad illa tenementa
pertinent in perpetuum.

No. 2.

Fine between John de Gournay and Roger
de Kylby, of the Manor of Hillington, 34th
Edward I. (1306).

Hac est finalis concordia facta in Curia Do-
mini Regis apud Westmonasterium a die Sancte
Trinitatis in quindecim dies anno regni Regis
Edwardi fili Regis Henrici tricesimo quarto,
coram Radulfo de Hengham, Willelmo de
Bereford, Elia de Bekyngham, Petro Malow,
Willelmo Howard, Lamberto de Trekingham,
Hervico de Staunton, justiciariis, et aliis Domini

22z
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Regis fidelibus tunc ibi presentibus, inter Johan-
nem de Gurnay querentem, et Sarram que fuit
uxor Rogeri de Kylby deforcientem, de manerio
de Hillington cum pertinentiis. Unde placitum
convencionis summonitum fuit inter eos in
eadem curia, scilicet quod predicta Sarra recog-
novit predictum manerium cum pertinentiis esse
jus ipsius Johannis, ut illud qued idem Johannes
habet de dono predicte Sarre, et pro hac recog-
nitione fine et concordia idem Johannes con-
cessit predicte Sarre predictum manerium cum
pertinentiis, et illud eis reddidit in eadem curis,
habendum et tenendum eidem Sarre de capitali-
bus dominis feodi illius per servitia que ad
illud manerium pertinent tota vita illius Sarre.
Et post decessum ipsius Sarre predictum mane-
.rium cum pertinentiis integre remanebit Johanni
filio Galfridi Wymer de Saham et Margarite
uxori ejus et heredibus quos idem Jobannes
filius Galfridi de corpore ipsius Margarite pro-
creat, tenendum de capitalibus dominis feodi
illius per servitia que ad illud manerium perti-
Dent in perpetuum. Et si contingat quod pre-
dictus Johanues filius Galfridi obierit sine
herede de corpore ipsins Margarite procreato,
tunc post decessum utriusque ipsorum Johannis
et Margarite, predictum manerium cum perti-
nentiis integre remanebit rectis heredibus ipsius
Johannis filii Galfridi, tenendum de capitalibus
dominis feodi illius per servitia que ad illud
manerium pertinent in perpetuum.

No. 3.

Inter Recorda in Thesaurario Curie Recepte
Scaccarii asservata: viz. in Rotulo indorsato
coram rege Trin. 8 Ed. 2, continetur ut sequitur.

Placita coram domino Rege apud Westmo-
nasterium de termino Sancte Trinitatis anno
regni Regis Edwardi filii Regis Edwardi oc-
tavo. (1814.)

Adhuc de quindena Sancti Johannis Baptiste.

JOHN DE GOURNAY II.

[PART 11

Willelmus de Swathing attachiatus fuit ad
respondendum Jobanni de Gurnay de placito
quare vi et armis liberam warennam ipsius
Johannis de Gurnay apud Swathinge intravit
et in ea sine licentia et voluntate sua fugavit, et
lepores, cuniculos et perdices cepit et asportavit,
et alia enormia, &c. ad grave damnum, &ec. et
contra pacem, &c. Et unde queritur quod
predictus Willelmus die Lune proxima post
festum Sancti Michaelis anno regni Regis
nunc septimo liberam warennam ipsins Jo-
hannis apud Swathing intravit, et in ea sine
licentia et voluntate sua fugavit, et viginti
lepores quatuor viginti cuniculos et centum
perdices cepit et asportavit. Unde dicit quod
deterioratus est et damnum habet ad valentiam
centum librarum. Et unde perducit sectam,
&c. Et predictus Willelmus de Swathing venit
et defendit vim et injuriam quando, &c. et dicit
quod nihil contra pacem domini Regis fecit.
Dicit enim quod quidam Lothewicus de Gurnay
tempore conquestus tenuit Maneruim de Swa-
thinge integre warrennatum, qui quidem Lo-

-thewicus feoffavit quemdam Arnaldum de

Swathinge antecessorem predicti Willelmi de
Swathinge de medietate Manerii de Swathinge
cum warrenna cum omnibus pertinentiis,
&c. et quemdam Sewallum Dapiferum ante-
cessorem Willelmi de Gurnay de alia me-
dietate ejusdem Manerii, &c. de quo idem
Johannes qui modo queritur eandem medi-
etatem cum pertinentiis, &c. perquisivit. Unde -
dicit quod ratione medietatis Manerii, &c. tam
ipse quam omnes anteceasores sui a tempore
quo non extat memoria in una medietate et alia
fugavit lepores et cuniculos pro voluntate, &c.
cepit et asportavit sicut ei bene licuit. Et quod
ita sit ponit se super patriam, &c. Et pre-
dictus Johannes dicit quod predictus Willelmus
nec antecessores sui ratione medietatis, &c. vel
alterius tenementi, &c. in predicta villa de Swa-
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thing aliquam warrennam temporibus retroactis
habuerit, nec idem Willelmus habere debet, &c.
sed dicit quod idem Willelmus de injuria sua
propria liberam warrennam suam, &c. intravit
et in ea, &c. fugavit et lepores, et cuniculos, et
perdices ut predictum est cepit, &c. Et hoc
petit quod inquiratur per patriam, &c. Et pre-
dictus Johannes similiter. Immo veniant inde
Jurati coram Rege a die Sancti Michaelis in
tres septimanas ubicunque, &c. et qui nec, &c.
quia tam’, &c.

We have to observe upon this suit that the
patt which refers to Lewis de Gurnay should
be thus translated, beginning ¢ dicit enim”—
“ For he says, that one Lewis de Gurnay at
the time of the conquest (i. e. at a remote
period, or time out of mind) held the manor of
Swathings entirely warren; which Lewis en-
feoffed Armold de Swathing, the predecessor
of William de Swathing before mentioned, of
half the manor of Swathing, with the warren
and all its appurtenances, and one Sewall the
sewer, predecessor (i. e. in the possession of the
manor) of William de Gurnay, in the moiety of
the same manor; of whom, (i. . of William
de Gurnay) this same John, who now demands
the same moiety, with the appurtenances, pur-
chased it, &c.

Antecessor in these pleas generally means
predecessor in possession, not ancestor in blood.
Antecessor has this meaning in Domesday
Book - very often.*

The William de Gurnay, of whom John
purchased, was his brother, of whom we have
seen he bought all his Norfolk manors. '

After all nothing can be so loose as the facts
stated in these pleas, except such as were imme-
diately known at the period when they took
place. The only Lewis de Gurney known of

% Brady's Introduction

to Old English History.—
Glossary, p. 18, S ’
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was the one living in the reign of Henry II.,
Richard I., and John.

Perhaps the moiety of the manor said to
have been given to Sewall the dapifer, may
have reference to Hugh de Gournay's gift of
Swathings to the family of Le Bourguignon,
who were amongst his liegemen.

No. 4.

In the 9th Edw. IL. (1315) a fine was levied
between John de Gurney, parson of Harpele
church, querent, Hugh, parson of Little
Massingham, and Stephen de Estle (his trus-
tees), deforciants, of this manor and advowson,
with messuages and lands in Gaywood and
Wicton, whereby they were settled on them-
selves for life, remainder to John son of Katha«
rine de Gurnay, in tail, to William and Ed.
mund, the brothers of John, in tail.+
" Fines, Edw. 1I. L. 8, n. 20,

No. &,

It appears by a deed dated at Harpele the
Sunday before the Circumcision, in the 13th
year of king Edward the Second, that sir John
de Gurney was rector of Harpele; for then
Gilbert de Upegate de Harpele released two
pence rent to him out of lands at Pillough and
Freehowes in this town, to which deed sir John
de Thorp and sir Walter de Calthorpe, knights,
Ralf Walsingham, Walter de Melford, William
de Upegate, Walter Davey, and Simon Hovet
are witnesses.}

Inter cartas Rogeri Potts, bar. 1706,

No. 6.

Sciant, &c. quod ego Willelmus filius Ro-
berti de Melefford concessi Demino meo.

4+ From Addit, MSS. Brit. Mus. No. 8841, fol. 108,

&oc. Harpley, .
1 Harpley Rectory, 13 Edw. II. 1819, ibid,
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Domino Johanni de Gorney Rectori Ecclesie
de Harple et heredibus, &¢. unum messuagium
meum quod vocatur Uphalle et omnia homagia
ot servicia liberorum tementium meorum una
cum visu franci plegii, libero tauro, et libero
apro, et perquisitis curiarum, cum aliis liberta-
tibus, que quondam fuerunt Radulfi filii Walteri
de Maneys cum pertinentiis in Harplee, cum
Wardis, releviis, &c. Concessi etiam eidem
Domino Johanni quod omnia tenementa que
Mariona que fuit uxor Walteri le Maneys tenet
ad terminum vite sue de jure et hereditate mea
et omnia tenementa que dominus Henricus de
Walpole miles, Galfridus filius Asceline de
Harplee, et Thomas Elwyn de Howton tenent
ex dimissione predicte Marione ad terminum
vite ejusdem Marione in Harplee et alibi, et
que post mortem ejusdem Marione mihi et
heredibus meis reverti deberunt post mortem
predicte Marione, predicto domino Jobanni si
tunc temporis fuerit superstes integre remaneat,
reddendo annuatim unum clovum gariofili, &c.
In cujus, &c. His testibus, Domino Henrico
de Walpole milite, Thoma de Feltham, Ed-
mundo Laurent, Oliverio de Massingham, Ra-
dulfo de Walsingham, Willelmo de Harplee,
&c. Datum apud Harplee 26° Novr. anno regni
Regis Edwardi filii Regis Edwardi 18°.(1324)*
Ex autogr. penes Petr. Le Neve,

No. 7.

Sciant, &c. quod ego Johannes de Gurnay,
rector Ecclesie de Harpelee, concessi Johanni
de Gurnay nepoti meo, Johanne uxori sue, et
Johanni filioc eorum et heredibus ipsius Johannis
unum messuagium meum vocatum- Uphalle et
omnia homagia et servitia liberorum tenentium
meorum, una cum visu franci plegii, libero tauro,
et libero apro, placitis et perquisitis curiarum et

* Add. MSS. Brit. Mus. No. 8841,

JOHN DE GOURNAY II.

[PART 11

omnibus aliis libertatibus, &c. que quondam
Radulfus filius Walteri de Maners cum perti-
nentiis in Harple cum wardis, releviis, &c.
Concessi etiam eisdem Johanni, &c. omnia et
singula tenementa quie Mariota que fuit uxor
Walteri le Maners tenet ad terminum vite sue
de jure et hereditarie, et omnia tenementa que
Dominus Henricus de Walpole miles, Galfridus
filius Asceline de Harple, et Thomas Elewyn
de Howton, tenent ex dimissione predicte Ma-
riote ad terminum vite predicte Mariote cum
pertinentiis in Harple, et alibi, &c. In cujus, &c.
His testibus Domino Henrico de Walpole, Thoma
de Feldham, Edmundo filio Willelmi, Radulfo de
Walsingham, Willelmo de Upgate, Jacobo de
Depedale, Godefrido filio A seline, et aliis. Datum
apud Harple die Lune in festo Sancti Thome
Apostoli, anno Regni Regis Edwardi tertii
sexto.{

Ex autogr. penes P. Le Neve, Norroy.

Of the feudal rights mentioned in these two
charters (6 and 7), view of frank pledge, or
court leet, is held once a year within any parti-
cular lordship for the preservation of the peace,
originally to view the frank pledges or free men,
who were mutually pledges for the good con-
duct of each other.}

Ward was the wardship of minors, whereby
the custody of their body and lande accrued
to the lord, until they came of age, without any
account of profits. §

Relief was the fine paid to the lord for tak.
ing up an estate lapsed or fallen by death. ||

Escheat was where the land reverted to the
lord from want of heir of the tenant, or from
corruption of blood by treason or felony. §

+ Uphall man’ in Harple, 6 Edw. III. 1331. ibid.
1 Blackstone, Com. Book IV. chap. 19, sec. 10.

§ Ibid. Book IL. chap. 5, sec. 4.

| Ibid. Book II. chap. 4.

§ Ibid. Book II. chap. 5.
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JOHN DE GURNAY IIL

SoN of William, is 'he on whom, and his wife Jane, his uncle John de
Gurney, rector and patron of Harpley, settled lands in that place, &c. the
9th of Edward II. and 6th of Edward III. by which settlements we find he
had two brothers, William and Edmund, of whom nothing further is
known (Appendix LXII. No. 5 and 7).

In 1832 lie presented Thomas Spendlove to the living
of Harpley.*

He married Jane daughter of Edmund De Lexham,
who, in the 17th Edward II. 1324, settled upon him-
self for life, remainder to John son of Katherine de
Gourney and Jane his wife in tail, six messuages with
lands in the Lexhams.®

- The De Lexhams were possessed of the manors of East Lexham and Nor-
ton,. near Fakenham, as early as the reign of Richard I. Their arms
were, Gules, a swan argent, membered and beaked gules.

RicHARD DE LExHANM, 8 Ric. I. 1197,

JoHN DE Lnxunl.]- ......

Enurunn pE LExHaM, Lord of Norton, 6 Edw. I. 127&j......

JoBN pE LExaax, 26 Edw. L 1208.5F.....

-
MATILDA.FEDMUND DE LEXHAN,

.
JonN DE GORNAY.=JANE. N. N.5=(probably) OsBerT DE MUNDEFORD, Who
inherited the manors of the Lexhams.

* Edmund Gurney, grandson of this John, held lands and a fold course in
Newton, the next parish to Lexham, which he probably inherited from the
De Lexhams.4 :

¢ Blomefield, in Harpley. b Blomefield, in Lexham. .
¢ Ancient MS. of Arms, lately the Rev. T. Talbot’s.
d Blomefield, in Newton by Castle Acre.
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PORCH, HARPLEY CHURCH.

The present church at Harpley was built about the period of this John
de Gournay III. ; it is a fine specimen of what is now called the perpendi-
cular pointed architecture. It is said to have been erected by Sir Robert -
Knowles, celebrated in the wars of Edward III. and in the assistance he.
rendered in the suppression of Wat Tyler's rebellion under Richard II.
He acquired great wealth, and died at his manor of Sculthorpe, in Nor-
folk, in 1407, having endowed many religious foundations. He was
governor of the town of Gournay during some of Edward II1.’s successfal
campaigns.®* John Knowles, brother of Sir Robert, and prior of Coxford,
in Norfolk, was rector of Harpley in 1374.

The Gurneys, I doubt not, contributed largely to the building of Harp-
ley church. It seems likely that John de Gurnay, the priest and rector,
was the original promoter of the building, which would be some years in
completion. The arms of John Drew, rector of Harpley in 1389, occur on
the frieze outside.

¢ M. De La Mairie, Hist. de Gournay.
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ENTRANCE DOOR.

On the battlements of the frieze, over the south aisle of Harpley Church,
are the arms of the Black Prince, of the wife of Sir Robert Knowles, of
Gurney, and many others.

A fess dancetté between three roses, (Wife of Knowles.)

_ An engrailed cross. (Gurney.)

A gridiron. (St. Lawrence, to whom the church is dedicated.)

A fess between three roses.

On a chevron three roses. (Drew.)

Chequy. (Warren.)

A shield quarterly, with a bendlet. (Bokenham r)

A cross lozengy. (Fotheringay ?)

A fess between two chevronels. (Fitzwalter or Walpole.)

Three chevronels. (Clare.)

Three cingfoils. (Bardolf.)

A fess engrailed between three catharine wheels,

A fess between three mullets.
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Three ostrich feathers. (Edward the Black Prince.)

A shield gyronny of twelve. (Bassingbourne.)

A bend between six cross crosslets. (Howard.)

A fess between three cross crosslets. (Beauchamp or St. Omer.)

Six escallop shells. (Scales.)

Gyronny of eight pieces.

A shield paly, on a canton sinister a lion passant gardant.

Chequy, on a crescent fesswise three cingfoils, (De Burnham or Fitz
Philip.)

Chequy, a fess ermine. (Calthorpe.)

A plain cross. (St. George, or the priory of Norwich.)

The present structure of Harpley church is of later date than the marble
slab monument of John de Gurnay. The font is of Norman architecture.

PONT, HARPLEY CHURCH.

There is at this time but one coat of arms remaining in the glass at
Harpley church, that of Sir Simon de Noiers, a knight whose name
appears in Edward III.’s list of Norfolk knights; he bore, Vairy argent
and gules ;* it is in one of the windows of the chancel. Butin Mr. Norris's
time there was also—Gurney, Argent, a cross engrailed gules ; and Bassing-
bourne, Gyrony of eight, or and azure.®

Antiquarian Repertory.
b Norris MSS. Church Collections in Harpley.






Frieze on the South Isle
in the County

Zhere azel9 Batilements, bwo Shields wpon each, those Shickls ;

rUy 1M

1 1 2e 3 3
6o 7¢ 8e 9°
13 14¢ 16

|



ne

18

12

13

Lt End, shewing the whole depth







A.D. 1332.] CHURCH AT HARPLEY. 355

L

NOIERS. GURNEY, BASSINGBOURNE.

There is also a fine oak roof to the church with a deep cornice, in which,
at intervals, are cherubs, some holding shields, argent, charged with a cross

engrailed gules.

At the north side of the chancel is a ruined sacristy. The cemetery of
the early lords of this manor was, probably, the chantry at the east end of
the south isle, but the tomb of John de Gournay is in the chancel ; and
Thomas de Gournay, in 1468, directed by his will that if he died at
Harpley he should be buried in the chancel of the church of St. Lawrence

there.
3 A
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JOHN DE GOURNEX IV.

SonN and heir of John de Gurney and Joan his wife, occurs in the deed
of John, rector and patron of Harpley, 6th Edward III. (1331).2

In 1332, either he or his father presented to the church of Harpley ; but
more probably this John de Gurney, as he is called John de Gurney
junior.b

It was this John de Gurney who was Lord of Harpley, and held his court
there on Friday the vigil of St. Laurence, 28th Edward III. (1354).

& Addit. MSS. Mus. Brit. No. 8,841, fol. 112, in Harpley. App. LXII. No. 7. b Ibid.
¢ Blomefield, in Harpley, vol. viii. 455, MSS. ut supra.

SOUTH SIDE OF CHANCEL, HARPLEY CHURCH.
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DOORWAY AND MURAL MONUMENT—CHANCEL, HARPLEY CHURCH.
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EDMUND DE GURNEY,

Son and heir of the before mentioned John de Gourney IV.* kept his
first court at Harpley in 1354, on Thursday next before the feast of the
conversion of St. Paul, and in the 34th year of Edward III. (1360) pre-
sented Hugh de Wauncy to the living of Harpley.®

He married Katharine, daughter of « William de Wauncye, chevallier,”
who granted to them both and their heirs a present yearly, and all rents
of 100 marks, to be levied out of his manors of West Barsham and Denver,
with a clause of distress in every part of each for default of payment,
dated 31 Edward III. (1357).© “ The said deed of Wauncy, sealed with a
splayed Falcon on a scutcheon.”® (App. LXIII. No. 7).

In the 41st of Edward III. (1367) a fine was levied between Edmund de
Gurney and Katharine his wife, querents, and Thomas de Beeston, trustees,
&c. defendants, of the moiety of the manor of West Barsham, settled on
Edmund and Katharine in tail.¢ This Katharine was sister and eventually
heir of Sir Edmund de Wauncy, who was Lord of West Barsham, 30
Edward III. (1356), who died in 1372, leaving by Joan his wife Edmund
his son and heir, aged seven years. This child died soon after ; and on his
death the lordship of West Barsham came to Edmund de Gurney, in right
of his wife, daughter of Sir William, and sister and heir of Sir Edmund de
Wauncy.! An indenture of lease was made between Edmund de Gurney,
lord of the manor of West Barsham, and one Henry Woodward, for 180
years, dated at West Barsham the Sunday next after the feast of St.
Petronilla the Virgin, in the 51st year of Edward III. His seal, the cross
engrailed. (App. LXIIIL No. 7).

2 Norris MSS. Collection. Spelman MSS. b Blomefield, in Harpley.
¢ Norris MSS.; Church Collections, West Barsham, p. 384.
d Spelman MSS. Gurney Pedigree. ¢ Blomefield, in West Barsham, vol. vii. 42.  f Ibid.
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This Edmund de Gurney was a lawyer, and, as it seems, of eminence.
In the close and patent rolls are many notices of him. )

Edmund de Gurney granted to Jokn de Merworthe, knight, annually
for his life £20, issuing out of all Gourney’s lands, &c. in Norfolk and
Suffolk, 36 Edward III.*

Edmund de Gourney was one of the justices named in a special com-
mission for trying offenders who had made a forcible entry upon the
manor of Munden (Suffolk), belonging to Hugh de Hastings, by patent
roll dated Westminster, 10th October, 40 Edward IIL.b

Edmund de Gurney was a special commissioner for inquiring into
nuisances and trespasses committed upon Queen Philippa’s manor of
Fakenham, by patent roll tested at Westminster 19 May, 41 Edward IIL.©

In 41 Edward III., 1367, he, together with Edmund de Clipesby and
Sir Roger de Felbrigg, were arbitrators to settle the differences and dis-
putes between the prior of Norwich and the prioress of Carrow;® and
these two, Clipesby and Gurney, were the standing council for the city of
Norwich, in the nature of recorder and steward. Mr. Norris conjectures
that his house in Norwich was Gurney’s Place in St. Julian's parish, in a

window of which house Mr. Kirkpatrick saw his arms
impaling one of the coats of de Wauncy,® Gules, 3
dexter hand gloves pointed downwards argent. This
@ coat is now to be seen in a window of Denton church

in Norfolk.
We cannot find what precise legal office Edmund
de Gourney and Edmund de Clipesby held at Nor-
wich. Blomefield does not state whether any law officers are mentioned in
the ancient charters of the city or not. The earliest notice of a recorder or
steward of Norwich is in the 2 Henry V., 1412, when an agreement was
entered into by the mayor, sheriffs, and commonalty to put an end to their
disputes on certain terms, and “ the Recorder or Deputy” is named.

* Cl m. 22 dors. b Pat. 40 Edward III. p. 2, m. 25 dors.

¢ Pat. p. 1, m. 20 dors. 4 Rot. de Carrow, 41 Edward IIL in Norris MSS.
¢ Norris MSS. Miscel. Papers, and Gurney Pedigree in Tunstead hundred.

f Blomefield, in Norwich.
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This is the first member of the Gurney family of whose connection with
Norwich any record remains. His descendants in the West Barsham
line, which manor continued in the family until 1660, had, like most of the
Norfolk gentry, a house in that city.

Henry Gurney of Norwich died intestate in 1443. Thomas Gurney, of
West Barsham, who died in 1471, mentions in his will his honse in St.
Gregory's parish.* William Gurney, who died in 1508, had a house in
Pockthorpe, a part of Norwich.? Anthony Gurney, who died in 1556,
possessed Gurney's Place, in St. Julian’s parish, before mentioned.

Younger branches of the family settled at Norwich.

Dorothy Gurney, sister of Edward Gurney, Esq. of West Barsham, was of
St. George’s, Tombland, in 1641. Thomas Gurney buried his wife in the
cathedral sometime before 1660. John Gurney, ancestor of the present
family, was of the parish of St. Gregory, in 1690 ; his children were settled
in St. Augustin’s parish, and his descendants continue to hold property in
Norwich and its neighbourhood.

Edmund de Gurney frequently occurs in the ancient records. In 1369,
a fine was levied between him and Edmund de Clipesby, querents, and
Thomas Eustace, of Felmingham, defendants, of the third part, of certain
lands, &c. in Stalham, Scrouteby, Clipesby, Burgh in Flegg, Martham,
and Bastwick, which Agnes, who had been the wife of John in the Willows,
holds for her life, the right of Edmund Gurney.? In 1369, 43 Edw. IIL. the
manor of Swathings, in Hardingham, was granted to Sir Hamon Felton,
knt. for life ; in remainder to Edmund Gurney and Katharine his wife, and
Joln their son in tail.®

The same year, Edmund de Gourneye was ordered to inquire into the
circumstances attending the plundering of the “Seinte Marie,” Jacob
Henryson, master, in Kirkley Roads. Westminster, 12 May.

* Register Jekkys, 211 B. Norris MSS.

b Dodsworth MS. ¢ Norris MSS. Tunstead, p. 64.
4 Fine Norfl. 43 Edward III. Norris MSS. ¢ Blomefield, in Hardingham.

f Pat. 43 Edward III. p. 2, m. 44 dors.
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Edmund de Gourney was one of the justices of the peace (but not of
tke quorum) for Norfolk, 10th Nov. 44 Edw. 1I1.* The quorum justices
were Roger de Meres and John de Fencotes.

The same year, Edmund de Gourney was to inquire into the ward-
ships, escheats, forfeitures, &c. concealed from the crown.

In 1370, he was one of the commissioners appointed to settle the dispute
between the inhabitants of Yarmouth and those of Leystoft, about annex-
ing Kirkley Road to the haven of Great Yarmouth.

The dispute in question originated in including Kirkley Road within
the limits of the port of Great Yarmouth, where many ships were at that
time obliged to unload, from the haven at Yarmouth being choked up.
After a suit of six years and great opposition, the inhabitants of Yarmouth
succeeded, as appears by a charter of Edw. III. for the union of the two
ports, in the 4th year of his reign, 1370.¢

In 1370 and 1374 Edmund de Gurney was at Lynn, and, with other
justices of the peace, held the sessions or gaol delivery there, as appears
by entries in the chamberlain’s account rolls in the possession of the Lynn
corporation. See App. LXIV.

In two fines he seems to have been a trustee for Clipesby; in 1373,
he presented, as feoffee in trust with others, to the church of Ryburgh
Magna® The same year he occurs as witness to a license granted by
William de Bardolf to the prior and convent of Norwich, to take in mort-
main certain lands and tenements holden of him. The Lord Morley, the
Lord Scales, and divers knights, &c. were witnesses along with him.”

Alienation of lands by mortmain is to any corporation, ecclesiastical or
temporal. From the constitutions of Clarendon, in the reign of Henry
II. to the time of Henry VIIL the statute book is full of enactments to
check gifts by mortmain ; which the clergy were constantly endeavouring

2 Pat. 44 Edw. IIL p. 1, m. 36 d. b Pat. p. 3, m. 6 d.

¢ Swinden’s History of Yarmouth. 4 Blomefield, in Yarmouth.
¢ Jnst. lib. fol. 19, Norris MSS.

f Reg. 1 Mun. Pr. et Con. penes Dec. et Cap. fol. 249 A, Norris MSS.
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to evade. The license necessary for this process originated in the feudal
restraints over the alienation of - lands ; and by statute 34 Edw. I. chap. 3,
the king’s license was not effectual without the consent of the mesne lord,
of which the present license of William Bardolf is an instance.*

The 47th Edw. III. 1373, Edmund Gourney was a commissioner to
inquire into the damages alleged to have been sustained by Hugh de
Fastolf, whose vessel the ‘ Seinte Marie” of Yarmouth, freighted with
wines from Gascony, and cast upon the shore nigh Kirkley Road, had
been unjustly seized as a wreck. Dated Westminster, 20 Feb.

In 1374 a fine was levied between Edmund Gurney and others, querents,
and Sir William Morley, knt. defendant, of the manor of Hingham, the
hundred of Forehowe, and the advowson of the church of Hingham, in
Norfolk, the right of Edmund Gurney, who granted to Sir William Morley
for life; John Harling held the hundred for life, with remainder to
Thomas son of William Morley® for life, and to Joan his wife for life.c

The lordship of all the hundreds was originally in the king, and the
sheriff of the county had charge of them. Matters spiritual as well as
temporal were tried in the hundred courts before the reign of William the
Conqueror; the archdeacon or rural dean presiding with the sheriffs.
Many hundreds were at different times granted away to subjects. The
fees of court-rents and payments from manors constituted the profits of
the hundred, which in some instances rose to a large amount. The half
hundred of Luddingland, in Suffolk, 34 Edw. 1., was valued at 100 marks
per annum ;* by the 2 Edw. III. chap. 12, the grants of hundreds to indivi-
duals were prevented for the future.® _

The same year Edmund Gurney presented as a feoffee with others to the
church of Wood Norton.

& Blackstone’s Commentaries, book ii. chap. 18.

b See Blomefield, vol. ii. p. 436, where he considers this Joan, wife of Thomas Morley, was
a Gournay. : ¢ Fine Norff. 48 Edward III. Norris MSS.

d Rymer’s Feedera, vol. ii. p. 1030, e Norris MSS. East Flegg, p. 2.

f Inst. fol. 30, lib. 6 ; Norris MSS.
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In 1375 he was a legatee of John Leeche of Egmere, parson of Mas-
singham Magna.* .

The same year he presented to the church of Garboldisham.®

The 49 Edw. III. (1375), Edmund Gourneye was one of the special
commissioners for trying the offenders who seized two boats or barges
laden with corn belonging to Sir Hugh Burnell and Sir William Kerdesden
at East Riston, dated in April.

The 49 Edward III., Edmund Gurney was in the commission of the
peace for Norfolk. Westminster, 4 February; the other justices being
Willelmus de Ufford, Earl of Suffolk, Willelmus Bardolf de Wirmegay,
Robertus de Morle, Johannes de Cavendish, Willelmus de Wychingham,
Robertus Howard, Johannes Holt, Johannes Harlyng, Willelmus Clere,
Reginaldus de Eccles, Johannes de Holkham.?

Edmund Gourney was in the special commission issued for the trial of
offenders who had made a forcible entry upon the manor of Stratton
belonging to Philippa widow of Guy de Beauchamp. Westminster, 28th
February.®

Edmundus de Gournay was one of the commissioners for inquiring into
frauds in relation to the collection of the customs. Westminster, 15th
February.

Edmundus de Gournaye was one of the justices appointed to try the
prior of Wyndham and his men, who are charged with having made a for-
cible entry on the lands of John de Clinton, at Windham, Hilburworth,
Babyngle, Topcroft. Westminster, 8 July.f

In 1376 he and Edmund de Clipesby granted to Simon, parson of St.
Mary-in-the-Marsh in Norwich, and Richard de Morley, chaplain, custos
or warden of the Charnel-house there, all their right, &c. in certain lands,
and a fold-course in a hamlet of Melton Magna, called Asegeres Thorpe,

* Reg, Hoydon, fol. 113; Norris MSS. b Blomefield.
¢ L 40 Bdward 1L wm 87 d d Pat. 49 Edw. III. m. 32 d.
o Pty 4 Edward 1L w97 d f Pat. 50 Edward IIL p. 8, m. 87.

# Pat, OO Fdward L po Lome 70
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which they had of the gift of John Hacon of Melton Magna aforesaid.
Dated 50 Ed. IIL*

In 1380 he presented as a feoffee to the church of Sculthorpe.®

In 1381 he presented alone in his own right to Thuxton.

In 1385 he was a legatee in the will of Sir John Howard, knt.d

In 1386 he presented as a feoffee to the church of Oxburgh.

Edmund Gurney died in 1387 ; his will is dated at West Barsham, on
Thursday the feast of the Ascension of our Lord in that year. He be-
queathed his body to be buried in the church of the Assumption of the
blessed Virgin in that town, and 8. to be distributed to the poor on his
burial day., Katharine his wife to have all her dower, and all his utensils
in the house, and her part of all his other goods ; appoints Osbert de Mun-
deford and Thomas Kemp his executors. Witnesses, William de Mildenhall,
Vicar of West Barsham, Nicholas de Barsham, &c. The will was proved
the same year.! (Appendix LXV.)

This will is given in Blomefield ; but in the time of Mr. Norris the part
of the register which contained it was utterly rotted and destroyed.f

By his wife, Katharine de Wauncy, he had issue—

John, his eldest son, who succeeded him ; and a second son, whom we
believe was named Robert; also a daughter Jeanne, married to Osbert
Mundeford of Hockwold, Esq. who was one of the executors of his will."

Edmund Gurney was a benefactor to West Dereham Abbey.! He also,
with others, gave lands in Ryburgh to the priory at Walsingham.*

* Carta inter Mun. Dec. et Cap. Norw. capsula quinta, Norris MSS.

b Inst. liber vi. fol. 70. Norris MS. ¢ Ibid. fol. 73. Norris MSS.

4 Blomefield. e Inst. liber vi, fol. 115. Norris MSS.
! Reg. Harsyke, fol. 34, in the Bishop's office at Norwich.

¢ Blomefield in West Barsham, vol. vii. p. 42. b Pedigree by Cook, Clarenceux, 1622.
! Taylor's Index Monasticus.

k Dugdale’s-Mon. vol. vi. p. 74.
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[PART m1.

APPENDIX LXIII

ON THE FAMILY OF DE WAUNCY,

The ancient family of Waunci or Wauncy is
undoubtedly of Norman origin. M. de la
Mairie,* the historian of Gournay, thinks it
likely they came from Wanchy or Vancy, a
place near Neufchatel, in Normandy, in the
department of the Seine Inférieure. This
family was seated at West Barsham in Norfolk
at the time of the Survey, when Hugo de
Wanci held that manor under the Earl Warren,
at which period it contained 4 carucates of land
in demesne, and 5 amongst the men, &c.; 3
acres of meadow, 4 mills, &c.; 6 socmen had
half a carucate, and 3 bordarers with 2 caru-
cates, and a church endowed with 100 acres of
land.4+ The De Wauncys also held a manor in
Denver, with lands in that neighbourhood, and
the manor of Depeden in Suffolk.

In the year 1085 Hugh de Wanci witnessed
the deed of William first Earl of Warren and
Surrey, by which he gave churches and lands
to Castle-Acre Priory.; Hugh de Wanci oc-
curs also in the deed of William second Earl of
Warren and Surrey, to the same foundation,
not merely as a witness, but also as giving
churches himself. The passage is as follows :

« Hugo quoque de Wanci dedit ecclesiam de
Depeden et terram que ad eam pertinet et de-
cimam ejusdem manerii. Ecclesiam de Bar-
sham cum terra ad eam pertinente, et decimam

* Supplement, p. 60.

4+ Domesday, vol. ii. p. 168.

Barsham, vol. vii. p. 42.
1 Dugdale's Monast. new edit. vol. v. p. 49.

Blomefield in West

manerii et tres socmannos ejusdem manerii ;
unum molendinum ad Illandam. Omnes quoque
homines sui francigene decimas suas dederunt,
scilicet, Willelmus Talebot, Osbernus de De-
nevella, Radulfus de Wanci, Euremundus, Ra-
dulfus Crispus, Goscelenus, Waleranus, Lect-
merus, Brungarus.”§ In a second charter of
the same Earl, confirming former gifts to
Castle-Acre, is a recitation of the above, with
this addition—* Et post obitum ipsius ( Hugonis
de Wanci) Radulfus filius ejus dedit molen-
dinum de ponte de Barsham et 3 cotarios et
60 acras brueriarum et tres socmannos ejusdem
manerii qui manent apud Snaringas. Omnes
quoque francigene sui decimas suas dederunt.
Hec omnia Radulfus et Rogerus filii ejus
posuerunt super altare S. Marie. Teste Ro-
gero dapifero, Petro Chanewicts, Ricardo de
Sancto Claro, Radulfo filio Hachene, Herelwino
de Paneworde, Gaufrido de Favarces, Willelmo
filio Lesteini.”||

Ralf de Wanci seems also to have had
another son, besides the Ralf and Roger men-
tioned in the charter, namely Hugh, who was
his heir, and therefore doubtless the eldest of
the three, who by deed sans date granted to
Castle-Acre Priory his land of West Barsham,
as Esmod or Osmod, his aunt, had granted it.
She was married to Philip de Vealtre, and had
given it to Castle-Acre ; but Hugh had entered
on it, and now granted it for the soul of Ralf

§ Dugdale's Monast. new edit. vol. v.p. 50. || Ibid.
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his father, and Osmod his aunt, the convent
giving him five marks, and two to his wife, on
his quitting claim to all the cattle, which he
took from the aforesaid land, valued at four
wmarks, which Osmod his aunt had left for her
soul, &c. Witnesses, Hugh de Gournay, Roger
de Stoatville, &c.* Walter de Waunci con-
firmed this gift of his father, and is probably
the same Walter who was summoned, the 26
Edw. 1., 1297, to perform military service
against the Scots : muster at Newcastle-upon-
Tyne, 1 on the feast of St. Nicholas, 6 Dec. But
Sir William de Waunci was the son and heir
of Sir Hugh, and was living in the time of
Henry III. in which reign he is enrolled among
the Suffolk knights.; By a writ dated at West-
minster, 30 Aug. 1293, Sir William de Waunci
is enjoined to repair with horses and arms to a
station on the sea-shore, either in Norfolk or
Suffolk,§ for the defence there against the
French, and to enforce the same service from
his tenants. Also to appear with horses and
arms before Edward the king’s son, and lieute-
nant in England, at Rochester, on Sunday the
Nativity of the Virgin, 8 September, 1297.|
In 1298 Dominus William de Wauncy was
returned knight of the shire for Norfolk, to
the Parliament summoned to meet at York,
Whitsuntide, 5 May (temp. Edward I.)q This
we take to be the son of the first William de
Wauncy, and the person to whom Giles de
Waunci granted the manors of West Barsham
and Depeden for life, remainder to William,
son of Sir William, and his heirs, remainder to

* Blomefield in West Barsham, quoting Reg. Castle
Acre, fol. 37.

4+ Parliamentary Writs, vol. i. p. 893.

$ Antiquarian Repertory, vol. i. p, 93.

§ Parliamentary Writs, ibid.

II Ibid, q Ibid.
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Walter, Edward, Thomas, Nicholas, Robert
and Hugh, sons of Sir William,*#

In the same reign (Edward I.) William de
Wauncy bad free warren in West Barsham.t+4

This William also was summoned in 13801,
from the counties of Norfolk and Suffolk, to
perform military service against the Scots :
muster at Berwick-upon-Tweed, on the Nativity
of Saint John the Baptist, 24th June.}}

The first year of Edward III he held the
eighth part of a fee in North Barsham of the
honor of Clare ; the heiress Joanna being then
wife of David de Strabolgi, Earl of Athol,§§
and probably died the same year.

His son, the third William, was knight of
the shire for Norfolk, 15 Edward III. ; and the
20th of the same King (1347) held one fee at
West Barsham, of the Earl of Warren.||||

Sir Edmund de Wauncy was lord of Depe-
den and West Barsham the 30th of Edward III.
He served in the wars in France, and had the
royal protection, being in the king’s service in
Gascoine. Y He died in 1372,* and was buried
in St. Mary's church at Bury, leaving an only
son Edmund, aged seven, who died soon after ;
upon which the two sisters of Sir Edmund be-
came his coheirs,—Katharine, married to Ed-
mund de Gurney, and Jobanna, wife of Sir
Nicholas Damory, knight, who had for her por-
tion Depeden in Suffolk, to the living of which,
as the widow of Sir Nicholas, she presented in
1397 ; but dying without issue, that manor, as

** Blomefield in West Barsham,

4+ Rotuli Hundredorum, 521.

1 Parliamentary Writs, ibid.

§§ Calend. Inquis. post mortem, 1 Edw. IIL. vol. ii.
p. 5.

Il Blomefield in West Barsham,

99 Rymer, vol. v. p. 849.

® Weever’s Fun. Monu. p, 781,
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well as those of West Barsham and Denver in
Norfolk, all of the inheritance of the De
Wauncys, reverted to the Gourneys.

In a roll of arms of
the reign of Edw. III.
is % Monsire Daumary
porte, Undé argent et
gules de vi. peeces ;"*
in a roll of Edward II.
«Sir Richard Ammori,
Oundéede argentet de
goules.”

¢ Sire Roger Ammori
meisme les arms a une
bende desable,”+ occur
in the list of Oxford-
shire knights. We
presume these to be
the same family as Sir
Nicholas Damory, knt.

LAY,

Ay
W

given, as Gules, six dexter hands erect, 3,2, 1;
and in a roll of the time of Edward IL,§ in
Suffolk, « Sire William de Wauncy, De goules, a
vi. gaunz de argent.” Gules, 3 dexter gloves

DAUMARY, OR AMMORI.

AMMORI.

* Roll of Arms, pub. by Nicolas, page 39.
+ Ibid. of Edw. II. p. 28,
§ Pub, by Nicolas, p, 42,

EDMUND DE GURNEY.

[®ART. 11.

Sir Willism de
Wauncy seals with a
splayed falcon in a
scutcheon ;3 and the
Gurneys in the armo-
rial pedigree at Wal-
singham always quar-
ter for Wauncy,Gules,
a displayed falcon ar-
gent. In the windows of West Barsham
church remain the
arms of De Wauncy,
Gules, 8 dexter gloves
pointing  downwards,
argent ; the gants, or
gloves, being probably
an heraldic pun on the
name Gauncy or
Wauncy.

In the list of Norfolk knights before alluded
to, the arms of Sir William de Wauncy are

Wh
b

argent, was impaled by Edmund Gurney in the
window of the hall of Gurney’s Place in
Norwich.

There were other branches of this family in
different parts of England.

1 Norris MSS. Church Collect. West Barsham. Sir
Henry Spelman, Gurney Pedigree, see p. 817.
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Robert de Wauncy witnessed King John's
deed of the exchange of the Andeleys ; and, in
the time of Henry IIL, Robert de Wauncy held
the manors of Astwell and Fancote, in North-
amptonshire.* It appears Sir Edmund de
Wauncyt held these manors in the reign of
Edward I.

In the list of knights
in Northamptonshire,
in the time of Edward
IL, is « Sire Robert de
Wauncy, De sable, a
iii. gauns de argent.” {

The same person, or
at least a Robertus de
Wauncy, died seized

of the manor of Astwell, the 8th Edward II.§
See Collectanea Topographica, vol. iv. p. 223,
where is a deed of Robert, son and heir of
Robert de Wauncy, concerning Morton Pinkney
and Astwell, without date, but of the time of
Edward II. or III.

® Testa de Neville.

t Playfair's English Baronetage, vol. vii. p. 685.
1 Nicolas's Edit. p. 66.

§ Calend. Inquis. post mortem, vol. i, p. 257.

SEE PAGE 320,
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This branch of the
Wauncys is repre-
sented by the present
Sir Arthur Broke,
Bart., of Oakley, in
that county, whose an-
cestors quartered for
de Wauncy, Gules,
three falconer'’s gloves w,uxcy, 4s quanreEmED
argent, tasseled or. BY BROKE.

Geoffry de Wauncy held lands in Oxon
and Wilts and other places in the reign of
Edward L ;|| and the 84th Henry III., Nicholas
de Wauncy was sheriff q of Sussex and Surrey,
in which counties he held lands.**

From the coats of de Wauncy being a falcon,
and three falconer’s gloves, I have thought it
possible they were grand falconers to the Earls
of Warren. The Grosvenors were the grand
huntsmen, gros veneurs, to the Earls of
Chester.

|| Abbrev, Rot. Orig. 13 Edw.I. Calend. Inquis.
post mortem 4 Edw, III. vol. ii. p. 34. Testa de
Neville, Oxon and Bucks,

q Abbrev. Rot. Orig. 34 Henry III.

** Rot. Hundredorum com. Sussex, hund. de Schepe-
lake, Edw. I.

[rPEDIGREE
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EDMUND DE GURNEY.

[PART 11

PEDIGREE OF DE WAUNCY.

Hueo pE Wauncy, held West Barsham at the Survey, witnessed the 1st Earl of Warren

.N.

charter to Castle-Acre 1085 ; gave the churches and tithes of Depeden and West Barsham

to Castle-Acre in the time of the 2nd Earl Warren.

Ru'.v PR WauNcI, before 1138 confirmed his father's gifts=N. N.

to Castle-Acre, he being dead, and gave gifts himself.

RooEr, who placed on RaLp. Sir Hvar b Waunct, Lord of N, N.
West Barsham and Dep

d d King John's deed in Nor-

Osiun, mar. Philip de Vealtr(;, and gave land
at West Barsham to Castle-Acre Priory.

RoBeERT DE WaNc1, who wit-==......

the altar of St. Mary
at Castle-Acre their
father's gifts.

mud his aunt.

confirmed to Castle-Acre the
gifts of Ralf his father and Os-

mandy, Lord of Astwell and Fan-

cote in Northamptonshire, temp.
Henry 111, and Edw. I.

I T T
NicHoLas, mar. Alice Danmartin, Sir WiLL1AM DE WauNcI, Lord of West3=N. N. Epuuxp pe Wau
Barsham and Depeden, living temp.
‘WALTER, confirmed his father’s gift Henry III.; summoned to do service
on the Coast, 21 Edw. I.

15th Ed. I. (Blomefield 7, p. 255).

to Castle Acre.

senes

Lord of Astwell and

GiLEs DE WaNCI, gave to Sir
William de Waunci Depeden
and West Barsham, remainder
to his sons.

‘Wauxcr, Knight
of the Shire for
Norf. 26 Edw. 1.

WAlL‘l"EBI, (Izlericu. R:)B;;R‘l‘, Clericus. W:LLIAI DE Waunct, of West Bar=FN. N.
sham, and Depeden, Knight of the] line by 8Sir Arthur Broke,

Epwarp. Huan, Rector of
THOMAS, Harpley.
NicHoLas.

shire for Norfolk 15 Edw. III. died
before 30 of the same, 1357.

Sir \'\?Luu( pE+N. N. Isu:st'., wife of Adam Waleis, ROBERT DE WaUN==....

or Wales, Esq. of Dalham. c1, seized of Ast-

Euma, wife of —— Depden. well manor 8 Ed-

ward II.

Represented in the female

Bart. of Oakley in Nor-
thamptonshire.

JOI;ANE, wife of Sir Knn'mmz, wife of Edmund de Gur- Sir Enu'uxn DE WauNc1, Lord of DepedenSJoax

Nicholas Damory,

ney, had issue, and carried the inherit-

and West Barsham 30th Edw. IIL.; in the

Kat. s. p. ance of the Wauncis to the Gurneys.  King's wars in France; ob. 46 Edw. III.
EDI:UND DE WAUNCI, seven years old when his father died; died himself soon after.
COPIES OF DEEDS OF THE FAMILY OF DE WAUNCY.
No. 1. No. 3.
Fundatores Ecclesie de Castleacre. Hugo de Wancy concedit monachis de Acra
» * . . b . terram de Trichestan,{ cum ecclesia ejusdem

Dominus Hugo Vaunsy dedit ecclesiam et
maneria de West Barsham.*

No. 2.

Hugo de Wancy concedit monachis de Acra
xiii. acras de terra arabili simul in una cultura
ante portam monachorum apud Barsham. f.
38.

® Harl, 970, p. 65. + Ibid. p. 61.

ville, sicut Osmud amita sua eandem terram
ecclesie in elemosinam perpetuam dedit. Hane
donationem fecit pro anima Radulfi de Wancy
patris sui, et pro anima ipsius Osmud amite
sue. Testes, Hugo de Gornay, Reginaldus
de Warren, Rogerus de Stuteville, Radulfus
de Roseto, &c. 38.

1 Threxton,
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No. 4.

Walter de Wancy concedit monachis de Acra
4 acras de terra arabili in campis de West Bar-
sham, in cultura una apud Lusethorn - versus
Meridiem. Concedit etiam eis ut in perpetuum
habeant ix™ oves in eadem villa, et ut com-
municent in tota communi pastura ejusdem
ville et in tota pastura quam habuit in brueria
versus Crece. Teste, Radulfo de Wancy, milite,
&c. 38.

No. 5.

Gift of the Advowson and Lands at West
Barsham to the Priory of Castleacre, by
William de Wauncy.

Noverint omnes, &c. presens scriptum visuri
vel audituri, quod ego Willelmus de Wancy,
filius et heres Domini Radulfi de Wancy mili-
tis, concessi, remisi, et omnino in perpetuum
quietum clamavi, pro salute anime mee et om-
pium antecessorum et successorum meorum,
Deo et ecclesie beate Marie de Castleacre et
monachis ibi Deo servientibus et in perpetuum
servituris, totum jus ac clamam quod habui, seu
quolibet modo vel jure habere potui, in advoca-
tione ecclesie de West Barsham, cum tribus
petiis terre jacentibus in campis memorate
ville, sive in illis contineatur plus sive minus,
quarnm una jacet apud Prestes meer et
alia apud Longfurlong, et tertia apud Hunes-
cros, juxta regalem viam, sine aliquo re-
tenemento mihi vel heredibus meis seu quibus-
cumque successoribus nostris preterquam com-
mumes participationes orationum et eleemosina-
rum que fiunt et fient in dicta domo de
Castleacre in perpetoum. In cujus rei testi-
monio huic scripto sigillum meum apposui.
His testibus, Domino Johanne Extraneo milite,
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Domino Johanne de Dunham, magistro Johanne
de Pague, &c. et multis aliis. Fol. 5, chart. 34.%

No. 6.

Deed of Gift of Giles de Vauncy of the
Manors of West Barsham and Depeden,
to William de Vauncy and his Sons.

Sciant, &c. Ego Egidius de Vauncy con-
cessi Willelmo de Vauncy militi ad totam vitam
suam maneria de West Barsham et Depeden
cum omnibus suis pertinentiis, et post decessum
predicti Domini Willelmi militis Willelmo filio
predicti Domini Willelmi et heredibus suis de
se legitime procreatis ; contingente autem pre-
dictum Willelmum filium Domini Willelmi de
Vauncy militis sine herede de se legitime pro-
creato in fata discedere, volo ego prefatus Egi-
dius quod manerium predictum cum omnibus
suis pertinentiis remaneat Waltero de Wancy,
fratri predicti Willelmi filii predicti Willelmi de
Vauncy militis, et heredibus suis de se legitime
procreatis; contingente autem predictum Wal-
terum de Vauncy sine herede, &c. tunc
Eduardo de Vauncy et heredibus suis; contin-
gente autem, &c. tunc Thome de Vauncy
fratri predicti Eduardi, &c. ; contingente autem,
&c. tunc Nicholao fratri predicti Thome, &c.
contingente autem Nicholao, &c. tunc Roberto
fratri predicti Nicholai; contingente autem
predictum Robertum, &c. tunc Hugoni de
Vauncy fratri predicti Roberti; contingente
autem predictum Hugonem de Vauncy, &c.
quod maneria predicta cum omnibus suis perti-
nentiis revertantur mihi predicto Egidio de
Vauncy et heredibus meis. Lib. de Castle-
acre, fol. 137.4

* Harl. 970, p. 55.
1 Gibbon's Coll. MS. Harl. 970, p. 24.
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No. 7.
Memorandum from the Norris M.S'S. respect-
ing the Manors of Waest Barsham, &c.

M4, That Sir William Wancye, the last of
the four (mentioned in the first of the motes
endorsed upon the copy of the deed hereunto
annexed), was the same Sir Willm, Wancye
who in A°. 31°. Edwar. tertii was owner of the
manor of West Barsham, in Norf¥, together
with the manor of Depden, in Suff. and there
held those two manors of the manor of Castle
Acre, in Norff. by knight’s service ; as by some
of the evidences of the sayd manor of West Bar-
sham appeareth. And it seemeth that the same
Sir Will» Wancye was the last of that name
and house, because he dyed wtbout issue male,
havinge only thoo doughters & coheires, named
Katheryne & Johane, which Katheryne was
married to Edmund Gurnay, to whome the
sayd Sir William Wancye granted an annuity
of 100 marks per ann’'m, in fee, out of his
manors of West Barsham and Depden ; and
afterwards co’veyed or gave the inheritance of
the manor of West Barsham to the sayd Ed-
mund Gurnay, as appeareth by the two subse-
quent notes, one of a polle deed, the other of a
lease, copied out of the evidences of the sayd
manor of West Barsham, by Clement Paman,
of Chevington, in the county of Suffolk, gent.
as followeth:—

By a polle deed, written in Fr[enc]h, dated
at West Barsham, le demaighn [prochaine]
apres la féte de saynt Matthie, I'an du reign le
Roy Edward Tierre pr'sla conqueste trente et
primere, Will'm de Wancye, cheval’er, done et
grant a Edmon Gurnay, Baron, Kather[inJe
ma file, et ses heires, du annu’ll rent de cent
marcs de argent app’ndre annu’lment des mes
manoyrs de . . . . Barsham et Devenere.

EDMUND DE GURNEY.

[eART 1.

In an indenture of lease made between Ed-
mund Gurnay & one Harry Woodhard, smyth,
the same Edmund is called lord of the manor
of West Barsham, and the lease is made for
one hundred and fourscore years, and is dated
at West Barsham, die Sab’ti prox. post fest.
Ste. Petronille Virginis A°. Regni Regis Ed-
wardi tertii post Conquestum quinquagesimo
primo.

Md. That the foresayd Johane the other
daughter and coheir of the sayd Sir Willm
Wancye had the said manor of Depden either
conveyed, gyven, or leased to descend unto her,
which Johane was married unto Sir Nicholas
Dammery, knight, as is mentioned in the sayd
indorced notes hereunto annexed.

Md. That upon the xxiii day of March, 1615,
et A°. Regis Jacobi Anglie, &c.xiii’. the foresayed
Clement Paman rode to Little Ellingham in
Norff. and there viewed & p’used the evidences,
writings, and copies of records remaining in the
hands of Martha Gurnay, widow, late wife .of
Thomas Gurnay, esq. deceased, lord of the ma-
nor of West Barsham above mentioned, to the
end he might know the tenure of the lands of
the sayd Thomas Gurnay, who, lately dyeing,
left his sonne and heir, of th’ age of five years
or there about, for whom an office was to be
p'sently found; amongst which writings the
sayd Clement Paman found the several tenures
of the manors of West Barsham, Depden, &
Castle Acre, and the deed and indenture above
recited, and took notes thereout with his own
hand, being as are above written, which notes
were read & written verbatim, as is above ex-
pressed, by Thomas Burby, of Depden, gent.,
when the sayd Clement Paman was returned
home to Chevington. In witness whereof the
said Thomas Burby & Clement Paman hereto
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have put their hands the third day of April,
16186, the xiiith year of his Maj. reign.
Tuo. Bursy.
CLEMENT PAMAN,

Fisfs of the Wauncys in the Clackclose
Hundred.

FINCHAM.

Willelmus de Wancy et tenentes sui octo
feoda in Depden, Barsham, Denvere, Dunham,
Derham, Fordham, Lirling, Methwold, Fincham
et North Barsham.*

F. com’ Pembr. tent. de Castro de Acre.

Esch. A°. 170 Ed. 2di.

Willelmus Wauncy tenet octo feoda in Dep-
den, Denvere, Downham, Derham, Fordham,
Lirling,Methwold, Fincham, et North Barsham.+

Feoda mil. com. Lanc.

Esch. A°. 1° E. 8.

" -.Johannes Talbot tenet in Pfyncham unum
feodum militis de Willelmo de Wauncy, et idem
de Comite Warrenne et Comite Radulfo, quod
‘Adam Talboth quondam tenuit. xls.

Inquis. A°. 20 E. 3.

David de Strabolgi Earl of Athol, died A"
46 E. 3, seised of 8 knight's fees in Wym-
botesham, Depeden, Barsham, Denvere, Doun-
ham, Derham, Lyrlynge, Methwold, Fincham
and North Barsham, now held by William de
Wanysy.§ .

Esch. A% 1 R. 2, n. 164.

FORDHAM.

Petrus de Spalding tenet in Denvere, Helgey,
Dounham, Fordham, et Dereham, unum feodum
militis de Willelmo Wauncy, et idem de Comite
Warrennm, et ille de Rege.||

Inquis. temp. Hen. 3.

APPENDIX LXIV.

CHAMBERLAIN'S ACCOUNTS AT LYNN, TEMP, EDW. IIIL

Edmund Gurney was employed at Lynn in the gaol deliveries there the 44th, 46th, and 48th
Edw. IIL. (1370, 1872, 1374), as appears by the chamberlain’s account rolls, the Lynn corpora-
tion not having the privilege of gaol delivery before the reign of James I. The following are
the extracts from the accounts where Edmund Gurney is mentioned. '

44 Epw. III.

Gifts and expenses of the justices. The
same (the chamberlain’s) account for 20s. given
Roger Meres, justice of our lord the king.
Also for 4l. given John de Berney and Edmund

* Addit, MSS, No. 8839, fol. 78.
+ Fol. 74.

Doii et expent just. Idm comp de
xx¢, dat Rog Meres just diii Regis, Item
de iiijli, dat Joki Berneye et Edo Gur-
nay justiciaf pacis et arraiat homifi ad
1t Fol. 75. § Fol. 76.

I Fol. 98.

3c
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Gurnay, justices of the peace, and the arrayed
men at arms. Also for 6s. 8d. given two
clerks of the same justices. Also for 3s. 4d.
given John, son of John de Berney. Also for
6d. given their cryer. Also for 17s. 8d. paid
for the expenses of the same justices for 2 days.

EDMUND DE GURNEY.

"[PART 11.

arma. I¥m de vjs. viijd. dat duobs clicis
eopdm justic, Itm de iijs. iiijd. dat Johi
fit Johis de Berneye. Itm de vjd. dat
pclamatof eop. Itm de xvije. iijd. sot p
expn8 eopdm justi€ p duos dies.

46 Epw. III.

Gifts. Also for 18d. expended in sweet and
red wine upon Edmund Gurnay. Also for
10}4. in wine upon the seneschal of Lynn, in
the presence of the mayor. And for 8d.in
wine expended on the said semeschal and Ed-
mund Gurnay.

Exhenn. Itm de xviijd. expii in vino
dulé et rub sup Edi Gurnay. Itm de
xd. ob in vino expii sup senes¢ Lenn in
Psent majof. Et de viijd. in vino expii
sup d¢m sefi et Edfi Gurnay.

48 Epw. III.

And for 124. paid to a certain man carrying
the mayor’s letter to Edmund Gurnay, for the
having his advice concerning those imprisoned
for a disturbance of the peace. And for 2. 2d.
paid for wine expended in the presence of the
said Edmund, for the aforesaid cause. And for
6s. 8d. customary money paid for wine ex-
pended in the presence of the said Edmund and
others, worthy men of the town, another time
for the same cause. And for 20d. customary
money paid Edmund Gurnay, for holding the
sessions for the delivery of the said prisoners.
And for 8s. 4d. customary money paid and
given John Sewall, clerk of the justices of the
peace, for the aforesaid cause.

Et de xijd. solut cuidam gerent iram
majoris Ediiio Gurnay p concit suo hiido
sup imp'sonatis caus pturbacdis pacis. Et
de ijs. ijd. solut p vino expen? in Psenc
déi Ediii causa pdict. Et de vs. viijd.
cont sot P vii expfi in Psené dci Edih
et al valid ville at vice causa pdéa. Et
de xxs. con¥ solut Edm& Gurnay p cessioii
faciend ad dGos impsonat liband. Et de
iijs. iiijd. con3 sot et dat Johi Sewall ctico
justic pacis causa pdicta.

The documents of the borough of Lynn are well preserved ; the ancient charters exist, and a

considerable number of account rolls, from some of which the extracts above are taken.

The

transactions of the communitas, or corporation, are contained in the Hall Books, ‘which are
nearly complete in an uninterrupted series from the reign of Edward I.
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APPENDIX LXV.

On the Registration of Wills.

The separation of the temporal and ecclesi-
astical courts by William the Conqueror, was
the origin of courts purely ecclesiastical in this
country. Amongst others were the prerogative
courts of the archbishops and bishops, arch-
deacons, &c. for the trial of testamentary causes:
hence the registration of wills at these courts,
according to their several jurisdictions.

After the Norman conquest the conveyance
of land by will or otherwise was limited by the
solemn form of transferring it by livery of
seisin (for the particulars of which ceremony
see Blackstone, book ii. chap. 20), and by the
grand restraints on alienation of land of the
feudal system.

By a clause in Magna Charta, the will of the
deceased was to be performed after payment of
the debts of the crown.*

Wills became more general soon after the
time of Edward I, At the Prerogative Office
of the Bishop of Norwich, the earliest will
recorded is in 1370 ; in that of the Archbishop

, ¥ Turner's Hist. of England, vol. i. p. 421.

of Canterbury, in Doctors’ Commons, the
earliest is in 1383,

In the red register of Lynn, the earliest cor-
poration book there, are numerous wills regis-
tered before the mayor and an official, probably
of the Bishop of Norwich, capital lord of the
manor. The earliest of these Lynn wills is of
the date 1309.

Statutes, 31 Edw. IIL stat. 1, ch. 4; 4
Hen. V. stat. 2, ch. 8; 21 Hen. VIIIL. ch. 5;
were passed, restraining the exactions of the
clergy in fines on the registering of wills, as
great jealousy existed on that head.

Anciently the testament and last will were
two distinct instruments; in the former, the
personal estate was disposed of ; in the latter,
the real. By directions given to the feoffees,
this latter was often omitted in the registers.

The wills at the various register offices afford
the most authentic genealogical information ;
and many of them are of great interest in throw-
ing light on the manners and habits of our
ancestors.

(See preface to Nicolas’s Testamenta Ve-
tusta.)
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SoN and heir of Edmund Gourney, is styled of West Barsham and of
Baconsthorpe.

In 1387, being the year of his father’s death, he presented to the church
of Harpley ; in 1388 he presented to Thuxton ; in 1389 again to Harpley.*

This John de Gurnay was seneschal, for the parts of Norfolk, to Richard
Fitzalan, Earl of Arundel and Surrey; and, in the 9th Richard II. 1386,
was ordered by the said earl to inquire what loss would occur to him by
the gift of Belet’s manor in Marham® to the abbess and nuns there. See
a copy of the deed from Marham Chartulary. (Appendix LXVI.)

This John married Alice, daughter and coheir of John de Heylesdon,
and of Joan his wife, sometime before the 19th Richard II. (1396) ; for in
that year a fine was levied between John Winter and others, querents, and
John Gurney and Alice his wife, defendants, of the manors of Heylesdon
and Drayton, with the advowsons of the churches there, and advowson of
the chantry in the said church of Heylesdon, and advowson of the moiety
of the church at Taverham, which Sir John Seyton, knight, and Joan his
wife (probably the widow of John de Heylesdon), held for the life of the
said Joan, of the inheritance of the said Alice;® which fine was in order to
some settlement thereof. (Appendix LXVIL.) -

In 1398 he presented to the church of Drayton, in which place he has
the addition of Domicellus,? a title more than equivalent to armiger.

* Blomefield, in Harpley. b Blomefield, vol. vii. p. 879.
¢ Fines Norff. 19 Richard II. vol. ii. p. 208; Norris MSS.

d Domicellus—* Rex militibus, domicellis, et aliis tenentibus suis,” &c. anno 1279 : by this
it appears that Domicellus was inferior to Miles (Rymer’s Faedera, vol. ii. p. 181.; Norris MSS.
Miscellaneous Papers). Sir H. Spelman explains this word * optimatis primogenitus,” Glossary.
In ancient French, damoiseau. (See Preface to Noms Feodaux ; Paris, 1826, page xi.)

e Norris MSS. Tunstead p. 55.
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Sir Henry Spelman says he was an ambassador from Richard II. into
France, ¢ as appeareth by the seal of the same king.*” By this probably
is meant some special mission to the French king. :

.The first of Henry IV. (1399-1400), he was sheriff for the counties® of
Norfolk and Suffolk ;° from which circumstance we conclude him to have
been of the Lancastrian party in the contest between the White and Red
Rose, as it was not likely the king would name any one to the influential
post of sheriff of Norfolk and Suffolk who was not his own partizan.

In 1401 he again presented to the church of Drayton; the same year he
appears as feoffee in the manor of Horsford.? This year also he occurs by
the name of John de Gournay of Baconsthorpe, where he was lord of the
manor of Wood-hall.* The 2nd Henry IV. he re-leased to Hugh Bavent
all his right in the messuage and 44 acres of land in Harpley, formerly
Alice Bavent's, wife of Richard Bavent. The 3rd Henry IV. (1402), when
the aid f was to be raised for marrying the king’s eldest daughter, Blanch,
it was found by inquisition that this John de Gourney, together with Wil-
liam de Calthorpe, held a knight’s fee in Harpley, of the Earl of Arundel,
and the earl of the king.e At the same time it was also found that he
held in Baconsthorpe a quarter of a fee of Robert FitzOsbert, and he of

2 Spelman MSS. Gourney Pedigree, see p. 817.
> The sheriffalty of Suffolk was joined to Norfolk until the year 1575.
¢ List of Norfolk Sheriffs in Fuller’s Worthies.
d Carta dat. 2 Henry IV. penes Dom. ejusdem manerii. Norris MSS.
¢ Reg. Harsyke, fol. 276 a ; Norris MSS. in the will of Roger, Rector of Town Berningham.
! The feudal aids were three—
1st. To ransom the person of the lord, if taken prisoner.
2nd. To make the lord’s eldest son a knight, which was a matter of great expense.
8rd. To marry the lord’s eldest daughter by giving a suitable portion. (Blackstone,
book ii. p. 63.)
In this case the King, Henry IV. as supreme lord, demanded this last species of aid of his tenants
(which was levied dccording to the rate of fees held by them) without the intervention of Parlia-
ment, as by ancient usage and the statute 25 Edward III. stat. 5, chap. 11, he was entitled to do;
notwithstanding which this tax gave great dissatisfaction. (Rapin’s History of England, vol. i.
p. 492.) Blanche, daughter of Henry IV. married Lewis of Bavaria.
¢ Feod. Norff. p. 3, No. 29; Norris MSS. E
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the heir of Richard de la Rokeby, and he of Thomas Mowbray, &c., the
king’s ward, under age.* Also, that he held in Saxthorpe, Corpusty, and
Ermingland, the fourth part of a fee of the Lady Cromwell, heir of Tatter~
shall, and the lady of the king.® Also, that he held in Hardingham, one fee
of Sir Thomas Bardolf, and he of the king.c Also, that he held in West
Barsham one knight's fee of the honour of Castle Acre, which the Earl of
Arundel held of the king in capited Also, that he held in North Bar-
sham half a kiight's fee of the said honour of Castle Acre. In the same
year it is elsewhere said that he held half a knight’s fee in Heylesdon,
Drayton, &c.f sometime of Walter de Barnham, he of the Earl of Hereford,
and the earl of the king in capite.

In 1403 he again presented to the church of Thuxton ; and the same year
as a feoffee, with others, to the church at Pensthorpe.

In 1404 he was one of the knghts of the shire for Norfolk, at the Par-
liament held at Coventry, 6th October, 5th Henry IV.; this was that
Parliament stigmatised by the clergy with the name of “ Parliamentum
indoctum,” because the Commons endeavoured to set some bounds to the
enormous wealth and avarice of churchmen.¢

This Parliament met in the great chamber of the Priory at Coventry.
It is said that the king, in the writs of summons, commanded none to be
returned but such as were unlearned; whence it was called the Illiterate
Parliament. It is certain that the court had laboured to cause such repre-
sentatives to be chosen as were not too much prepossessed in favour of
the clergy. The Commons went in a body to the king, and addressed him,
that, to supply his extraordinary aid, they recommended his seizing the
revenues of the clergy without burthening his people. They set forth that
the clergy possessed a third part of the lands of the kingdom, and, not
doing the king any personal service, it was just they should contribute to

a Feod. Norff. p. 8, No. 4 ; Norris MSS, b Ibid. p. 9, No. 17; Norris MSS.
¢ Ibid. p. 38, No. 9; Norris MSS. d Ibid. p. 49, No. 16; Norris MSS.
e Tbid. No. 20; Norris MSS.

f Heron MSS. cited by Kirkpatrick in his MSS.; Norris in Tunstead.
*8 Nogris MSS. ; Tunstead, p. 57.
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the pressing necessities of the state, &c. The king so received this address
-a8 plainly showed it was not disagreeable to him ; but, the Archbishop of
Canterbury interfering, Henry was obliged to yield to his instances ; upon
which the Commons passed a bill to seize the revenues of the clergy, but
the Archbishop and the rest of the clergy were so prevalent with the Lords,
that they threw out the bill.

Sir Henry Spelman mentions having seen the accounts of John de
Gourney, and their evidence as sheriff and knight of the shire.*

The 6th Henry IV. (1405), he sued the duchy of Lancaster for the
common called Southlings, to have free warren there, as his separate soil
and part of his lordship of West Barsham, and that his father Edmund was
possessed of it. This cause was put off by the king’s letters, because this
John was one of the knights of the shire for the county of Norfolk in the
Parliament held at Coventry in the said 6th year; but in the 7th year it
was adjudged against Gurney, the said common of Southlings being in
the point of South Creke parish, and belonging to the duchy of Lancaster ;
and John Gurney was bound to the king in 500 marks not to claim any
right there hereafter, as not being within the lete of his manor of West
Barsham.®

In 1406 an inquisition “ ad quod damnum "¢ was issued at his suit,
touching the manors of Burnham, Swanton-Novers, Branche’s Manor in
Wyveton, Erpingham and Wickmere manors; but for what purpose does
not appear.d

The same year John de Gourney and others gave to the Prior and Con-
vent of Walsingham certain lands, with the appurtenances, in Brunham,
alias Burnham, in Norfolk.®

In the 9th Henry IV. he had an interest in the manor of Hempstead in
Happing.

a8 Spelman, Gurney Pedigree. b Blomefield, in West Barsham.

c The writ “ ad quod damnum ” was marked by the statute 27 Edw. L. stat. 2, as a method of
obtaining the king’s licence for alienating lands by mortmain or otherwise.

d Inquis. ad quod dam. 7 Hen, IV. No. 28. Vincent's MS. p. 271. Norris MSS.

¢ Harl. MSS. Cal. Inquis. ad quod dam. 7 Hen. IV. p. 355. Dugdale’s Monast. vol. vi. p74.
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John de Gourney, being in right of Alice his wife lord of the manors of
Heylesdon and Drayton, was the first who began to build a bridge over
the river Wensum, at Heylesdon, 9th Henry IV, (1408); but the corpora-
tion of Norwich, apprehensive that their tolls might by that means be
lessened, solicited and procured a writ from the King, directed to the said
John de Gourney, in which writ is recited, “ that whereas the king had
been given to understand that the said John was about to build a bridge
¢ de novo’ over the water between the towns of Heylesdon and Earlham,
&c. for all his subjects to pass over, which might be to the great damage
of the tolls of the citizens of Norwich, therefore he was thereby ordered
to forbear until the matter should be discussed before the King's Council :
¢ teste apud Maydestone, 13° Martii, anno Regis nono.’”*

No bridge being over the Wensum at Heylesdon, we suppose great
traffic was thrown into Norwich by persons going from the country north
of that city to the parts lying south of the Wensum. Tolls at the gates of
fortified and chartered cities were general, which accounts for the citizens
opposing the erection of this bridge. '

Whether John de Gournay lived to receive this writ may be doubted, as
he died the same year ; Mr. Norris asserts before the 25th March, 1407-8.

Sir Henry Spelman mentions his will in French, and his seal attached
to it, a cross engrailed. It is also mentioned in the Vitis Calthorpiana,
Harl. 970, p. 50. ¢ Joh. Gorney's will, 9 Hen. IV. de maneriis de West
Barsham, North B., Houghton, Harpley, Denver, Baconsthorpe, Hamp-
stead, & Saxthorpe, et de manerio de Depeden, in com. Suff.”

We have not discovered this will in any of tlie offices for proving wills
where it was likely to be found.

He had no children, but was succeeded by Thomas Gurnay, his nephew.
Alice, his wife, survived him, and had an interest in some of his manors
for life : she held her first court at Harpley, for that manor, on Thursday
before the Exaltation of the Holy Cross, 10 Henry IV. 1409.> Not long
after, she became the wife of Sir John Wiltshire, knight, who in her right

* Liber Cartar. et Plac. Norw. Kirkpatrick MSS. Coll. quoted by Norris.
b Blomefield, in Harpley.
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held not only the manors of Heylesdon and Dreyton, which were her own
inheritance, but also Thuxton and some other places of the inheritance of
the Gourneys, amongst others Depeden in Suffolk, to which he presented
in 1422.

Sir John Wiltshire died at Heylesdon, in the beginning of the year
1428.* And Alice, surviving him, seems to have taken a third husband,
Richard Selling, Esq. who was lord of Heylesdon in right of Alice his wife,
9 and 11 Henry VI. (1431—1433.)®

In the church at Heylesdon was a brass in Mr. Norris's time, which
perhaps was placed to the memory of this Alice de Heylesdon ; it bore this
inscription :—

Here leyeth Alice Hellisdon,
On whos soule Jesu have mercy.

Having had three husbands, her epitaph might be in her maiden name.

* Reg. Surflete, F 27 a. b Kirkpatrick MSS. quoted by Norris.
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APPENDIX LXVI.

Order of Richard Earl of Arundell and :

Surrey to his Seneschal John de Gourney l
(V.) concerning the manor called Beletes
in Marham, from a strip of parchment
attached to the 60th page of the Register
of Marham Abbey, from the muniments of
Sir Thomas Hare, Bart.

Dominus Ricardus Arundell et de Surr,
mandavit literas suas Johanni Gurnay suo
senescallo in partibus Norfolcie ad inquiren- .
dum et certificandum eidem domino et suo
concilio ad quod dampnum esset eidem domino
et heredibus suis si licenciaret Ricardo Holdich |,
et Johanni Clenchewarton dare manerium voca-
tum Beletes cum pertinentiis in villa de Marbam :
abbatisse et monialibus de Marham et suis suc-

cessoribus imperpetuum ; et tunc virtute cujus
predictus Johannes Gurnay seneschallus cepit
quandam inquisitionem per sacramentum
Georgii atte Latbe, Johannis de Wesenham,
Roberti atte Grende de Fyncham, Roberti
Atte Gannok, Jobannis Fox, Ade Thornekyn,
Johannis Waak, Thome de Bokenham, Wil-
lelrei de Ty!lington, Johannis Garnet, Johannis
Massag’ et Willelmi Grigge, qui dicunt per
sacramentum suum quod non est ad dampaum
domino nec alicui alio licet dictum manerium
cum pertinentiis fuerit datum abbatisse et mo-
nialibus de Marbam. Item dictum manerium
teneri domino comiti in capite in puram et per-
petuam elemosynam et quod valet per annum
in omnibus exitibus 10 marcas.*

APPENDIX LXVIIL

ON THE FAMILY OF DE HEYLESDON.

The de Heylesdons, the heiress of which |
family married John de Gournay (V.), appear to !
have been wealthy citizens of Norwich and of
London. Henry de Heylesdon was one of the !
bailiffs of Norwich in 1261 ; and in 1272, in |
consequence of disturbances in the city, the ,
then bailiffs were superseded by Henry III. .
who came to Norwich in order to restore order ;
and Henry de Hellesdon was one of four cus-
todes of the city then named by the king ; he

also occurs as one of the bailiffs in 1307.
Peter Heylesdon was in the same office in
1268. Richard de Heylesdon, the 36th Ed-
ward IIL. (1362), is styled citizen of London,
and was father of John de Heylesdon of Lon-

. don, and who was bailiff of London in 1379.

He was a citizen of Norwich, made his will

| April 14, 1384, and desires to be buried in the

* Temp. circa 9 Richard II. (1386). See Blome-
field, vol. vii. p. 379.
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DRAYTON LODGE NORFOLK

This remarkable ruin, called Drayton

Lodge, stands not far from the ancient'
Walsingham Way, on the road to Fakenham, |

about three-and-a-half miles from Norwich.
It was unquestionably the Manor House
of the family of De H4llcsden, and probably
built by them, about the period of John
De Gournay the V. who married the heiress
of that family (Record p. 37 4.) and thereby
acquired the manors of Hellesdon and
Drayton. At the former place little remains
of the manor house, but Drayton Lodge has
happily been preserved, mainly by my friend

. R. Fiteh, Esq., F.S.A,, having purchased it
'in order to preserve it. It is built on what
was formerly open heath; and is a striking
object when seen from a distance. It is
built of a yellowish brick in the old English
mode; its form is oblong 22 feet 6 inches
by 16 feet 3 inches—a large round
tower of 22 feet in circumference at each
corner. The entrance is by a large arch
in the south front, to the left of whichis a
small narrow aperture which seems to have
afforded all the light to be had in the lower
room when the door was closed. The south
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western tower appears to have had a
staircagse. Holes remain in the internal
walls on which the beams of an upper
floor were inserted. There was a fireplace
both in the lower and upper room. Almost
all architectural details are destroyed. The
arch of entrance is so mutilated as to be
made out with difficulty. This interesting
ruin resembles the house represented in
the Bayeux Tapestry, but in that, the flight
of steps was outside, and no round towers.
In the same manner the tower of the Cress-
wells at Cresswell in Northumberland, has

only two rooms, and the steps outside, also
without the round towers. At p. 1060 of
Record, I have given an engraving of a
superior border tower belonging to the
Middletons of Bolsy Castle. Drayton Lodge
is mentioned in the Paston Letters as exist-
ing in 1465 and 1466, but it is in my opinion
of an earlier date, and probably built whilst
John de Gournay V. was lord of the manor,
but upon his death without an heir the
manors of the De H{llesdens passed away
from his family.
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manor in that place, and the manor of Dray-

This family probably always held lands in | ton. The following is their pedigree :

Heylesdon, and eventually possessed Bernham'’s

Hexzy pE HxvLmspox, Bailiff of Norwich, 1261 ; Custos, 1272 ; Bailiff, 1307.

RICHARD DE HEYLESDON, ISGQ.TBmmc:.

JOBN. pE HEYLESDON, Bailiff of London 1379, died 1384.5=J0ANNA.
-

T L
ROBERT. MARGARET.

Al.'lcu.:lst. Si1R JoBN DE GoUrNAY, Knt.=2d. SIir JoEN WILTSHIRE, Knt.=3d, RicCHARD

1
MARGARET.

SELLING, Esq.

By her second husband, Sir John Wiltshire,
Alice de Heylesdon appears to have left issue
John Wiltshire.*

In Heylesdon church, in Mr. Norris's time,
were several monumental brasses of this family;
one under the effigies of the upper half of a
man and woman, with an inscription in French:

Richard de Heylesdon et Beatrice sa feme giseont ici

Dieu de lo* almes eit m’cy~—Amen,

Qi p’ lour almes p'era

X. annes et xl. jours de pardoun auera.

On a brass plate on the adjoining stone is
the following inscription for the founder of the
chantry :

Hic jacet Johan’es de Heylesdon et Joh’na Consors
ejus, quondam patroni huj’ eccl'ie et fundatores huj’
cantarie, et d’cus Joh’es obit ix°. die mens’ Aprilis a'o
d'ni M.CCC.LXXX.III. Quor’ a’i'ab’s p’piciet’ d’s ame’.+

The chantry mentioned in this monument
was founded 9th Richard II. (1885), by John
Churchman, Sheriff of London, executor of
John de Heylesdon, late a citizen of London,
who had a patent for founding it for two chap-
lains to pray in the church at Heylesdon for the
souls of the said John de Heylesdon, Joan his
wife, and Walter .de Berney : this was called

* Blomefield, in Heylesdon.
+ Norris MSS. Funeral Monuments, vol. ii. p. 22.

the ¢ College of Priests at Haylesdon.” It
wa3a endowed with lands, tenements, and rents
in several parishes in London and in Norfolk ;
and, in 1895, each priest's portion was valued
at 6/. 13s. 10d., which shows their endowments
were considerable.}

The Walter de Berney here mentioned was
a wealthy citizen of London, and a Norfolk
man ; by his will, proved in 1379, he gave to
the church at Heylesdon a missal and other
bequests. John de Heylesdon was one of his
executors, to whom he gave great part of his
furniture and plate in London ; and to Joan,
wife of John de Heylesdon, a silver cup and
cover. §

A branch of the family of Heylesdon con-
tinued in Norwich. Henry de Heylesdon had
a messuage in St. Peter’s Mancroft, formerly
Hugh de Dunston’s ; this Henry was dead be-
fore 20th Henry VI. 1442, leaving John de
Heylesdon his son and heir, who possessed the
said messuage 20th and 23rd Heury VL ||

I find no arms of the family of Heylesdon;
probably, as citizens, they bore none.

1 Taylor’s Index Monasticus, p. 48,
§ Norris MSS. Funeral Mon, p. 24.
|| Ibid.
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PossesseD the manor of Harpley, and was succeeded in it by Thomas,
who was nephew of the preceding Sir John de Gourney, knight, who died
without issue ; this appears by a computus of the cellarer® of the priory of
Norwich, who in 1512 writes, “ De manerio de Harpley quondam Roberti
Gurney, postea Thoma Gurney, et nuper Willelmi Gurnay, armigeri, &c.
&c.”® from this there can be little doubt that Robert was brother of Sir
John, and father of Thomas¢ the nephew and heir of Sir John de
Gournay V.

A Robert Gurney had at this periodd land at Little Cressingham and
Hopton, and in 1405, the 7th Henry IV. a fine was levied between Robert
Gurney, of Cressingham Parva, and Thomas Stodhagh, querents, and Ed-
ward Howard and Katharine his wife, defendants,® of a tenement and fold-
course in Cressingham Parva and Hopton, the right of the said Robert.
In the church of Hempstead, in Happing hundred, against the north wall
of the church next to the chancel, was formerly the painting of the figures

* The cellarer was an officer of importance in every monastery. He was bursar, who bought
all provisions, &c. ; in some houses he was “ secundus pater in monasterio,” as in the abbey of
Bury, where a large part of the buildings were assigned for his residence. In the monastery of
St. Benet in the Holme, this officer had much the largest separate estate. He had not only
many tithes, pensions, rents, &c. but also some whole manors allotted to his office.®* The cellarer
of Norwich was the cellarer of the conventual body attached to the cathedral church there, to
which £3 per annum was paid from the manor of Uphall, in Harpley.+

b Blomefield, in Harpley.

¢ Spelman MSS ; Pedigree of Gurney ; Norris MSS.

4 Norris MSS., ; Blomefield, in Cressingham. )

e Fine Norff. 7th Hen. IV.

¢ Norris MSS8. in Happing, page 403. + Blomefield, in Harpley.
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of a man and woman kneeling, each of them holding a label; on the first
was written :—

Qui circumstatis precibus sibi subveniatis ;
on the other :—

Gurnay Robertus soluit de munere certus.

At their feet a shield of arms, Argent, a chevron be-
tween 3 bull’s heads in profile cut off close at the nape,
sable.

On the south wall, directly opposite to the former, a
woman and a man kneeling, having over their heads
these four verses :—

Hac per pictura sperans mercede futura,

Solvit devotus Thomas Studhaugh voce vocatus,
Qui fuerat digna conjux Kath'na benigna,

Quos vobis gratis meritis commendo beatis.

Between the man and woman, a shield of arms,
Gules, on a chevron argent 3 martlets sable, all within
a bordure sable engrailed, Studhaugh.

This is now all defaced.

This Robert Gurney and Thomas Studhaugh were
undoubtedly the persons named in the above-mentioned
fine, and, from the circumstance of Sir John Gurney
having property in Hempstead, we suspect that this is
the same person as Robert Gurney, lord of Harpley, and he probably
married one of the family of Studhaugh, which was ancient, and seated at
Hempstead for some generations.

We cannot satisfactorily account for the arms under Robert Gurney in
the church there.

Moule, in his Heraldry of Fish, page 104, supposes these to be three
heads of the gurnard fish, the familiar appellation of which fish, with

* Norris Funeral Monuments, vol. i. p. 65; and Tunstead, p. 55.
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sailors, is the ‘bull's-head.” The gurnard fish was the
crest of the Gournays of Norfolk, and, although
the first instance of its being used occurs in the reign
of Henry VI. by Thomas Gurney I. son of this Robert,
it may very probably have been of earlier date.

It has been suggested to me that this crest of the
fish, as well as the engrailed cross, the arms of Gour-
nay, may have originated at the period of the Crusades,
as the fish was a hieroglyphic* of the early Christians,
from the letters composing the Greek word IXOYZ
forming the initials Inoeus Xpioros @eov Tios Zwrng.

In consequence of this, the image of a fish was
sculptured upon tombs and sepulchral urns, as well
as upon seals and rings;® and might from this cir-

[PART 1.

cumstance have been assumed as a crest by the Christian warrior.

* Mrs. Hamilton Gray’s Sepulchres of Etruria.
b Moule on the Heraldry of Fish, page 12.
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ProBABLY son of Robert, but certainly nephew and heir® of Sir John, first
occurs in the list of Norfolk gentlemen returned as such by the commis-
sioners, 12 Hen. V1. 1434® We must observe that the Norman French
becoming gradually disused, the De before surnames, taken from places,
ceased about this period, and in consequence the family of Gurnay was
no longer described as De Gurnay or De Gournay, but simply Gurnay or .
Gourney.

Thomas Gurnay was a feoffee in the manor of Wolterton, in East Bar-
sham, 13 Henry VI. 1435.

In 1440 he presented as a feoffee with others for Sir John Curzon,
Knight, to the church at Ingoldesthorpe.d

In 1442 he presented to the church of Harpley in his own right.

In 1443 he presented in his own right also by the name of Thomas
Gurney of West Barsham, to the church of Depden, in Suffolk.

22d Henry VI. 1444 or 5, a fine was levied between Nicholas Boking
and John Aleyne of Castle-acre, querents, and Thomas Gurney, Esquire,
and Margaret his wife, defendants, of 6 messuages, 200 acres of land,
6 acres of meadow, and a 30th part of 80 acres of bruery (i. e. heath), 4
acres of marsh, 5s. rent, and a fold-course in West Lexham, East Lexham,

2 Spelman. Pedigree of the Gurneys.

b Fuller'’s Worthies. The list of the gentry here alluded to was made out in each county by com-
missioners appointed for the purpose. Fuller supposes that the real motive for this was to tender an
oath of fealty to the gentry of the kingdom in favour of the house of Lancaster. There appears
strong ground for this supposition, as Sir Robert Cotton mentions in his abridgement of the 're-
cords, that at the parliament held 11 Hen. VI. the speaker presented an article that nonobleman or
other should retain in his service any offender of the law. The which article the lords and
bishops swore to maiutain ; and it was enacted that the lords, knights, and esquires, yeomen,
and persons throughout the realm, should by special commissioners swear to perform the same.
(Norris MSS.)

¢ Blomefield in W. Barsham. 4 Inst. Lib. 10 F. 86.

e Tauner’s MSS. Bishop’s Office, Norris MSS.

f Inst. Liber, 10 F. 49. Norris MSS.
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Castle-Acre, Newton, and Dunham Magna, the right of John of the in-
heritance of Margaret.®

Thomas Gurney married Margaret Kerville, of that ancient family seated

at Wiggenhall St. Mary’s, in Marshland ; they also possessed land in
Castle-Acre,® where, according to the fine quoted above, Margaret's in-
heritance partly lay. Cook, Clarenceaux, in an ancient pedigree, calls her
Catharine, daughter of Robert Kerville, of Watlington: but the fine just
quoted proves that the wife of Thomas Gurney was named Margaret.
Robert Kerville, of Watlington, died in 1434, and mentions his daughter
Catharine in his will, but makes no mention of Margaret. In the pedigree
at page 286 I have called the wife of Thomas Gurnay
Catharine, after the authority of Cook: but it would
seem erroneously.

In the windows of Gurney's Place, Norwich, was the
coat of arms Gurney impaling Kerville, Gules, a chevron
between three leopard’s faces or. This, with other
coats which remained of the family arms, has been
removed to Keswick. (Appendix LXVIII.)

This Thomas Gurney sealed with a cross engrailed * with a helmet and
crest, which, as is supposed, is a gurnard fish biting on
the helmet, his tail upward, which I think the heralds
call hauriant.” ¢ (Appendix LXIX.)

He is styled of Norwich in 1451. Mr. Norris is of
opinion that Margaret, his first wife, died, and he
married, secondly, Alice—of what family does not
appear—and that he died in 1454 intestate, at Great
Ellingham, where he was then residing, and adminis-
tration was granted to Alice his widow and others, the
5th August of that year :? but it seems doubtful whether
this is the same Thomas Gurnay, as I do not discover
that he had property or a residence at Great Elling-
ham. He was probably buried at Baconsthorpe, where

a Fine Norff. 28 Hen. VL. b Blomefield in Castle-acre. ¢ Spelman MSS.
d Reg. Aleyne, pars prima, f. 19 b. Norris MSS.
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was formerly the following fragment of an inscription on a flagstone in
the church.

———— Thome Gurney Generosi
propicietur Deus Amen.*

Thomas Gurnay I. left a son and heir Thomas, and Catharine, a
daughter, who married John Baxter of Forncet, Norfolk, Gentleman.

Cotemporary was Robert Gournay, Rector of Heathel, presented by
John Duke of Norfolk in 1427 ; he died 1439.

Henry Gurney of Norwich, who died intestate in 1443, leaving a
widow, Tiphania.’

a Norris MSS. Church Collec. Baconsthorpe. b Norris MSS.
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APPENDIX LXVIII.

ON THE FAMILY OF KERVILLE.

THE ancient family of Capraville, or Ker-

ville, were settled, before the reign of Richard '

I., at Wiggenhall St. Mary’s, Norfolk, where
they had their seat or residence, of which .

there are still remains. This family was doubt- .

less of Norman origin, and came from Chevre-
ville, in Normandy, in the neighbourhood of
Mortaigne. They held very large estates in
West Norfolk, particularly in Marshland.
After the Reformation they continued of the
Roman Catholic religion, and Sir Henry Ker-
ville was accused by Sir Christopher Heydon,

Knight, in 1620, of being a bigoted papist ;
and that the papists met at his house in order

.toamstﬂ:eemperoragamstthengof

Bohemia, when James I requested a loan for
the recovery of the Palatinate, whereupon Ker-
ville was imprisoned, but was afterwards re-
leased. He was the last male of his family.
In the church of St. Mary's is a fine mural
monument erected to his memory and that of
his wife.®
The Pedigree of Kerville is as follows :

® Blomefield in Wiggenhall St. Mary’s.

[PEDIGREE
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PEDIGREE * OF KERVILLE.
ROBERT DE CAPRAVILLA, temp, Stephen. ROOI‘IJ-_. ves Wu.un_ DE CAPRAVILLA.
RoBERT DE CAPRAVILL, temp, Rich, I. Sixon. RoBERT. JEFFREY DE CHEREVILE.

ReGINALD DE KAREVILLA, or KERVILLE, temp. John.~=ALICE, dau. of Sir Richard de la Rokeby.
Sir FrepERriCc DE CAPRAVILLE, Knt. temp. Hen. IIL ROBERT DE CHEREVILLE, PRILIP DE CHEREVILLE.
WiLLiAM DE KERVILE, of Wiggenh;ll.j‘-. ven

WiLLiax, 21 Edw. L==,. ..

JorN pE KERvVILE, 17 Edw. II.T.. .e

Enlrl;n KERVIL.SFALICE, dau. and coh. of 8ir John Tilney, of Quaplode, in
T Lincolnshire,

Kerviles of Watlington, His heart KERvILE. | William, Esq. of Maplethorpe
buried at St. Mary's. in Lincolnshire,

TroMAS KERVILE, Esq.5=MaRY, dau. of Gilbert Haultoft, of the Isle of Ely,
1467. Baron of the Exchequer to Henry VI.

Sir Ronlxnr KERVILE, ancestor of the Jt:nn T ........ . dau. of Thomas Fitz-

—
HUMPHREY, son and heir.5=ANNE, dau. of John Fincham, Esq. of Fincham.
HUMPHREY, son and heir.iAnnn, dau, of Jeffery Cobb, Esq. of Sandringham.

3. Ep-=Carmamne, 1. THO-TFALICE, 2Wi- 4, ALICE ;mar. 1. SirJohn

MUND, dau.of Wil- wmasKER- | dau. of LIaAN. Bedingfleld ; 2, Sir John
liam Saun-  VILLE, Sir Henry Sulyard, Kat.
ders, Esq. ; Beding- 5. EL1ZABETH ; mar. Robert
mar.2, John field, of Bozon, Esq.
Spelman, Oxburgh. 6. ELEANOR ; mAr, e———
Esq. of Nar- Neal, Esq.
borough ; 7. Joan; mar, John S8hould-
8. Miles ham, Esq.
Corbet,Esq. 8, CATHARINE ; mar, ——
Goswell, Esq.
Sir HENRY linmu.l, Knt.=WINEFRID, dau. of Sir Anthony 9. MARGARET ; mar. 1.
620. Thorold, Knt, Nicholas Dean, of Wig-
m, Gent. ; 2. John
Two children who died in their infancy. itch, or Bexwell,
Esq. of Bexwell,
10, Mary,

From the Norris M8S, and Blomefleld in St. Mary Wiggenhall,
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APPENDIX LXIX.

ON CRESTS.

The crest was made of light wood carved, or
of leather, and fastened to the helmet.

The principal application of crests was in
jousts or hastiludes, when the shield was not
worn. Originally crests were conceded by
Royal grant to a very few persons. They are
not held to be absolutely hereditable, but may
be assumed.* ‘

There is no mention of the cap of mainte-
nance, as afterwards used by the family, in this
crest of Thomas Gurney.

Wreathes and scrolls were rarely used with
crests at first. Caps of maintenance were con-
fined to royal alliances till after the time of
Robert Cooke Clarenceux, who lived in the
reign of Elizabeth, and granted them to private
families. We know not at what period the cap
of maintenance was added to the crest of the
West Barsham Gurneys.

* Dallaway's Heraldry, p. 387.

It is very possible
that Robert Cooke
Clarenceux may have
granted the use of
caps of maintenance
to private families in
consequence of their
being related to Queen
Elizabeth, to whom it
should be remembered
many gentlemen’s fa-
milies were near rela-
tions through her mo-
ther Anne Boleyn. Of
this number was Aun-
thony Gurney, who
lived in her reign, whose maternal grandmother
was a Boleyn.
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Son and heir of the before-mentioned Thomas Gurney, Esq. was of West
Barsham, and in 1465 presented to the church of Harpley, and to Depden
in Suffolk in 1467.*

He married Margaret, daughter of Sir Thomas Jernegan, or Jerning-
ham, of Somerleyton in Suffolk, Knight, by whom he had issue, 1. Wil-
liam, his son and heir; 2. John; 3. Edmund. (App. LXX.)

He is frequently mentioned in the Paston Letters, edited by Sir John
Fenn.

John Jernyngham, in a letter to his cousin Margaret Paston, dated
Calais, Corpus Christi day, 1458 (Thursday, 1 June, 36 Henry VI.), says,
 No more at this time but that it please you to recommend me unto my
right reverend and worshipful cousin your husband, and to mine uncle
Gourney, and to mine aunt his wife, and to all good masters and friends
where it shall please you.”®

Again, in a letter from Margaret Paston to her husband, dated Soul-
mass day (All Souls) 1465, 5 Edward IV. ¢ Item, my brother and Play-
ters were with Calthorpe to enquire of the matter that ye wrote to me of ;
what answer he gave them they shall tell you. I sent the parson of
Heylesdon to Gurney to speak to him of the same matter, and he saith
faithfully there was no such thing desired of him, and though he had been
desired he would neither have said nor done against you ; he said he had
ever found you loving and faithful to him, so he said he would be to you
to his power, and desiring me that I would not think him the contrary.” ¢

In another of the Paston Letters, viz. one from Margaret Paston to her
husband, dated Norwich, 18 January 1463-4 (3 Edw. IV.), is an account

3 Tanner's MSS. in the Bishop's Office. Norris MSS.
> Fenu’s Paston Letters, vol. i. p. 161. ¢ Ihid. vol. iv. p. 237.
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of a murder committed by a Thomas Gorney and his man. Sir John
Fenn is of opinion that it was not the Thomas Gurney of whom we are
treating, but we are inclined to think that it was the same person, in
which we are confirmed by his subsequent donations to religious houses.
The occurence may be accounted for by the disturbed state of the times
from the contentions of the rival houses of York and Lancaster, which
produced numerous feuds among private families. The letter is from
Margaret Paston to her husband, dated Norwich, Wednesday, 18 January
1463, and is as follows :* “ Skipworth shall tell you such tidings as beeth
in this country, and of Thomas Gorne and his man; himself is clerk
convict, and his man is hanged ; ye shall hear hereafter what they and
others were purposed to have done to their master.”

The following extract from one of these old letters, from Thomas Play-
ters to John Paston, Esq. explains the crime committed by this person
and his servant. January 1463 (3 Edw. IV.): “ Please your mastership
to wete, that as for my lord of Norwich cosyn’s deth, Thomas Gurnay’s
man hath confessed that he slew hym, by commandment of his master,
and confessed over, that y° same dager he slew hym wyth he kest (cast) it
in a sege (sedge or marsh), which is founded and taken al to-bowyd (bent
together), for he cowde not breke it, and in prison is both he and his
master.”®

This Thomas Gurney was a benefactor to several religious houses, espe-
cially by legacies ; amongst others to the priory at Walsingham, which
was then a house of great consideration, and to which Edmund Gurnay
and John Gurnay V. had also been benefactors, doubtless from their
residence at West Barsham being near to Walsingham.

By his testament, dated 18 March 1469, Thomas Gurnay II. directed to
be buried in the chancel of the church of St. Lawrence at Harpley, if he
died there, or in the church of the Friars Minors in Norwich, if he died
there. He gave to the said Friars 40s.; to the Friars preachers, Augus-
tines, and Carmelites at Norwich, to each house 20s.; to the chapel of the

& Fenn’s Paston Letters, vol. iv. p. 153. b Ibid,



DOORWAY AND TOMB PROBABLY OF THOMAS GURNAY II.
IN CHANCEL OF HARPLEY CHURCH.

By will he directs to be buried there if he dies at Harpley, and the tomb is of his date.
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Annunciation of the Blessed Virgin at Walsingham his gold ring with a
turkeys set in it; to every resident and householder at West Barsham 13d.;
to every resident at Harpley and Depden 6d.; to his wife Margaret all his
utensils and furniture of whatsoever kind ; half of them to go to his eldest
son William after her death, if he confirms the settlements upon his
brothers John and Edmund, and if he conducts himself with fidelity,
humility, and filial piety towards his mother, otherwise his said mother
Margaret to dispose of the said furniture and utensils.

To the high altar of St. Gregory’s at Norwich 6s. 8d.; to the repair of
the church there 40s. ; to Thomas Seafoul his godson, whom he received
at the holy font, 6s. 8d.; also to the repair of the vestments of the church
at Depden 20s.; to John Bernard, of the order of Friars Minors at Nor-
wich, his confessor, 11s. to pray for him,

He appoints his wife, John Jernygan, Esq. and Edmund Bokenham, Esq.
executors, and John Heydon supervisor.

By his last will,* dated at Norwich, 20 March, 9 Edw. IV. (1468-9), he
would first that all the grants made either by himself or by his feoffees by
his direction should be firm and stable, and in particular the annuities
granted to John and Edmund his sons out of the manor of Depden ; also he
gave to the prior and convent of Walsingham, towards their buildings there,
that they might have him and his wife in special memory on their bede-
roll, as a brother and sister, £10; further he ordered all his rents, lands,
tenements, and services, called Swathings, in Hardingham, which he had
lately bought of Katharine Sturmer; and also all his lands, tenements, &c.
in Norwich, to be sold to fulfil his will, and other pious purposes for his
soul and the soul of Margaret his wife. By a subsequent clause he recites
that he had agreed with his son William touching the said premises, and
that William should pay 20 marks immediately after his decease for his
funeral charges; to the said Margaret his wife £5 every year at the Feast
of the Translation of the Holy Martyr St. Thomas (3 Becket), until the
sum of £40 should be discharged to Margaret his wife, by the said William,
for which he was to give her security. That Margaret his wife should

s It is to be observed, the will of Thomas Gurnay is dated two days after the testament.
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have all the furniture, linen, and woollen cloths, and other goods which
were given her during her life, and were made by her owN WORK, or that
of her servants, and were acquired by her for her own use.*

The will was proved 27 July, 1471. (App. LXXI.)

The house spoken of in this will was in St. Gregory’s parish.

It is remarkable that John Gourney or Gurney, the immediate anoestor
of the present family of the Gurneys of Keswick, resided in an ancient
house in this parish of St. Gregory’s at Norwich, in the reign of Charles II.,

HOUSE IN ST. GREGORY’S PARISH, NORWICH,

2 Reg. Jekkys, fol. 211 b. in the Bishop’s Office at Norwich.
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and it seems possible that the house of this Thomas Gurnay II. may have
been the same, and may have descended to this younger branch of the
Gurneys. This house was lately the Three Pigeons tavern. It faces what
was called Charing Cross, between two streets formerly called Nether and
Over Westwyk, (now, I believe, Upper and Lower St. Lawrence Street,) and
appears formerly to have extended back, so as to have been originally
quadrangular.

Margaret, the wife of Thomas Gurnay, was niece to and legatee in the
will of Elizabeth, widow of Robert White of Shottesham, dated 1442, which
Elizabeth was daughter of William Appleyard, Esq. and sister of Joan, wife
of Sir Thomas Jernegan of Somerleyton.* She continued the widow of
Thomas Gurney, Esq. and as such, together with her son William, pre-
sented to the church of Depden in Suffolk, in 1471 and 1476.

CoTEMPORARY.—John Gurney of Filby left a small legacy, in 1465, for
the repair of the chapel of St. John there.

& Norris MSS. in Tunstead, p. 59. b Tbid.
¢ Reg. Cobalde, f. 30 d. Norris MSS.
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APPENDIX LXX.

The very ancient family of Jernygan or Jer-
ningham was seated in Suffolk as early as the
conquest, if not before, being said to descend
from one of King Canute’s captains. Their
principal manors were Horbam and Stonham
Jernygan. They settled at Somerleyton in the
13th century, where they continued until the
extinction of the elder branch of the family in
the reign of James I. They bore for arms,
Argent, three buckles gules.

Sir Henry Jerningham, vice-chamberlain
and master of the household to Queen

Mary, was presented
by her with the manor
of Cossey in Norfolk,
and from him is de-
scended the present
family of the Jerning-
hams,* the head of
which is the present
Lord Stafford. The
descents of this noble family are so well known
that I do not subjoin a pedigree of them.

JERNINGHAM.

APPENDIX LXXI.

The Testament and Will of Thomas Gur-
nay I, extracted from the registry of the
Bishop of Norwich. Reg. Jekkys, 211 b.

In Dei nomine Amen. xviii® Die mensis
Marcii, Anno Domini MP°ccec’lxix® et Anno
Edwardi I'V. nono, Ego Thomas Gurnay, senior,
Armiger, compos mentis et bone memorie condo
testamentum meum in hunc modum. In primis
lego animam meam Deo omnipotenti, beate Marie
Virgini et omnibus sanctis, corpusque ad sepe-

liendum infra cancellum ecclesie parochialis

Sancti Laurencii martyris de Harple, si me
ibidem obire contingat, vel in ecclesia fratrum
minorum Norwici si me ibidem obire contingat.
Item lego summo altari ecclesie de Harple xiiis.
iiijd. Item lego summo altari ecclesie de West
Barsham vis. viiid.
et tenenti domum sue familie, vocato Aousholder,

Item lego cuilibet residenti

infra Westbarsham xiid. Item lego tenentibus
et residentibus in Harple et Depden, vis. cuilibet
housholder vid. Item lego ad reparacionem
domus fratrum minorum Norwici xls. Item
cuilibet domui fratrum Augustinorum, Predica-
torum et Carmelitarum Norwici ad reparacionem
domorum suarum xxs. Item lego ad reparaci-
onem et sustentationem domus fratrum mino-
rum de Walsingham xls. Item capelle Annun.
ciationis beate Marie de Walsingham annulum
meum aureum cum uno pretioso lapide vocato
unum turkeys in eodem annulo impresso post
mortem meam ibidem oblaturum. Item lego
Margarite uxori mee omnia alia jocalia et uten-
silia mea quecunque et cujuscunque generis

existunt ad ejus proprios
usus, toto cum apparatu omnium vestimentorum

® Blomefield, in Cossey.
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corporis mei, excepto eo ad assignatum meum
reservato. Item volo quod si Willelmus filius
meus de bona fidelitate, humilitate et filiatate
gessit se erga dictam Margaritam matrem suam
et ef in omnibus concessionibus meis tam eidem
Margarite matri sue quam fratribus suis filiis
nostris dictoram Thome et Margarite per cartas
concessitis et factis obedierit, et pro posse suo
eas concessiones maintenerit; tunc idem Wil-
lelmus si dictam matrem suam supervixit habeat
post mortem ejusdem Margarite medietatem
omnium eorundem utensilium et jocalium occu-
pabili usu non consumptorum ; et aliter non ; sed
eadem Margarita habeat tunc inde plenariam
voluntatem et dispositionem. Item lego sum-
mo altari ecclesie St. Gregorii in Norwico pre-
dicto vis. viiid. Item lego ad reparacionem
ejusdem ecclesie xls. Residuum vero bonorum
meorum non legatorum do et lego bone dispo-
sicioni dicte Margarite uxoris mee, Johannis
Jernygan Armigeri et Edmundi Bokenham,
quos ordino facio et constituo hujus testamenti
mei et ultime voluntatis mee executorezs meos,
ut ipsi fideliter bona mea disponant et debita et
legationes meas persolvant et meam ultimam
voluntatem perimpleant sicut ipsi pro illis in
dicto casu disponere vellent; et lego cuilibet
dicto Johanni Jernegan et Edwardo Bokenham
pro onere hujus testamenti sumendo et labore
suo, ultra expensus suas rationabiles, quinque
marcas. Eorundem autem testimenti et volun-
tatis ordino et constituo Johannem Heydon
supervisorem. Et lego eidem Johanni pro aux-
ilio et concilio suo dictis executoribus meis pre-
bendis quinque marcas. Item lego cuidam
Thome Sefoul filiolo meo quem de sancto fonte
recepi vis. viiid. Item lego ad reparacionem
seu vestimentorum renovationem ecclesie de
Depden xxs. Item lego Johanni Bernard
ordinis minorum Norwici confessori meo ad
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orandum pro me xls. Item lego Thome Davy
servienti meo xxs. Item lego Roberto Stenton
xiiis. iiijd. Item lego Willelmo Wolwyk et
uxori ejus xiiis. iiijd. In cujus rei testimonium
huic presenti testamento meo sigillum meum
apposui. Datum die et anno supradictis.

Heec est ultima voluntas mei Thome Gurnay
Sen. Armigeri facta apud Norwicum xx°. die
Marcii Anno Regni Regis Edwardi quarti
nono. In primis volo quod omnes concessiones
et annuitates per me seu feoffatos meos ad in-
stantiam meam, per cartas confectas, stabiles
sint et officiales juxta formam earundem conces-
sionum, et precipue annuitates Johanni et Ed-
mundo filiis meis per cartas separatas extra
manerio meo de Depden exeuntes sub sigillo
meo concessas juxta formam earundem conces-
sionum, stabiles et rate sint in omnibus. Item
volo quod prior et conventus ecclesie beate
Marie de Walsyngham habeant ad construc-
tionem operum ejusdem prioratus, ut me et
uxorem meam in specialiorem memoriam habe-
Item
volo quod expendantur in constructionem aut

rent ut fratrem et sororem capituli, xli.

vestimentorum renovacionem ecclesie de Harple,
xls. Item volo quod expendantur in repara-
tionem seu vestimentorum renovacionem ecclesie
de West Barsham, xls. Item volo quod omnes
ille terre et tenementa, redditus et

mea vocata Swathyng in Hardyng-
ham que nuper empsi de Katharina Sturmur
et etiam omnes terre et tenementa mea cum suis
pertinentiis in Norwico vendantur per execu-
tores meos et quod inde
pervenientes disponantur in
executionem testamenti mei et ultime volun-
tatis mee et in alios pios usus celebrandos pro
anima mea et anima dicte Margarite et pro
quibus tenemur. Quicquid mearum terrarum
reddituum et omnes post hujus mei testamenti et
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ultime voluntatis mee confeccionem in bona
memoria mea existens (lego) Willelmo filio
pro octoginta marcis bone et legalis monete
Anglie. Item quod solvat dictis executoribus
meis et presertim dicte Margarite uxori mee
xx. marcas legalis monete expensuras circa
funeralia mea facienda; et in festo transla-
tionis Sancti Thome Martyris extunc proximo
et immediate sequenti centum solidos et sic de
anno in annum ad quemlibet festum transla-
tionis Sancti Thome indilate cs. legalis monete
Anglie quo usque summum xl. librarum legalis
monete predicte plenarie persolvat ; et quod idem
Willelmus filius meus de promissis solvendis
faciat eidem uxori mee sufficientem securitatem.
Item volo quod dicta Margarita uxor mea
habeat omnia jocalia, pannos laneos et lineos et
alia bona que eidem uxori mee fuerunt tempore

THOMAS GURNAY II,

i

[PaRT 1L

vite mee concessa data et assignata, et que ex
ejus labore aut servientum suorum foerunt et
sunt adquisita, ad usum proprium, quod dicti
Johannes et Edmundus executores mei preno-
minati de iisdem jocalibus, pannis laneis et
lineis aut aliis bonis ut prefertur, nullo modo se
intermitterint sed uxorem meam

de iisdem liberam dispositionem
habere permittant. Datum loco, die, mense et
anno Domini supradictis.

Probatum fuit presens testamentum una cum
ultima voluntate eidem annexata apud Norvi.
cum coram nobis, officio consueto Domini
Norwicencis Episcopi et per nos approbatum et
insumatum ac pro xvii. die
mensis Julii, Anno Domini M-°.cccc’.Lxx1’
&c. &ec. &ec.
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WILLIAM GURNEY IV.

Son of Thomas Gurney and Margaret Jerningham his wife, is styled of
West Barsham. He and his wife occur as legatees in the will of Alianor
Countess of Arundel: ¢ Ego Alianora Comitissa Arundel *—Item lego
Willelmo Gurnay et Agneti uxori ejus 4 lib. sterling.”® He presented to
the church of Depden jointly with his mother in 1471, the year of his
father’s death, In the 14 Edward IV. 1474, he was party to a fine of the
manor of Sprowston as a trustee for Walter Aslak, Esq.°

In 1475 he occurs as a feoffee for John Wyndham of Felbrigg, Esq.’

In 1476 he presented again jointly with his mother to the church of
Depden in Suffolk.

In 1485 he presented his son Christopher Gurney, clerk, to the church
of Harpley, and in the same year he is mentioned as lord of the manor of
Welburn.*

The same year he and his wife gave in trust the manor of Swathings to
Henry Gray, Knight, and Robert Drury, Esq.!

Sciant presentes, &c. quod nos Willelmus Gurney Armiger filius et heres
Thomee Gurney armigeri, et Anna uxor dicti Willelmi ac filia Willelmi
Calthorp militis, dimissimus manerium nostrum de Swathings in Harding-
ham Henrico Gray militi et Roberto Drury armigero. Dat.2 R.III. (1485.)

He was one of the escheators for Norfolk in the reign of Edward IV.

The escheator was an ancient officer, so called, because his duty was to
look to the escheats, wardships, and other casualties accruing to the
crown. In ancient times there were two escheators in England, one north,

s Reg. Stockton, fol. 23, 20 July, 1455.

b Dodsworth MSS. vol. xxii. fol. 22a. Lansdowne MSS. No. 227.

¢ Kirkpatrick M8. Collec. quoted by Norris.

d Test. Johan. Wyndham, Reg. Gelour, F. 116. Norris MSS.

e Tanner's MSS. Bishop’s Office. In Norris MSS. . f Harl. MSS. 970, p. 9.
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the other south of Trent; but in the reign of Edward II. several escheators
were made for life in every county; and by the 14 Edward III. it was
enacted, that there should be one in each county who should be in office
for a year, and by another statute he was to be in office once in three
years: the Lord Treasurer naming him.—Coke’s First Institute, 13 n. B.

William Gourney married Anne, only daughter of Sir William Calthorpe,
of Burnham, Knight, by his lady, the daughter of the Lord Grey of Ruthyn.
(App. LXXII.)

His arms, impaling Calthorpe, were in the windows
of Gurney’s Place in Norwich ; the glass is now at Kes-
wick.

He and his wife were both living in 1494, and lega-
tees in the will of Sir William Calthorpe, dated this
year.*

They had issue: 1. William, his son and heir, who
died in his father’s lifetime, leaving issue; 2. Walter ; 3. Thomas; 4. Chris-
topher, a priest; 5. Elizabeth, married to Clement Herward, Esq. of
Aldborough in Norfolk.?

The 11th Henry VII. 1496, William Gurney granted land at Cley next

3 the Sea to his son Walter.® In the 13th Henry

VII. William Gurney, Esq. senior, enfeoffed

William Gurney, junior, Esq. of lands in Dun-

ton. He is mentioned as lord of the manor of

Harpley in a computus of the cellarer of Nor-
wich.

His seal, “ sometimes a wrestling collar in an

enamelled ring.®” Thisbadge orcrest was in glass,

in the window of West Barsham church, and is now removed to Keswick.*

& Reg. Woolman, F. 206. b Norris MSS.

¢ Blomefield in West Barsham. Norris MSS.

d Sir H. Spelman. Gurney Pedigree.

e Ring seals were common at this period. William Gurney’s enamelled ring, with his seal and
his badge, must have been in possession of the family when Francis Gurney gave the Pedigree to
Sir H. Spelman in 1639,
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Badges, many of which were knots of
different sorts, prevailed about this
period. Of these, the knots of the
Bourchiers, Staffords, and Veres are
best known.* The wrestling collar was
placed round the neck of the wrestler,
and held by the adversary., It was tied
in a slip knot.

Of this William Gurnay IV. mention
is frequently made in the Paston Let-
ters. In a letter from John Paston,®

TWO MEN WRESTLING WITH WRESTLING COLLARS. Knight’ to his brOther’ John Paswn’
¥Rox sTRUTT's sports axp pastiums, Pate vi.  Egq. dated Calais, Monday, 14 April,
1477, 14th Edward IV. we find that William Gurney was negotiating
the marriage between John Paston and Margery Brews.*

“To John Paston, Esq.

“ Right worshipful and heartily beloved brother, I recommend me to
you, letting you to weete, that as by Peirse Moody when he was here I
had no leisure to send answer in writing to you and to my cousin Gurnaye
of your letters, but for a conclusion ye shall find me to you as kind as I
may be, my conscience and worship saved, which, when I speak with you
and them, ye both shall well understand; and I pray God send you as
good speed in that matter as I would ye had, and as I hope ye shall have
ere this letter come to you ; and I pray God send you issue between you
that may be as honourable as ever was any of your ancestors and theirs,
whereof I would be as glad in manner as of mine own; wherefore I pray
you send me word how ye do; and if God fortune me to do well, and be
of any power, I will be to Sir Thomas Brewes and my lady his wife a very

* Dallaway’s Heraldry, p. 396.
® Brothers of the same christian name frequently occur in ancient times.
¢ Fenn’s Paston Letters, vol. ii. p. 245.
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son in law for your sake, and take them as ye do, and do for them as if I
were in case like with them as ye be,” &c.

Again, in a letter dated 23rd January, 1469, from John Paston to his
brother Sir John Paston.*

¢ Item, yesterday W. Gorney entered into Saxthorpe, and there was he
keeping a court, and had the tenants attourned to him; but ere the court
was all done, I came thither with a man with me and no more, and there be-
fore him and all his fellowship, Gayne, Bomstead, &c. I charged the tenants
that they should proceed no further in their court upon pain might fall of
it; and they letted for a season, but they saw that I was not able to make
my party good, and so they proceeded further. I saw that, and sat me
down by the steward and blotted his book with my finger as he wrote, so
all the tenants affirmed that the court was interrupted by me as in your
right, and I requested them to record that there was no peaceable court
kept, and so they said they would.”

Crepping’s manor in Saxthorpe had been purchased by John Gurnay II.
(see page 347), and was possessed by the family afterwards; this, how-
ever, from the letter just quoted, appears to have been disputed by the
Pastons. (App. LXII. page 347.)

This William Gurney was of council to the Duke of Norfolk. This
council of the Duke of Norfolk, like that of other great barons, was similar
to that of the King when he was surrounded by his privy council or coun-
sellors of state. In this assembly all matters relative to the disputes be-
tween his vassals and dependants were heard and determined. Orders
and regulations respecting his own possessions were debated, and even his
domestic affairs settled.b

William Gurney’s intimate connection with the family of the Duke of
Norfolk appears in a letter from Margery Paston to her husband.c

“ Sir, on Saturday last past I spake with my cousin Gorney, and he

-

* Fenn’s Paston Letters, vol. iv. p. 423.
® Fenn's Paston Letters, vol. v. p. 121, note. ¢ Ibid. vol. v. p. 298.
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said if I would go to my lady of Norfolk and beseech her good grace to
be your good and gracious lady, she would so be, for he said that one
word of a woman would do more than the words of twenty men, if I would
rule my tongue, and speak none harm of mine uncle ; and if ye command
me so for to do, I trust I shall say nothing to my lady's displea.sure, but
to your proﬁt; for he thinketh, &c.

A | understand by my cousin Gorney
that my lady is near weary of her part; and he saith my lady shall come
in pilgrimage into this town, but he knoweth not whether afore Christmas
or after, and if I would then get my lady Calthorpe, my mother-in-law,
my mother and myself, and come before my Lady beseeching her to be
your good and gracious lady, he thinketh ye shall have an end, for fain
she would be rid of it with her honor saved, but yet money she would
have. Dated Norwich, Novr. 1482.”

William Gurnay and his wife were legatees in the will of Sir William
Calthorpe, ult'o Maii 1494, ¢ I, William Calthorpe, Knight, bequeth my
body to be buried in the White freres of Norwich. Item, I will that my
son William Gournay, and my daughter his wief, have cc moder sheep.” *

William Gurney's Norwich house was in Pockethorpe, which was ori-
ginally a suburb of the city, but afterwards formed part of it, including
the parishes of St. James and St. Paul ; the monastery of the Carmelites
or Whitefriers was situated in it, where William Gurnay directed by will
he should be buried.

William Gurnay IV. died before the 11th May 1508, when his will was
proved at Lambeth. It is dated 2nd March 1507, and is as follows:

“ In the name of God, Amen. I, William Gurneye, Squyer, of Poke-
thorpe, by Norwich, the seconde day of the moneth of Marche, in the yere
of our lord God M!vevij, make my testament and last will at Pokethorpe
aforesaide, in this forme folowing. First I comende my soule to almighty
God, our blissed lady Seynt Mary, and to all the holy company of heven.
And my bcdy to be buried in the church of White freers, within the per-

s Dodsworth’s MSS. vol. xxii. fol. 64. Lansdowne MSS. Brit. Mus. No. 227, fol, 227.
3G
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close* of the same churche. In the which churche I will there be given in
- almes to poore folks in penys, by the peny meal, xxi. It to e@y preest,
seculer or reguler, beyng w"in the Citie of Norwich, to remembre me in
his meméto, iiijd. It I bequeth to eliy Clerke, beyng at my Dirge in a
surplis, iid. It I bequeth to er of the iiij orders of freers in Norwich xxs.
It I bequeth to the Nonnes of Carowe, xxs. It I bequeth to the prior of
the Cathedral Church of the holy Trynitie in Norwich, xls. 1t I bequeth
to eche of the Susters of Normans,® iiijd. It I bequeth to eche house of
seeke mén by Norwich, xxd. If I bequeth to the Ankeres of Seynt
Julyans in Norwich, xxd. It I will that the church of Westbarshim have a
vestment of grene worsted w* myn armes and my wiffs in a skochen. It I
will that ther be at Harple Church made a windowe in the steple w* the
said armes. It I bequeth to the maide of the saide Ankeres, iiijd. It I
bequeth to my Suster Calthorpe, wife to William Calthorpe, Squyer, xls.
a peyre of shetes of iiij yerds in brede, and a white bedde w* curteynes.
It I bequeth to Ame her daughter, at hir mariage, xls. It I bequeth to
Margaret Dengayn xt. a federbed and a holster, a payre of blanketts, a
payre of shetts, a cotllett, and a pilowe. -1t to Margaret Berney, xxd.
It to Cicill Brampton, xxd. It to William Welles, xld. It to Henry
Broke, xld. It to Robert Northfolke, iiij fiirs. It to John Wageour, xls.
It to Thomas Sweyn, xls. It I will that Thomas Gurney, my sone, have
an annuitie of x fiirke oute of the manoir of Harple during his naturall
life. And I will that my feoffe; of and in the said manoir make hym assu¥
thereof, as he and his counseill shall devise. And I will that myn execu-
tors have the profitt of the residue of the said manoir during the terme of
v yeres.® It I will that my son Thomas shal have to him and his heires
and assignes for etl all the manoirs, londs, and tefits off Skulthorpe, in the

& The perclose was the screen which inclosed the square space at the end of an aisle of a
church, and which generally contained an altar, and was used as a chantry.

b Norman's spital, or hospital, was in the parish of St. Paul’s at Norwich, and was so called
from Norman the monk, its first master, who lived in the twelfth century.

¢ This provision was in consequence of the minority of Anthony Gurney his grandson, who
succeeded him. .
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Countie of Norfolke, which I have purchaced, which he hath the posses-
sion and profitts of by myn assent and aggreement. It I will have an
honest preest to synge and pray for my soule and my wiffs soul by the
space of three yeres, in the White Freers of Norwich. It I bequeth to the
freers of Walsynghm, vis. viijd. It I bequeth to the freers of Burntim,
vis. viijd. It to the freers of Blackneye, vis. viijd. It to the Spitell house
of Walsynghm, xxd. It I bequeth to ff John Hogon, preest, vis. viijd. It I
bequeth to the reparacon of the Churche of Seynt James in Norwich,
vis. viijd. It to the Anker of White freers, vis. viijjd. It I will that there
remayn at Westbarshim, vii® shepe, and the Residue I give to my son
Thomas Gurnaye. The Residue of all my goodes w" the detts to me
owying I cofiiytte into the hands and goode discrecion of my broder Wil-
liam Calthorpe, and my son Thomas Gurneye, whom I make and ordeyne
myn executors. And beqth for their labor x fiirke. Given the day, yere,
and place abovesaide.

“ Probatum fuit suprascriptum testamentum coram Domino apud
Lamehith vicesimo die mensis Maii Anno Domini milesimo quinquegesimo
octavo, juramento Willelmi Calthorpe et Thoma Gurney executorum, &c.” *

William Calthorpe named in this will was William Calthorpe, of Pock-
thorpe, Esq. son of Sir William Calthorpe, Knight, as appears by his will
at Norwich. Reg. Attmere 282a. Will proved 6 June 1528. He leaves
all his tenements, gardens, &c. in Pockthorpe, to Elizabeth his wife, and
afterwards to Amy his daughter in fee, and if she died before marriage
then to pious uses.?

- William Gurney calls him and his wife brother and sister, he having
been brother to his wife. The Norwich house of the Calthorpes was at
this time in Pockthorpe, as well as that of William Gurney IV.

William Gurney IV. was succeeded in his estates by Anthony Gurney,
his grandson, then a minor; William Gurney V. his eldest son, having’
died in his lifetime.

& From the Registry of the Prerogative Court of Canterbury.
b Norris MSS.
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APPENDIX LXXII.

ON THE FAMILY OF CALTHORPE.

The Calthorpe family took their name from
Calthorpe in Norfolk, where they were seated
immediately after the Conquest ; they assumed

their arms, Chequy or
and azure, a fess er-
mine, as we have be-
fore stated, from the
marriage of Sir Wil-
liam Calthorpe with
Cecilia, sister and heir
to William de Burn-
ham, alias Warren, or perhaps from holding
lands under the Earls Warren.

The original ancestor of the Calthorpes was
Godric, who was dapifer or steward of the ab-
bot of Holme about the time of the Conquest,
a high situation of great trust at that period.
His descendants bore the names of de Cal-
thorpe, of Hobbies or de Alto Bosco, and of de
Suffield, from those several manors which be-
longed to them. Walter de Suffield, or de
Calthorpe, who became Bishop of Norwich in
1244, was one of this family.

The Calthorpes continued to flourish in Nor-
folk and Suffolk, and were amongst the most
distinguished families in those counties for many
centuries ; the principal branches being seated
at Burnham, Cockthorp, and East Barsham, in
Norfolk, and at Ampton in Suffolk. By the
death of Sir Henry Calthorpe, K.B. in 1783,
this family became extinct in the male line. His
sister Barbara married Sir Henry Gough, of
Edgebaston, in the county of Warwick, Bart.
whose son was created a peer in 1796, and was
father of the present Lord Calthorpe.

Sir William Calthorpe, of Burnham, married
two wives, Elizabeth, daughter of Lord Grey
de Ruthyn, and Elizabeth, daughter and heir of
Sir Miles Stapleton, Knight, and had children
by both. Ann, the wife of William Gurney IV,
was by his first wife. .

For further particulars of the family of Cal-
thorpe see Sir Egerton Brydges’ Edition of Col-
ling’s Peerage.*

* Blomefield in Calthorpe. Calthorpe Pedigree in
the Norris MSS.
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WILLIAM GURNEY V.

Son of William Gurney IV. and Anne Calthorpe. In the 14 Henry VIL

(1499), he, by the style of William Gurney, Junior, and Thomas Sefoul,

Esq. had a grant of the custody of the manors and lands of Roger Wood,

of East Barsham, from John Earl of Oxford, to whom King Henry VII.

had granted the custody of the person and lands of William Viscount
Beaumont.®

He married Anne, daughter of Sir Henry Heydon,

of Baconsthorpe, Knt. by Elizabeth, daughter of Sir

Geoffry Bulleyn, Lord Mayor of London, with whom he

e had the manor of Irsted as her fortune, which had

’"i been purchased by his father-in-law; his arms, im-

YYYY

paling Heydon, viz. Quarterly argent and gules, a
cross engrailed counterchanged, were in the glass in
/ Gurney’s place, Norwich. (App. LXXIII.)

William Gurney occurs as living at Irsted in 1496, when William Idewyn,
vicar of Barton, appointed him supervisor of his will’; in 1497 he is also
mentioned as of Irsted, and he occurs as party to a deed of land in Hove-
ton St. John, the 12th of Henry VII. 1500 ;¢ this year he presented to the
church of Thuxton.

In what year he died we do not find, but Sir Henry Spelman says that
his father survived him. Anne, his widow, presented as such to the church
of Depden in Suffolk, in 1505, which manor must have been settled upon
her and her husband. In the same year she was a legatee in the will of
Sir Roger Lestrange, Knt. of Hunstanton, who married her sister.

1 Roger L’estrange, knight, bequeth my body to be buried in the chaun-
cell of Hunstanton, &c.* . . I I woll that my syster Heydon, maistres

* Blomefield in West Barsham. b Reg. Multon, fol. 41.
¢ Cart. penes J. Blofield, Esq. Norris MSS.

d Tanner's Inst. Bishop's Office, vol. ii. p. 282. Norris MSS.

¢ Reg. Adeane, fol. 2, 7 Octr. 1505. .
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Townsend, and my syster Anne Strange, my syster Margaret Strange, and
my syster Gurnay, have eche of them a black gowne.”

TOMB OF WILLIAM GURNAY V. AT WEST BARSHAM,

2 Dodsworth’s MSS. vol. xvii. fol. 102. Lansdowne MSS. No. 227. In a Pedigree of the
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William Gurney V. was buried at West Barsham, where there still
remains an ornamented slab stone to his memory, as appears by the
indistinct remains of the cross impaling the cross, Gurney and Heydon, in
the shield in the centre, originally filled up with engrailed crosses in brass.
The brass which formerly adorned this monument is all gone.

I find no will of William Gurney V. probably in consequence of his dying
in the lifetime of his father. He had issue: 1. Anthony Gurney, his son
and heir; 2. Henry, mentioned in Sir Lionel Dymocke’s will; 3. Con-
stance; 4. Alice; 5. Frances, a daughter mentioned in the will of her
aunt Dame Anne Heydon; and 6. Amy.

Mrs. Anne Gurney, widow of William, married to her second husband
Sir Lionel Dymocke of Marynge-on-the-Hill, Lincolnshire, nght who
mentions her sons in his will.

“I, Leon Dymocke, of Marynge-on-the-Hill, in com. Lincoln, Knt.*
Itm I give to Antony Gurnay, my son, one gylt cup. Iim to Henry Gurnay,
my son, x fiirks.”®

This Sir Lionel Dymocke was of the same family as the Dymockes of
Serivelsby, champions of England, descended from the Lords Marmion.

2. Walter Gurney of Cley-next-the-Sea, next brother to William Gurnay

Lestranges in the possession of Mr. Styleman Lestrange, Ann L'estrange,
sister of Sir Roger L'estrange, occurs married to . . . Gourney, and
the arms of Gurney impaling L'estrange. Quere, whether the lady men-
tioned in the will of Sir Roger L'estrange was this sister of Sir Roger,
or his sister-in-law, Mrs Anne Gurney (formerly Heydon), and has not
a mistake arisen in the L'estrange pedigree from this will? I have not
discovered any marriage between any individual of the ancient and dis-
tinguished family of Lestrange with a Gurnay; but the Gurneys of
West Barsham were, for several generations, very nearly related to the
Lestranges, by both families intermarrying with the families of Heydon, Calthorpe, Lewkenor, and
Stubbs.
* Reg. Ayloff, fo. 23—25 Ap. 1512.
b Dodsworth MSS. vol. 22, fol. 102b. See the Monument of Sir Lionel Dymocke engraved
in Weir's History of Horncastle, page 30, where are the arms of Dymocke impaling Heydon.
This monument is in Horncastle Church, to which Marynge or Marham-on-the-Hill is an adjoin-

ing parish.
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V. was ancestor of the Gurneys of Cawston and Aylesham, who continued
at those places for several generations. See an account of his descendants
at the end of this part of our record.

3. Elizabeth, his sister, married to Clement Herward, Esq. of Alborough
in Norfolk, before 1483, and was living in 1509. The Herwards were a
family of great antiquity and considerable estate. (App LXXIV.)

4. Thomas Gurney, who had an annuity left him by his father from
Harpley, and lands in Sculthorpe; he was ancestor of the Gurneys of
Dartmouth in Devonshire, and of Richard Gurney, Sheriff of London in 1690,
and of Sir Thomas Gurney, Knight, High Sheriff of Essex in 1622. See
an account of his descendants at the end of this second part of this
record.

5. Christopher, a priest, presented by his grandfather, Sir William
Calthorpe, to the living of Hempstead in Happing, in 1485, and the same
year by his father, William Gurney, Esq. to that of Harpley. This last
benefice became vacant in 1511, which was probably the year of his death.

<
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The engraving at page 408 of the slab at West Barsham is a great mistake,
the shield, on a closer examination, being six gloves instead of a cross im-
paling a cross, and therefore unquestionably a monument of one of the
‘Wauncys, probably of Sir William de Wauncy, who was knight of the shire
for Norfolk 15 Edward III., and died before 1357 (sce page 385). I insert
an engraving of this monument as it appears on a more accurate investiga-
tion. It is not, therefore, 2 monument of either William Gurney V. as I
supposed, nor of Edmund Gurnay as I conjecture at page 791.

I am also in error at page 447 with regard to the monument of Francis
Gurney at Irstead, as it appcars by Henry Gurnay’s register, page 889 of
Record, that he was buried at Great Ellingham. I think it likely that the
tomb formerly at Irstead was commemorative of William Gurney V., as he
acquired that manor by marriage with Ann Heydon (see page 876), but the
inscription being gone when it was scen by Mr. Norris, it is impossible to

decide accuratcly whose monument it is.

.:7/47_ L. ST
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HEYDQN OF BACONSTHORPE.
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APPENDIX LXXIIIL

ON THE FAMILY OF HEYDON.

The family of the Heydons take their name
from the town of Heydon in Norfolk.

Thomas de Heydon was a justice itinerant
in 1221; his descendants resided at Heydon
and Baconsthorpe for many generations, and
were among the leading families of the

county: they became

a extinct during the civil
““‘E wars in the 17th cen-
tury.*  They bore

for arms, Quarterly
argent and gules, a
cross engrailed coun-
terchanged.

Sir Henry Heydon, Knt. whose daughter
William Gurney married, was steward to the
household of Cecilia Duchess of York, widow
of Richard Duke of York, and mother of Ed-
ward IV. He built the manor-house at Bacons-

* Blomefield in Baconsthorpe.

thorpe, a sumptuous pile.+ He married Eliza-
beth, daughter of Sir Geoffrey Boleyn, Knt.
(great-grandfather of Queen Anne Boleyn,)
Lord Mayor of London, by whom he had issue
three sons, and five daughters, viz.

1. Amy, married Sir Roger L’Estrange of
Hunstanton Hall.

2. Dorothy, married Sir Thomas Brooke,
son and heir of John Lord Cobham.

8. Elizabeth, married Walter Hobart, of
Hales Hall, in Loddon, Esq.

4. Anne, married William Gurney, Esq.

5. Bridget, married Sir William Paston,
Knight.

These ladies were through their mother
nearly related to Queen Anne Boleyn.

1 The house at Baconsthorpe is now a perfect ruin ;
it was a quadrangular house, with a gate-house about
fifty yards in front, which is now turned into a farm-
house. In the church are some interesting monuments
of the Heydons, and some good painted glass (1832).

PEDIGREE
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PEDIGREE OF HEYDON.

WiLLiam Hmoz;, of Heydon, FaqT- oee

Wn;.uu HEYDON, Esq. son and heir, temp, Edw. IT .

RICBI:RD. TBOIIAS, ob. 1370. S1MoN Hevypon, Esq. temp. Edw. Il.f. ves .

Sir Iillcnum HEeypon, Knt. died in the wars D'AVID HEYDON, Esq,T~Margaret,. ..
in France temp. Edw. III. son and heir. ]-

Hucr HEeypon, Esq, of HeydonTAucx, dau. of —— Leonard, of Heydon, Gent.

d’lu.l‘l HevpoN, of Heydon, an.j’—lsu!xu, dau. of John Moore, of Norwich, Gent. temp. Richard IL

l'tonxn'r Hevpox, Esq.5=CEcILY, dau. and heiress to Roger Oulton, of Oulton, in Norfolk,
of Heydon. T Councillor at Law, temp. Hen. IV.
i)
Wniuu HEYDON, of Baconsthorpe, Esq. He purchased the Manor of T-JANE, dau. and heiress of John Warren,
Baconsthorpe, and made it the seat of his family temp. Hen. V. of Lincolnshire.

Jroux HEYDON, Esq. ob. 1479, built Heydon’s Chapel, in Norwich="ELEANOR, dau. of Edmund Winter, of
Cathedral, was a favourite of Henry VI., and a Lancastrian, Barningham, Esq.
J
Sir HENRY HEeyDoN, Knt. built BaconsthorpeS=EL1ZABETR (some say ANNE), dau. of Sir Geoffrey Boleyn,
Hall, &c. ob. 1503. of London, Knt.

BRIDGET, marr. Sir  Sir Jonn Hepon,Knt.S=CATHARINE, dau. of ELiziern, marr. Walter Hobart, of Hales
William Paston, a great courtier and ex- | SirChristopherWil- Hall, Esq.
of Paston, Knt,  pender in his father's | loughby, Lord Wil- DoRrorrY, marr. Sir Thomas Brooke, sonand

ANNE, marr. Wil- time. After, a great | loughby of Parham, heir of Lord Cobham.
liam Gurney, Esq. husband. Ob, 1551,mt. | ob. 1542, Any, mar, Sir Roger L Estrange, of Hunstanton,
of West Barsham. 82, Knt, ’
1l N L) T
GEORGE. Sir CurisTo-FANNE,dau.of Sir ELEANOR, marr. to John Townshend,
THOMAS, marr. .. .., and had a dau. pHERHEYDON, | John Hevening- Esq. son and heir of Sir Roger
and heir, Knt. ham, of Ketter- Townshend, of Rainham, Knt.
EL1zABETH, marr. Thomas Darcye, of ingham, Knt. MARGERY, marr, Everard Digby, of
Tolston Darcye, Essex, Esq. Rutlandshire.
ANNE, marr. Edward Sulyard, Esq. URsuLa.

SIBEHBJSTOP}IERHKYDON,KDL of Baconsthorpe,T—~ANNE, .dau. of Wil- Cunu'unn, mar. Mun‘, mar. Roger
the great housekeeper of Norfolk ; 2 w. TEMPER- | liam Drewry, of Sir Miles Corbet, Wyndham, son and
ARCE, dau. of Sir Simon Carew, Knt.; 3 w. | Hawsted, in Suf- of Sprowston,Knt. heir of Sir Edmund

AaxEs, dau. Robert Crane, of Chilton, in Suffolk. | folk. ‘Wyndbam, Knt.
r T 1
JANE. Hm'm; Sir WILLIIAI'—ANNE, dau. of Sir MA!:.Y, mar. Tho- Un.sruu. mar, ELIZABETH, mar.
CHRISTOPHER. HEYDON, Knt. | William Wood- mas Blennerhas- Roger Towns- JohnWentworth,
ob. 1594. house of Hick- set, of Barsham, hend, Esq.s.p. of Mountneys,
ling, Knt. Suffolk, Esq. Essex, Esq.

Sir Jouy, Knt. WiLLam, killed Sir Camistoruer HEYDON, Knt. mar.<=AnN, dau. and coheir of John Dodge,
s.p. in France. 1598. ]- Esq. ob. 1642.

Sir Jogx HEerpoN, of Baconsthorpe, Lieut.-Gen. of theS=MIRABELLA, dau. and coheir of Sir Thomas Ryvett,
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